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          2                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I will need a

          3  quorum before I can begin, so it will be another few

          4  minutes.  But just some sort of initial ground

          5  rules.  If you want to speak on any of the items

          6  today, and I assume are here on the cable franchise

          7  issue.  Sign up at the Sergeant-at-Arms' desk.  You

          8  must fill out a slip.  Put your name, address, who

          9  you're representing, and what issue you're speaking

         10  on, and in favor or against.

         11                 We do have three other items on the

         12  agenda, which I must vote on, so I will take those

         13  three items first.  I hope to move through that

         14  agenda rather quickly, and then we will get to the

         15  cable issue.

         16                 And once again, I'll begin as soon as

         17  I have quorum with my Committee Members.

         18                 Good morning, everyone.  I'd like to

         19  call this meeting of the Subcommittee on Zoning and

         20  Franchises to order. Obviously, we have a large

         21  crowd here today, and I assume 98 percent of the

         22  people in this room are probably here for cable.

         23                 I will go through the agenda for the

         24  items that we must vote on, hopefully rather

         25  quickly.  Joining me this morning are Members of the
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          2  Committee, Council Members Dilan, Felder, Jackson,

          3  Katz, Sears, and Al Vann.  And also joining us I

          4  see, is Council Member Leroy Comrie.

          5                 First item on the agenda is Land Use

          6  Number 190 and 191, commonly referred to as the

          7  Martin Beck Theater text amendment, N060433 ZRM and

          8  C060434 ZSM.  And I'd like to call the applicant up.

          9  Paul.

         10                 MR. SELVER: Thank you, Mr. Chairman,

         11  Members of the Committee.  I'm Paul Selver, I'm a

         12  member of the firm of Kramer, Levin, Naftales and

         13  Frankel.  And I am wearing two hats today.  One as

         14  Land Use Counsel to the Jujamcyn Organization, which

         15  is the owner of the Martin Beck Theater.  Okay?  And

         16  second, as Land Use Counsel to the developer of the

         17  building at 247 West 46th Street, which is the

         18  subject of the parking Special Permit.

         19                 I'll just talk briefly about both.

         20  The Martin Beck text amendment is designed to move

         21  the Martin Beck Theater itself into somewhat closer

         22  parity to the other theaters in the Broadway area.

         23  Martin Beck, like the other theaters, is a listed

         24  theater under the Zoning Resolution, which means

         25  it's subject to a series of burdens and restrictions
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          2  that are applicable to all listed theaters,

          3  including certain maintenance obligations, and a

          4  prohibition on demolition.

          5                 However, unlike those other theaters,

          6  the Martin Beck Theater is on a split lot.  Part of

          7  it is located in a 10- FRA zone in the special

          8  Midtown district and the theater subdistrict. Part

          9  of it is located in the preservation area of the

         10  special Clinton district.  That is very different

         11  from every other listed theater, all of which are

         12  entirely mapped in 10FAR zoning districts.  The

         13  import of this is essentially to remove the

         14  possibility of transferring their development rights

         15  around the theater subdistrict, for the portion of

         16  the lot that's within Clinton.  In other words,

         17  basically, if they were another theater, any other

         18  theater, they would have the ability to transfer

         19  70,000 square feet of development rights anywhere in

         20  the theater subdistrict.  As it is, they are,

         21  without the text change, able to transfer only about

         22  35,000.

         23                 The text change would eliminate this

         24  unfairness. And it would allow them to transfer the

         25  floor area from the Clinton subdistrict, the Clinton
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          2  district, outside of that district, and into

          3  Midtown, into the theater subdistrict, which is the

          4  West Midtown area, where all others theaters can

          5  transfer their development rights.  All of these

          6  transfers would be required to comply with the

          7  standard requirements of the Zoning Resolution,

          8  requirements that involve a continuing maintenance

          9  of the theater, continuation of legitimate theater

         10  use, and a contribution to the theater subdistrict's

         11  fund.

         12                 So, they would essentially be much

         13  closer to a situation of parity than they are today.

         14    I would think that's a good text change.  Both

         15  community boards that looked at it, endorsed it.

         16  Manhattan Borough President endorsed it.  And we're

         17  pleased to present it.  And maybe I should take

         18  questions on that before I go to the second one.

         19                 Okay.  The public parking garage is

         20  very simple. The site at 247 West 46th Street had a

         21  public parking lot on it, with about 50 spaces.  The

         22  new building has 220 apartments, and you can see the

         23  new building on the cover sheet of the material I

         24  handed out.  You can also see the plan for the

         25  garage toward the back of that.  The new building

                                                            11

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  will be allowed as of right to have 44 accessory

          3  parking spaces for the new residents.  So the public

          4  parking garage with 101 spaces essentially replaces

          5  what was there, and they add a few more spaces to

          6  cover further growth in the area.

          7                 Again, the public parking garage was

          8  endorsed by Community Board Five, and I believe

          9  subject to a condition that we're comfortable with,

         10  by the Borough President as well.  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: For the Committee

         12  Members' information, this lies within Council

         13  Member Speaker Quinn's district, and she is in favor

         14  of the project.  Any questions from my colleagues?

         15                 Thank you.  We have one person signed

         16  up to speak on this item.  Anthony Borelli, from

         17  Manhattan Borough President's Office.

         18                 MR. BORELLI: Good morning.  My name

         19  is Anthony Borelli, I'm the Director of Land Use

         20  Planning and Development for the Manhattan Borough

         21  President, Scott Stringer.  Thank you Chair Avella

         22  and other Council Members for holding this hearing

         23  and allowing me to speak on these applications.

         24                 In addition to my testimony, for the

         25  record, I'll submit the Borough President's letters
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          2  to City Planning that were part of the official

          3  ULURP process.

          4                 I would like to take this

          5  opportunity, though, to speak  --  to reiterate the

          6  Borough President's support for these applications,

          7  and to speak briefly on the conditions for his

          8  approval.

          9                 The text amendment would allow the

         10  Martin Beck Theater to transfer full development

         11  rights, which is just over it, and within the

         12  special Clinton district, to designated receiving

         13  sites in the theater subdistrict of the special

         14  Midtown district.             The Beck Theater is

         15  partially within  --  as you heard from the

         16  applicant  --  the special Clinton district and the

         17  special Midtown district.  Because the special

         18  Clinton district limits density, the Martin Beck has

         19  less opportunity to transfer its development rights

         20  than all other listed theaters.

         21                 To ensure that the special goals of

         22  the Clinton special district, which primarily aimed

         23  to maintain an appropriate scale of development in

         24  the Hell's Kitchen neighborhood, the Borough

         25  President agreed with the text amendment, as long as
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          2  the transfer density would not be allowed to be

          3  transferred to sites within the special district.

          4                 It's important to note that there is

          5  a slight overlap between the two districts.  There

          6  are three blocks between 45 and 42 that are covered

          7  by both districts.

          8                 As you've heard, the applicant was

          9  amenable to this change, and I believe the City

         10  Planning Commission has revised the application to

         11  meet this condition too.

         12                 As for the special permit allowing

         13  the parking garage, the Borough President asked the

         14  Commission only to approve the application if 35 of

         15  the spaces  --  35 of the 101 spaces were set aside

         16  for residents of the building only.  The Borough

         17  President made this request because the traffic

         18  study that accompanied the application showed no

         19  significant impacts on the surrounding community.

         20  Which includes Times Square and some of the most

         21  congested sidewalks and streets in the City.

         22                 But these also assume that 35 of the

         23  spaces were specifically set aside for resident use

         24  only.  Unless this assumption is codified in the

         25  terms of the special permit, none of us can be
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          2  assured that the findings for the special permit

          3  will be met.

          4                 The applicant is also amenable to

          5  reserving 35 of the spaces for resident uses only,

          6  and we know that the City Planning Commission has

          7  noted this condition in their report.

          8                 While the two applications that are

          9  subject of this hearing  --  there are other

         10  concerns of the Borough President that override the

         11  entirety of this application, because it involves

         12  several other land use actions.  The Theater

         13  Subdistrict Council is required to be established

         14  before any transfer of development rights can occur.

         15    I'm happy to say that we're working well with the

         16  community boards, the Department of City Planning,

         17  the Council, and the Speaker's Office and are very

         18  close to the formation of the Theater Subdistrict

         19  Council, which will ensure an appropriate public

         20  oversight process for the use of the funds generated

         21  by the transfer mechanism.

         22                 The rate of contribution to the

         23  council fund has been studied, and we expect

         24  increased payments to the fund once the council is

         25  created.  And we also understand that the council
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          2  will be open to the consideration of using those

          3  funds for a variety of programs.  And will hold

          4  public meetings to discuss that.

          5                 The other issue concerns the

          6  authorization of the Planning Commission to allow

          7  the maximum density on the development site, through

          8  the transfer of additional theater development

          9  rights.  The authorization requires that the

         10  proposed development itself, in some way, contribute

         11  to reinforce or enhance the purposes of the theater

         12  special  --  the theater subdistrict itself.  Here

         13  too, I'm happy to say that we're very close to a

         14  final agreement with the applicant and City

         15  Planning, which we think will set a very high bar

         16  for future authorizations.

         17                 Just two more paragraphs.  That

         18  agreement would involve the creation of permanently

         19  below market office space in the new building to

         20  accommodate three nonprofit

         21  data companies. This is a particularly worthwhile

         22  goal, because three nonprofit data companies were

         23  directly displaced to make way for the proposed

         24  development.  And this ground breaking achievement

         25  will ensure that future authorizations lead to
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          2  similarly beneficial results.

          3                 While the text amendment and the

          4  parking garage may seem like relatively small land

          5  use actions, they involve, for the first time, the

          6  use of unique zoning mechanisms that recognize the

          7  tremendous importance of the theater community to

          8  New York City. And the equally important need to

          9  involve the public in decision making.

         10                 The Borough President's Office looks

         11  forward to working with the Council and others

         12  involved to resolve any outstanding issue.  And to

         13  realize the intent and purpose of the zoning.  We're

         14  particularly thankful for the assistance of the

         15  Speaker's Office.  I'd also like to thank City

         16  Planning, and especially the applicant and their

         17  representatives, for working in such a collaborative

         18  manner.  And thank you all for your time.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.  If

         20  there is no one else who wishes to speak on this

         21  item, I'll close the public hearing.  We will move

         22  to the next item.  Land Use Number 229, Rudy's Bar

         23  and Grill, 20065538 TCM.  Application by Ninth

         24  Avenue Salon, also known as Rudy's Bar and Grill, to

         25  establish, maintain, and operate an unenclosed
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          2  sidewalk cafe, located at 627 Ninth Avenue.  And we

          3  have the applicant.

          4                 MR. PURCELL: My name is Tom Purcell.

          5  I am the  -- I'm representing Rudy's Bar and Grill.

          6  Rudy's is an establishment that has existed on Ninth

          7  Avenue for over 70- some odd years.  I understand

          8  that it was one of the first New York City bars to

          9  receive a license after prohibition.  They are

         10  seeking to have a sidewalk cafe with tables and

         11  chairs in front of their establishment.

         12                 The original plan that was submitted

         13  to the community boards consisted of a full- size

         14  outdoor cafe.  In negotiations with Speaker Quinn's

         15  Office, who I wish to thank for working this problem

         16  out with us, we were able to negotiate an acceptable

         17  sidewalk cafe.  It's half the size we had originally

         18  proposed.  We had  --  we have addressed most of the

         19  problems.  In fact, I think all the problems that

         20  were raised by the community planning board.

         21                 We've arranged to keep the cellar

         22  doors closed, so there would be no problem.  And a

         23  series of other items, which I have given to the

         24  Speaker already  --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I just have been
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          2  given a copy of the letter, dated September 1st, to

          3  the Speaker, which outlines a number of things that

          4  you're committed to.

          5                 MR. PURCELL: Right.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: In the interest

          7  of time, I would just suggest that you just read

          8  into the record these items.  And that would be

          9  sufficient.

         10                 MR. PURCELL: All right.  Rudy's has

         11  agreed to reduce the size of the proposed sidewalk

         12  cafe from three tables with nine chairs to two

         13  tables with four chairs.  We reduced the size of the

         14  sidewalk cafe from seven feet to five feet wide.

         15  The tables are going to be placed against the

         16  building so they won't obstruct pedestrian traffic.

         17  The tables and chairs will not be put out during the

         18  day.  They will only be put out at five pm, and the

         19  store next door closes I think at six pm, so there's

         20  going to be very  --  there's not going to be much

         21  traffic.  There will be waiter service on the tables

         22  on the outside.  Only four people will be seated at

         23  a time on the outside.  Rudy's staff and their wait

         24  staff will ensure that the patrons do not congregate

         25  outside the cafe area.
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          2                 Rudy's has an outdoor  --  has a back

          3  courtyard and as to the smoking issue, they're going

          4  to direct any patron who wishes to smoke, instead of

          5  smoking in front of the premises, they would be

          6  directed to the back courtyard, where they can

          7  smoke.

          8                 It is illegal to have open containers

          9  of beer or liquor on the street, and Rudy's and its

         10  wait staff will prevent any   --  will prevent such

         11   --  you know, prevent people from walking out in

         12  the street with beer or liquor, to the best of their

         13  ability.

         14                 There was an issue of the cellar

         15  door, which is not really Rudy's cellar door, but

         16  the cellar door next time (sic). But Rudy's has

         17  agreed to keep that cellar door close except to

         18  receive shipments.  And of course, Rudy's will

         19  prevent litter from accumulating in front of the

         20  premises, and will not use any paper products

         21  outside.

         22                 And again, I would like to ask the

         23  Council if they would approve this application for

         24  an outdoor cafe, because I think it's something a

         25  little bit different in the neighborhood.  It's been
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          2  around for 70- some odd years, and it's a meeting

          3  place for people in the community.  I know you have

          4  a busy schedule today, so I'm going to ask if

          5  there's any questions.  If there are none,  --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you sir.

          7  Much to my dismay, Council Member Felder has a

          8  question.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: I thank you

         10  Chair Avella for the compliment.  I want to know

         11  where you're putting the pig.

         12                 MR. PURCELL: Well, that's a question.

         13    We're thinking of putting it inside the cafe area.

         14    And that we're still deciding where to put it.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Well I just

         16  want to say for the record, I would be very

         17  disappointed.  I know this location. Because I used

         18  to work in that area.  I would be very disappointed

         19   --  not that it makes any difference in your

         20  approval, I want you to understand  --  but I would

         21  be very disappointed if the pig was moved.  Okay?

         22  So just for the record, if you could have that in

         23  mind, I'd appreciate it.

         24                 MR. PURCELL: Well I understand the

         25  pig is sort of a landmark in the area, because
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          2  tourists come down and have their  -- I was

          3  surprised, but every once in a while, you'll see a

          4  half a dozen people standing there with their arms

          5  around the pig, to get their picture taken.  So

          6  anyway, thank you very much.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Now everybody

          8  want to see the picture of the pig.  Just for the

          9  record, I have a color picture. Just for the record,

         10  you do know since the plans were amended, that you

         11  have to submit new plans with the amendments to DCA

         12  and others.

         13                 MR. PURCELL:  Yes, I understand that.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Okay. Thank you.

         15                 MR. PURCELL: Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: If no one has

         17  signed up to speak on this item, I'll close the

         18  public hearing on it.  And move to the next item.

         19                 The next item is Land Use Number 235,

         20  20065502 TCM an application by G.D.P. Enterprises,

         21  also known as Agozar, to establish, maintain, and

         22  operate an unenclosed sidewalk cafe located at 324

         23  Bowery.  And we have a representative here.

         24                 MR. PEREZ: Good morning Councilman

         25  Avella and Members of the Committee. My name is
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          2  Gerardo Perez.  I own Agozar Restaurant, located at

          3  324 Bowery, right off Bleeker Street.  It's a

          4  family- run restaurant.  We've been open three and a

          5  half years.

          6                 In our initial application, we have

          7  reduced our number of tables from seven tables,

          8  seventeen seats, to four tables and nine seats.

          9  That was an original stipulation that we agreed to

         10  before the Committee and full board hearings.  Once

         11  we went there, there were some certain stipulations

         12  that were agreed to, with the NoHo Neighborhood

         13  Association that we have agreed to, and I just want

         14  to state them for the record.

         15                 Agozar Restaurant, located at 324

         16  Bowery agrees to the following stipulations

         17  pertaining to our outdoor permit.  These

         18  stipulations were given to us from members of the

         19  NoHo Neighborhood Association.  These stipulations

         20  were noted and agreed to at the community board, to

         21  committee hearings, and full board meeting on July

         22  20, 2006.  We were given full unanimous approval

         23  after agreeing to these stipulations.

         24                 First stipulation was sidewalk cafe

         25  will close at 11 pm Sunday through Thursday, and
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          2  midnight Fridays and Saturdays. Those are our

          3  kitchen hours.  Number two, we will direct smokers

          4  away from out outside Bleeker Street exit.  And

          5  third, the door  -- Our Bleeker Street exit will

          6  remain closed at all times to keep noise from

          7  disturbing the residents.

          8                 I have  --  also, we have full

          9  approval from the members of our building, some of

         10  which have lived there over 60 years.  We've never

         11  had a complaint.  You know, we're a full restaurant.

         12    We're members of the New York Restaurant

         13  Association. And we're looking to add to the

         14  neighborhood.  The vitality.  The neighborhood is

         15  really growing, and I believe Councilman Avella,

         16  you've been to the area.  And I'd just like to ask

         17  for your support in this matter.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: This sidewalk

         19  cafe lies within Council Member Gerson's district,

         20  and he is in support of the application.  Any

         21  questions from my colleagues?

         22                 With that, seeing none, thank you.

         23  There is no one signed up to speak on this item.

         24  I'll close the public hearing.

         25                 While we have been hearing these
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          2  items, I've been joined by a number of other

          3  colleagues.  Council Member Gale Brewer, Council

          4  Member Rivera, I think Council Member Oddo was also

          5  here.  Council Member McMahon.

          6                 Chair will now ask Counsel to call

          7  the vote on these first three items.  Chair

          8  recommends approval.

          9                 COMMITTEE COUNSEL: Council Member

         10  Avella.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Aye.

         12                 COMMITTEE COUNSEL: Council Member

         13  Rivera.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: I vote aye.

         15                 COMMITTEE COUNSEL: Council Member

         16  Felder.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Aye.

         18                 COMMITTEE COUNSEL: Council Member

         19  Jackson.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: He just stepped

         22  out.

         23                 COMMITTEE COUNSEL: Council Member

         24  Katz.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Aye.  Aye.
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          2                 COMMITTEE COUNSEL: Council Member

          3  McMahon.  He stepped out.  Council Member Sears

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Aye.

          5                 COMMITTEE COUNSEL: Council Member

          6  Vann.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Aye.

          8                 COMMITTEE COUNSEL: The vote is six in

          9  the affirmative, none in the negative, no

         10  abstentions.  And is still open.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Mr. Chair, I

         12  don't believe I was called.

         13                 COMMITTEE COUNSEL: Council Member

         14  Dilan.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: I vote aye on

         16  all.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Okay.

         18                 Now onto the item that everybody is

         19  here for this morning.  Item Land Use Number 197,

         20  the resolution authorizing franchises for cable

         21  television services, 20075011 GFY.  Let me just sort

         22  of go into how we're going to conduct this hearing.

         23  And we will not be voting on the item today. We're

         24  going to be listening very carefully, obviously, to

         25  all the issues that are brought to our attention,
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          2  and making whatever changes are necessary between

          3  now and hopefully, at the next meeting of the

          4  Council in September.

          5                 What I will do is call first panels

          6  from the industry, Cablevision, first Time Warner

          7  and then Verizon.  And then anyone else who has

          8  signed up to speak.  I ask everybody in this room to

          9    --  no matter what side you're on, no matter what

         10  issues you may have  --  to be respectful of each

         11  speaker.  I will not tolerate booing.  I will not

         12  tolerate applause.  Your opportunity, if you have

         13  something to say, is to speak right there at the

         14  chair.  You sign up, and you speak, and that's when

         15  you get an opportunity to make any comments.  So I

         16  ask for everybody's cooperation.  This is the

         17  people's house, and I ask everybody to remember

         18  that.

         19                 With that, Cablevision.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: Mr. Chairman,

         21  in the interim, may I be permitted to cast my vote

         22  on the items?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Yes.

         24                 COMMITTEE COUNSEL: Council Member

         25  McMahon
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MCMAHON: Aye on all.

          3                 COMMITTEE COUNSEL: The vote stands at

          4  eight in the affirmative, none in the negative.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Before I ask you

          6  to speak, I want to make just a couple of quick

          7  comments.  That I would appreciate not only you, but

          8  Time Warner and Verizon, and for that matter, any

          9  other people who testify to comment on.  One of the

         10  things that has been brought to the Council's

         11  attention that we are very big supporters of, is the

         12  public access television channels. And we will

         13  remain committed to those channels, and make sure

         14  that whoever wins the franchise that they are

         15  included in this process, and take an equal share of

         16  the responsibility.  And I want to know how each of

         17  the industry representatives feel about that.

         18                 Two, the other thing is, it's

         19  something that's been very important to the Council,

         20  is the issue of union labor, and making sure that

         21  any company that gets these contracts also adheres

         22  to all the prevailing wage requirements.  So I'd

         23  also ask each of the industry representatives to

         24  comment on that as well.  Sir.

         25                 MR. BICKHAM: Good morning Chair
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          2  Avella and Members of the City Council.  I am John

          3  Bickham.  I am President of Cable and Communications

          4  for Cablevision.

          5                 Cablevision has served the Bronx, and

          6  two- thirds of Brooklyn since its first franchise in

          7  1983.  We have renewed our franchise with the City,

          8  rebuilt the entire system, and now provide the most

          9  advanced digital cable television and broadband

         10  services to all of the 1.2 million homes in our New

         11  York City service area.

         12                 Our investment in New York has made

         13  it possible to deliver our services better, more

         14  reliably, and more cost effectively than ever.  A

         15  few examples.

         16                 Cablevision's digital television

         17  product, Interactive Optimum, is probably the most

         18  advanced television service in the nation.  IO

         19  includes video on demand, free high definition TV,

         20  and ethnic and special interest programming.  We

         21  offer an extensive selection of international, and

         22  special interest programming.

         23                 With Optimum Online, our customers

         24  connect to the Internet at speeds that were

         25  unimaginable only a few years ago, up to 50 megabits
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          2  per second.

          3                 Our voice products, Optimum Voice and

          4  Optimum Voice World Call, use advanced technology to

          5  make worldwide calling affordable to everyone.  The

          6  $100 phone bill is a thing of the past.

          7                 These sophisticated products require

          8  the support of good employees, so recently, we

          9  opened a state- of- the- art call center in the

         10  Bronx, that employs more than 500 skilled workers.

         11                 Finally, we are involved in the

         12  community.  Through our education program, Power to

         13  Learn, we have added unlimited voice and Internet

         14  services to the classroom to support education. And

         15  through our local work, we support projects and

         16  events that build the community.

         17                 As we more forward on a new

         18  franchise, I want to touch on a few policy

         19  priorities.

         20                 First, franchises must maintain a

         21  level playing field.  While we are proud that we

         22  have met the City's policy priorities, such as

         23  universal service and public access support, these

         24  requirements have costs.  So the City must continue

         25  to demand that all operators meet the same
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          2  standards, to ensure that no competitor is

          3  disadvantaged by an unlevel playing field.  The

          4  benefits of competition are not sustainable if

          5  unfair regulation denies consumers the best products

          6  at the best prices.

          7                 Second, the City's cable franchises

          8  have a strict timeline for construction and

          9  reconstruction of a company's service area, with the

         10  City approving the order of construction, so that

         11  low- income neighborhoods are not left behind.  The

         12  City requires companies to wire apartments and other

         13  buildings so that every resident can get new

         14  services at the same time as everyone else.

         15                 Because of the City's strong

         16  leadership, and Cablevision's commitment to the

         17  communities we serve, residents of Riverdale and the

         18  South Bronx are both offered the same state- of the-

         19  art television, Internet, and voice services over an

         20  advanced fiber optic network that runs through both

         21  neighborhoods.  This important requirement should be

         22  applied to every cable provider.

         23                 Third, the City has demanded that

         24  every cable television operator financially support

         25  government, educational, and public access

                                                            31

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  programming at the beginning, and throughout the

          3  franchise term, without which it would be impossible

          4  to sustain these operations.

          5                 Cablevision looks forward to

          6  continuing to provide these City benefits, but all

          7  franchisees must carry an equal share, to ensure

          8  that the City mandates do not become an unfair

          9  burden that skews the marketplace or increases costs

         10  on consumers unnecessarily.

         11                 We look forward to working with the

         12  City, DoITT, and the public in renewing our

         13  franchise.  And I'm happy to answer any questions

         14  that you may have.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: You will respond

         16  to the issue of the union and prevailing wage?

         17                 MR. BICKHAM: I can.  Cablevision has

         18  been in business for over 30 years.  And in those 30

         19  years, has provided, we think, a great place to

         20  work, very competitive wages, and very competitive

         21  benefits.  From time to time, we've had elections

         22  brought by various unions.  And in each case, our

         23  employees have chosen to stay nonunion.  And we're

         24  proud of that fact.  We believe that all we do in

         25  the way of paying fair wages and providing good
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          2  benefits has gone a long way in making that happen.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Questions from my

          4  colleagues? Council Member Katz.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you very

          6  much Mr. Chair. And also for making it clear how

          7  important the other issues are, the union and

          8  prevailing wages which have become an issue in the

          9  last few weeks, not only because of the authorize

         10  resolution, and because of this issue, but because

         11  of other things.  So I'm sure there will be much

         12  more discussion on it.

         13                 But I just have a few specific

         14  questions for Cablevision, if I can.  And I will be

         15  asking the other providers the same questions, just

         16  so everybody knows.

         17                 First off, when DoITT testified

         18  regarding the RFP they planned to put out, they made

         19  it clear that they would like to see what the

         20  providers basically come up with when they're

         21  responding to the RFP.  Since it's clear that

         22  there's only about four categories by federal law,

         23  where the provider needs to meet in order to renew

         24  their contracts, really it leaves the other areas of

         25  the City of New York up for real competition.  So I
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          2  guess my question is, and it may be too early, has

          3  Cablevision and the other companies as well, thought

          4  about how they plan on responding to the RFP?

          5  Whether they plan on responding Citywide.  Whether

          6  they plan on just you know, responding in

          7  geographical districts.  And if so, do you think

          8  that that's you know, a good way of going about it

          9  by the City?  Any suggestions?

         10                 MR. BICKHAM: From Cablevision's point

         11  of view, I'd say it's too early to answer that

         12  question directly and specifically.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: So I guess the

         14  question becomes that if Cablevision gets the

         15  response for the RFP, and gets areas where they're

         16  not now, in the neighborhoods, we're going to have

         17  the same problem with the buildout.  And how is it

         18  that you guys have handled this in the past?  Like

         19  what happens if you have buildings that you really

         20  can't get into at the moment?  And is there an out

         21  provision in the former contract about the buildout?

         22  And do you have any suggestions on how, since you've

         23  been in the industry for so many years, how DoITT

         24  can assure in their RFP, that the buildout is going

         25  to be fair, that no communities are going to be left
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          2  out, and quite honestly, that as technology hasn't

          3  caught up to the laying of the cables or the laying

          4  of what they're doing, how they're going to make

          5  sure to provide the service for that area?

          6                 MR. BICKHAM: Well historically,

          7  Cablevision has not been able to use the excuse that

          8  building owners won't allow us in. In fact, we've

          9  used all the rights that we have under Federal and

         10  State law to push our way into buildings, and to

         11  find ways to get into buildings.  So I would think

         12  that that kind of a provision makes great sense in

         13  any franchise that's granted, whether it's renewal

         14  or a new franchise.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: To have safeties

         16  and sort of fallback positions from the buildout if

         17  there's no technology.

         18                 MR. BICKHAM: I'm not sure I

         19  understand your question about technology.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Well I mean, if

         21  you're trying to build out, and you can't do it for

         22  some specific reason, I assume that the authorizing

         23  resolution we passed has some sort of out provision.

         24    I mean, how does that work in the past?  And has

         25  Cablevision ever had those issues?
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          2                 MR. BICKHAM: Certainly, there have

          3  been no technological reasons why we haven't been

          4  able to build any part of our franchise.  None at

          5  all.  And in fact, there exists no technological

          6  reason that I'm aware of today, why any company

          7  couldn't completely build out any type of building

          8  or otherwise.

          9                 The only problems we've run into in

         10  the past are where building owners have been

         11  restrictive in one way or another, and not allowed

         12  us to get into buildings.  But we've used our legal

         13  rights under State and Federal law to take care of

         14  most of those issues.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay.  And last

         16  question, because I know we're on a timeframe.  The

         17  level playing field issue.  This has been the number

         18  one issue, bar none, that the industry has come and

         19  talked to us about.  My assumption is  -- and we

         20  know that we don't' like to assume  --  is that when

         21  you're talking about level playing field  --  and I

         22  will ask the other companies this as well  --  it's

         23  not that  --  do you envision that every company

         24  should have to do every single thing the same?  Or

         25  do you just expect that the burdens and obligations
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          2  basically meet the same financial criteria?  As you

          3  move forward.

          4                 MR. BICKHAM: Well I'm not sure what

          5  financial criteria  --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Financial

          7  burdens.

          8                 MR. BICKHAM: No.  There are many

          9  aspects to a level playing field.  Not just

         10  financial burdens, but otherwise, that I think the

         11  Council and DoITT need to take into account in the

         12  obligations that are undertaken by a new entrant or

         13  a renewal to an existing franchise.

         14                 So I don't categorize the level

         15  playing field issue as strictly financial

         16  obligations.  It goes beyond that.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: All right.

         18  Thank you very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         20  Brewer.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         22  much.  And first of all, thank you for your call

         23  center in New York City. Many of us spend hours with

         24  call centers all over the world, so thank you.

         25                 My question is just to pick up on
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          2  Council Member Katz.  I know that, to the credit of

          3  those who negotiated the early agreements with the

          4  cable industry, and to the cable industry, that you

          5  work in schools, you work with government.  The

          6  level playing field is actually quite extensive.

          7  And I think now that you have built it out in these

          8  many different arenas, obviously, the public access

          9  channels are the ones that are the most visible, how

         10  do you think that there are ways that a level

         11  playing field could be enhanced?   Because

         12  obviously, you've done so much in the schools,

         13  government agencies could always use more.  There's

         14  the nonprofit. There's the senior center.  But how

         15  would you envision this so that you would not be  --

         16    it would be a level playing field for whomever

         17  enters the field?

         18                 MR. BICKHAM: Forgive me, but it was a

         19  broad question and I'll try to  --  We do provide

         20  service in schools and in offices and facilities

         21  owned by the City of New York.  We do it for free.

         22  And we do it willingly.  And we think it's a part of

         23  doing business in the City.  We would expect that

         24  any new franchise holders in the City would do the

         25  same thing.  It's an obligation that's in our
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          2  franchise.  We take it seriously.  And we've tried

          3  to comply with it to the letter.  And believe that

          4  we have.  And see no reason why any other company

          5  wouldn't have similar obligations.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And my other

          7  question is, similar obligations too, to the

          8  consumer, are in terms of reporting.  And obviously,

          9  one of the issues there is just good service

         10  response.  Do you find that a level playing field

         11  obviously would include that kind of ongoing

         12  reporting and response time?  Is that something that

         13  you think should be enhanced, or changed?  Or is

         14  there something that you'd like to see for the

         15  industry that would help consumers, and also just

         16  help the industry as a whole? Obviously, we do get

         17  you know, as elected officials, we get complaints.

         18  On the other hand, I've always found the industry,

         19  and particularly in your case, and in the cable

         20  industry, to be responsive.

         21                 MR. BICKHAM: Well we're proud of our

         22  record.  I took a look at the record over the last

         23  year, and there have been a total of 760 complaints

         24  that have been escalated outside of our company that

         25  have come back to our company.  Some have gone to
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          2  the City of New York.  Some have gone to the Public

          3  Service Commission. Some have gone to other

          4  agencies.  That's 764 escalated complaints. It's

          5  less than one tenth of one percent of our customers

          6  in a year's time.  Now are we perfect?  No we're not

          7  perfect.  We do have standards that we meet, that

          8  are included in the franchise. We take them

          9  seriously.  And frankly, I'm not sure they need to

         10  be enhanced, but I think they do need to be complied

         11  with consistently, regardless of who the franchise

         12  holder is.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And then just

         14  finally, in terms of the real estate issues.  I know

         15  that when I've had hearings in the Committee on

         16  Technology, as Chair, there has been --  I think the

         17  real estate challenges are some of the more

         18  difficult that you have overcome.  Because getting

         19  into buildings, dealing with the very complicated

         20  multi- dwelling City et cetera. And is that

         21  something  --  how do you envision this when you

         22  have competition being a good thing, but how do you

         23  envision other carriers also working in the same

         24  buildings?

         25                 MR. BICKHAM: Well it's not unusual to
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          2  be in buildings where there's another provider of

          3  cable television services.  It's not universal, but

          4  it's not unusual and it happens. And I don't think

          5  that it necessarily creates problems for the

          6  building owner or for the building tenants.  It's

          7  just a part of doing business in a competitive

          8  environment, and I think it can be managed fine.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you Mr.

         10  Chair.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         12  Felder.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you very

         14  much.  First of all, I just want to state that our

         15  office has had the experience of dealing with your

         16  company in certain emergency cases, and we've been

         17  very, very happy with the response.

         18                 Having said that, regarding the issue

         19  at hand, I'm just curious, because I wasn't around

         20   --  I don't think I was around when the original

         21  franchise agreement was established.  So I'm just

         22  wondering, first of all, what was the timetable in

         23  that agreement?  In terms of compliance you know,

         24  with the original franchise agreement.  Do you

         25  believe that you  --  would you say that you were in
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          2  compliance fully with the original agreement?

          3                 MR. BICKHAM: I wasn't around either.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Well maybe you

          5  can get somebody to answer the question.

          6                 MR. BICKHAM: But my understanding is

          7  that the Cablevision was in compliance during the

          8  original franchise as well as the franchise that was

          9  renewed.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: So I just want

         11  it clear.  If you an state that clearly, on the

         12  record, that the company, Cablevision, was in full

         13  compliance with the original tri- franchise

         14  agreement.  Can you say that clearly?

         15                 MR. BICKHAM: I'm not aware of any

         16  noncompliance.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: No, that's not

         18  what I asked you.

         19                 MR. BICKHAM: That's the best I can

         20  do, I'm sorry.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Okay.  Well I

         22  would like, for the record, Chair, I would like in

         23  writing  --  and as Council Member Katz said, I'm

         24  going to ask the same questions, if they're

         25  applicable, to anybody who is here.  I would like in
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          2  writing from the company, stating whether they were

          3  in compliance.  A statement whether they were in

          4  full compliance to the original agreement.  I think

          5  that's a fair question.  We're coming, you know,

          6  we're coming to review it.  And I don't believe that

          7  you weren't.  I'm not saying I know something that

          8  you don't know, but I'd like a fact statement.

          9                 MR. BICKHAM: It is a fair question.

         10  And we'll be happy to get you an answer to that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: A second.  How

         12  many years did it take Cablevision to build out the

         13  current system?

         14                 MR. BICKHAM: I believe the original

         15  franchise, which dated back to 1983, took a total of

         16  six or seven years.  I'm not sure precisely.  The

         17  upgrade of the network I know took two years.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: So that's the

         19  total of about nine years, or eight years?

         20                 MR. BICKHAM: No.  Originally, there

         21  existed no network at all.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Got it.

         23                 MR. BICKHAM: In 1983, and I believe

         24  that was six or seven years to completely build that

         25  out.  Later on, after the renewal, I believe in
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          2  1998, we subsequently rebuilt that entire network,

          3  which existed complete at that point in time we

          4  rebuilt it in two years.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Okay.  And

          6  finally, I read through some of your testimony.  And

          7  I just wanted to know do you intend to provide

          8  service to the entire City?

          9                 MR. BICKHAM: When you say the entire

         10  City, all the boroughs are you talking about  --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Well any other

         12  borough that you can think of.

         13                 MR. BICKHAM: Right now, we're only

         14  contemplating providing service in that part of the

         15  City where we have an existing franchise.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Right.  So

         17  again, I don't  -  I'm not an expert by any means.

         18  I defer to the Chair and Council Member Brewer

         19  certainly, in these areas.  But I would just suggest

         20  that we talk about service being provided in all the

         21  boroughs.  Whatever the issue may be, and I just,

         22  for the record, that's something of concern to me.

         23  And I'm not  --  it's not my company.  And

         24  businesses have to decide where they make profit,

         25  and you know, how much they can do.  But at the same
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          2  time, when the City is issuing a franchise, I think

          3  the City has a right to ask that service be provided

          4  everywhere.  You know.  That doesn't mean it makes

          5  sense.  That doesn't mean I make sense.  But I think

          6  it's a fair  --  certainly a fair question, and if

          7  you can, once you're going to be sending the Chair a

          8  letter about the first issue, I would request again,

          9  if that's okay with the Chair, that the company

         10  state clearly, exactly where service will be

         11  provided.

         12  Thank you very much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Next, Council

         14  Member Sears.  And then Council Member Jackson.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you Mr.

         16  Chair.  Good morning.

         17                 A question is really a clinical one.

         18  I'm going to leave the professional aspect to you.

         19  When you talk about level playing field, are you

         20  talking about what was contractual, in terms of what

         21  agreements you've made in extending services, or

         22  programs to the City?  Or are you also including a

         23  level playing field in the form of technology?  In

         24  other words, I know that copper is used a great

         25  deal, and do you use much fiber optics?  Do you plan
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          2  on really extending your services that will include

          3  changing over to fiber optic?  Which I know is very

          4  expensive.  I know that.  So does the level playing

          5  field include the use of advanced technology?

          6  Besides what it may do for communities and the City,

          7  in terms of amenities?

          8                 MR. BICKHAM: So I believe the

          9  existing franchise that we operate under has

         10  language that says that the technology that we use

         11  will be state- of- the- art.  And it's not defined

         12  beyond that to my knowledge.  When we say we're in

         13  favor of a level playing field, we're primarily

         14  talking about the obligations that are in the

         15  franchise itself.  Which, in our case, a level

         16  playing field  would look like our franchise.  We're

         17  not arguing that certain technologies should be used

         18  to deliver services.  Because there are multiple

         19  ways of doing that.

         20                 But the level of service and the

         21  extent of service and the obligations of providing

         22  that service level requirements and the quality of

         23  service, and all of those kinds of things, as well

         24  as support for public education, governmental

         25  access, et cetera, et cetera.  All of those kinds of
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          2  things we believe should be a level playing field.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Are almost all

          4  of your employees members of a union?

          5                 MR. BICKHAM: No.  Actually, we do not

          6  have any union employees.  We have, in the City  --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So what do you

          8  do?

          9                 MR. BICKHAM: In the City, we have

         10  1,750 employees. Roughly 75 percent of them live in

         11  Brooklyn or the Bronx.  They're well- trained

         12  employees.  They are paid competitive wages.  They

         13  have excellent benefits.  And like I had mentioned

         14  earlier, we had a union vote a couple of years ago,

         15  and they turned down a union. It's not the first

         16  time that's happened.  And we were happy to see

         17  that.

         18                 By the way, your comment about fiber

         19  is an interesting issue.  There's a lot of

         20  discussion about fiber.  And I would just like to

         21  say that Cablevision probably has more fiber in New

         22  York City than any competitor.  We use fiber

         23  extensively. We take fiber very close to the home.

         24  We do not take it to the site of the home.  At some

         25  point, there's a conversion from fiber to coaxial

                                                            47

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  cable.  Whether that occurs on the site of the home

          3  or whether that occurs down the street, at the end

          4  of the block is of little consequence, we believe,

          5  in terms of providing high- quality technological

          6  superiority.  So we do have lots and lots of fiber.

          7  And you know, over the last five years, we've

          8  installed many thousands of mile so it.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: All right.

         10  Thank you.  Thank you very much.

         11                 MR. BICKHAM: You're welcome.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: It's really

         13  just the beginning.  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         15  Jackson.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you Mr.

         17  Chair.  Good morning sir.  How are you?

         18                 MR. BICKHAM: Fine, thank you.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: That's good.

         20  Cablevision. Today's hearing  --  now I have your

         21  testimony here, and I want to try to understand, as

         22  a Member of the Zoning Committee that has to vote on

         23  this particular matter.  What is all of this about

         24  today? In your opinion.  What is this hearing about?

         25                 MR. BICKHAM: My understanding is, the
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          2  Council is considering whether or not to change the

          3  underlying document that authorizes DoITT to begin

          4  franchising.  And renewals.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And do you

          6  have a concern about that?

          7                 MR. BICKHAM: No, not really.  I've

          8  stated the issues that we think are important, and

          9  have a high degree of confidence that the Council

         10  and DoITT will do a very good job of addressing

         11  those issues.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  Now,

         13  in reading your testimony, you talked about  --  and

         14  I'm quoting, "that the City must continue to demand

         15  that all operators meet the same standards to ensure

         16  that no competitor is disadvantaged by an unlevel

         17  playing field".  What does that mean to you?  As a

         18  business person.  More specifically, as far as New

         19  York City and the areas, the communities that the

         20  Cablevision and the other operators will go into.

         21  What does that really mean?  Break it down to

         22  layman's terms, so that the people that I represent

         23  will be able to understand  --  not that they don't

         24  understand that, but we like to make things pretty

         25  simple.   So make it simple for me.

                                                            49

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2                 MR. BICKHAM: Okay.  We have

          3  obligations in our franchise today  --  and I'm

          4  assuming we'll have obligations in a franchise

          5  that's renewed.  And the obligations run the gamut

          6  of obligations to serve all neighborhoods, serve all

          7  apartments  --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: The people

          9  that I represent, the average family, earns under

         10  $34,000 a year.  And in Harlem, Inez Dickens, my

         11  colleague, which is Council District Ten, Nine

         12  rather, excuse me, I'm Seven.  Nine.  The average

         13  family earns about $29,000 a year.  Miguel Martinez,

         14  who is my colleague in Washington Heights, the

         15  average family earns about the same thing, about

         16  $29,000  --  family.  I'm not talking about one

         17  individual, I'm talking about a family.  And my

         18  concern as someone that represents the community

         19  that overall, doesn't earn a whole lot of money, is

         20  whether or not all of the operators  --  you know,

         21  Cablevision, you're not in my area right now.  I

         22  think Time Warner is.  But I'm concerned whether or

         23  not if the franchise allows you to let's say come

         24  into Manhattan  --  and I don't know if that's going

         25  to be the case or not, but I'm just hypothetically
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          2  speaking --  or anyone else whether or not the

          3  communities that I represent, are going to be

          4  serviced by all of the operators.  And this is the

          5  same question that I'm going to ask of you, and

          6  every other cable executive that comes in front of

          7  me.  I want to know whether or not you're going to

          8  service the area that are not  --  that may not be

          9  the most beneficial, as far as not earn the most

         10  money.  For example, based on my understanding, the

         11  2000 census, the City Council district that has the

         12  highest income out of the 51 districts, is District

         13  Four, where   --  who is that?  That's  -- is it Dan

         14  Garodnick?  Or Jessica Lappin represent.  That's the

         15  Upper East Side.  The average family earned about

         16  $77,000 a year.

         17                 Now, that's a lot of money compared

         18  to a lot of people.  For other people, it may not be

         19  a lot of money.  But when you compare the average

         20  family of $77,000 a year to $29,000 a year, that's a

         21  lot of money.  And so, my concern is whether or not,

         22  I guess your company, if in fact the RFP deals with

         23  that, all the other companies are going to service

         24  the poorer areas of New York City, which basically,

         25  I believe you alluded to in your testimony. Is that
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          2  correct?

          3                 MR. BICKHAM: We provide service

          4  throughout all of the Bronx, and we provide service

          5  to about two- thirds of Brooklyn. And every

          6  neighborhood, every block.  There are no

          7  neighborhoods or parts of the neighborhoods that we

          8  don't serve.

          9                 One of the fastest growing parts of

         10  our business

         11    --   and we do business in the greater New York

         12  Metropolitan area, not only in the Bronx and

         13  Brooklyn  --  but one of the fastest growing parts

         14  of our business is in our two boroughs.   And the

         15  reason it's growing so rapidly is because we have a

         16  lot of value in the products that we offer, and they

         17  save people money. We sell our phone service for $30

         18  a month.  For all the long distance you can use,

         19  including throughout North America, Canada, and

         20  Puerto Rico.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thirty

         22  dollars a month?

         23                 MR. BICKHAM: Thirty dollars a month.

         24  We also, for $19.95 cents, will let you call

         25  anywhere in the world.  For 500 minutes.  And so,
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          2  one of the ways that we're bringing value to these

          3  sort of neighborhoods, and giving people an

          4  opportunity to save money is by providing that phone

          5  service.  We also provide a very high- quality,

          6  value- oriented data service, as well as a video

          7  service.  Now this discussion is all about video,

          8  but we also provide these other services.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: But let me

         10  switch a second. Because basically, you're telling

         11  me that  --  and I met with some of your

         12  representatives  --  and you service, I believe, all

         13  of the Bronx?

         14                 MR. BICKHAM: That's correct.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And parts of

         16  Brooklyn is that correct?  Or all of Brooklyn?

         17                 MR. BICKHAM: Two- thirds of it.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Two- thirds

         19  of it.  Okay. And my colleague Simcha Felder asked a

         20  question about how long did it take you to build out

         21  the entire area.

         22                 MR. BICKHAM: Originally?  In 1983?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes. You said

         24  about six years?

         25                 MR. BICKHAM: Correct.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  And so

          3  you're telling me now that every aspects of your

          4  service area is built out totally, with respects to

          5  no matter what the income level is for the area.

          6                 MR. BICKHAM: That's correct.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  Now, I

          8  believe in your testimony, or during your testimony,

          9  you talked about community benefits.  And it talked

         10  about here that you have programs that are ethnic

         11  and you know, to different communities. Do you have

         12  a list of community benefits that you, your

         13  corporation, provides to the community?  For

         14  example, do you run after- school programs on video

         15  training, or stuff like that?  Do you donate money

         16  to nonprofit organizations?  What other things you

         17  do for the community?  Can you submit a list through

         18  your government affairs office or community affairs

         19  office, a list of what type of benefits, as a result

         20  of having this contract.  I think the contract is

         21  for how many years?

         22                 MR. BICKHAM: Ten years.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And it's

         24  ready to expire when?

         25                 MR. BICKHAM: In two years.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: In two years.

          3    Can you submit a list of  --  and the same

          4  question is for the other individuals that are going

          5  to come forward, so I'm going to ask you to do the

          6  same thing  --  Can you submit a list of community

          7  benefits that you have provided to the residents of

          8  the Bronx and two- thirds of Brooklyn overall?  I

          9  would like to see that.

         10                 MR. BICKHAM: We'd be happy to do

         11  that.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  And

         13  let me ask you a question about diversity, if you

         14  don't mind.  Because besides my role as a Member of

         15  the City Council, I co- chair the Black, Latino, and

         16  Asian Caucus, which are 25 members of this body.

         17  And I want to know how many  --  what's your

         18  diversity of your staff?  How many employees are

         19  employed by your corporation in New York City?  And

         20  what's your diversity factors?  If you don't have

         21  those stats, I ask you to please provide those stats

         22  to me, as far as not only the core of your staff,

         23  but of the executives of your staff also.

         24                 MR. BICKHAM: We'd be happy to provide

         25  that.  I'll give you a rough outline.  We have 1,750
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          2  employees that work in the City.  Roughly 85 percent

          3  are minorities.  Roughly 75 percent of those

          4  employees either live in the Bronx or in Brooklyn.

          5  But we'll provide  --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Not only of

          7  your general staff, but of the executive staff also.

          8                 MR. BICKHAM: Be happy to break that

          9  down for you.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

         11  Thank you Mr. Chair.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: And I'm going to

         13  call on Council Member Gioia, for his vote, and to

         14  ask the last question.  And then we're moving on to

         15  Time Warner.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you Mr.

         17  Chair.

         18                 COMMITTEE COUNSEL: Council Member

         19  Gioia

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you.  I'd

         21  like to vote yes.

         22                 COMMITTEE COUNSEL: And Council Member

         23  Jackson

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Aye on all.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: May I continue?
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          2    Thank you Mr. Chair.

          3                 I'll be very brief.  You know, it is

          4  a  --  My name is Eric Gioia, by the way.  I

          5  represent Queens.  Woodside, Sunnyside, Maspeth,

          6  Astoria and Long Island City in Queens. Today is a

          7  fascinating hearing.  And we're talking about a

          8  franchise agreement.  We're talking about cable

          9  television.  We're talking about telephone service,

         10  and we're talking about fiber optics.  But really

         11  what we're talking about is so many larger concepts

         12  that we come down to City Hall, that all of us

         13  believe in so deeply.  We talk about competition.

         14  And I think you agree, one of the bedrocks of our

         15  economy is competition.  We think it is a good

         16  thing.              Competition gives consumers a

         17  choice, and if Company A isn't performing, they go

         18  to Company B.  And then Company A does a little bit

         19  better.  And they slug it out, and because we have a

         20  competitive system, consumers win.  And I think by

         21  your testimony, by the fact that you're a capitalist

         22  and a businessman, I assume you agree with those

         23  concepts.  You can nod or agree.  And competition is

         24  a good thing.

         25                 MR. BICKHAM: It's a good thing.

                                                            57

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Yes.  And I

          3  thought I got that from your testimony.  But of

          4  course, there should be a playing field that's even.

          5    Right?  I mean, because that is inherently what

          6  competition is.  Someone  --  you can't compete with

          7  the hand tied behind your back, or a blindfold on.

          8  We want everyone to be even on the playing field.

          9  And that's how we're going to get the best product

         10  for consumers.  So I don't want to talk too much

         11  about that, because I think we have agreement on

         12  that.

         13                 But Robert Jackson touched on a

         14  really interesting concept.  He talked about, even

         15  in the wealthiest district in New York, the average

         16  consumer  --  the average citizen income, $77,000

         17  per household.  Which is really a lot of money to

         18  people in my neighborhood.  But for many middle

         19  income  --  middle- class families in New York,

         20  they're being squeezed out of this City.  And these

         21  five boroughs  --  well, particularly the island of

         22  Manhattan --  has become virtually impossible to

         23  live in.  And even in my neck of the woods, my

         24  family has been in Woodside for over 100 years, but

         25  Woodside is becoming so expensive that a cop married
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          2  to a school teacher can't find a place they can

          3  afford to buy, and they're being pushed out to Long

          4  Island.  And so, when you have the middle class

          5  being squeezed, it really is terrible for the City.

          6                 Now you mentioned that you have 1,700

          7  employees in New York City.  Who are non- union.

          8  And you know, I'm not going to quibble with you

          9  about whether they should be union or not.  But what

         10  I believe  --  and here's another bedrock concept

         11   --  and just like competition, that I think we

         12  believe in, here is this body, but more importantly,

         13  we believe in this City and this country.  That if

         14  you show up for work every day, and you work hard,

         15  and you have a job for a major American company, you

         16  ought to be able to provide for your family.  You

         17  ought to be able to live a middle- class life.  And

         18  you ought to be able to live in this City.  In fact,

         19  you ought to be able to buy a home in this town.

         20                 So can you give me, either now or  --

         21    if you have that now, it would be wonderful  --

         22  the breakdown of what you're line employees make?

         23  When you started at the company, how much do you

         24  make per hour?  What are your health benefits?  What

         25  do you have to pay in, to get those benefits?  The
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          2  pension benefits.  All along the line.  Because you

          3  know  --   see, the argument pro and con union isn't

          4  really pro and con union in my mind.  It's about the

          5  middle class.  And I think if you watch the rise of

          6  the union movement in America, what you see is a

          7  rise in the American middle class.  And what I'm

          8  concerned about is as we give out franchises here,

          9  if we're giving them out to companies that are non-

         10  union, that they actually be good actors, and that

         11  they believe and they hold the same values that we

         12  hold.  In other words, if WalMart went into the

         13  cable television business, or they went into the

         14  long distance telephone business, I've got to tell

         15  you, I don't think they'd get a very welcome

         16  reception here.  Because of their terrible labor

         17  practices.  And the fact that people can work full

         18  time there and still be living in poverty.

         19                 So I guess my question to you is one,

         20  do you know those numbers?  What are your  --  is

         21  your average employee making? What is the line

         22  employee making?  What is their benefits package? If

         23  you don't know off the top of your head, can you

         24  provide me with that information?

         25                 MR. BICKHAM: Yes.  I think we can
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          2  provide it.  I don't have that at my fingertips.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: When do you

          4  think you can get that to me?

          5                 MR. BICKHAM: I don't think that would

          6  take too long. I said, I don't think that would take

          7  very long.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA: Thank you.  And

          9  I appreciate that, because  --  and I really want

         10  you to know, I do agree with what you said.  I think

         11  when you look at the competition, what cable has

         12  done in terms of the television  --  I mean in terms

         13  of the telephone market, has been fantastic.  There

         14  used to be a time when  --  I mean, I remember when

         15  I was a kid and my mom would say, well, hurry up,

         16  get on the phone, it's long distance.  We don't hear

         17  that anymore, right?  I mean, long distance  --  you

         18  can talk to Brooklyn the same as you can talk to

         19  California, the same as you can talk to China.  And

         20  I think that's a good thing.  And I think that's

         21  good for consumers.  And I think when you get those

         22   --  the 39 triple play package in the people's

         23  homes or whatever you guys call it.  You don't call

         24  it the triple play, but whatever you guys call it, I

         25  think it's good that you're getting the computer
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          2  service in there as well.

          3                 So I think we agree on some concepts,

          4  but I think it's also important  --  and I think I

          5  speak for many of my colleagues  --  that we hold

          6  true to the principles that build this City.  We

          7  don't want to be doing business with companies I

          8  think that are causing the middle class to flee New

          9  York.  Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA:  I would just

         11  ask, not only for you, but for any of the people

         12  that testify, when individual Council Members ask

         13  for information, that you please also share it with

         14  the Chair.

         15                 I have a quick question, and then

         16  we'll go on to Time Warner.

         17                 Have there been, or are there any,

         18  City subsidies that are involved in the buildout

         19  situation?

         20                 MR. BICKHAM: Not that I'm aware of.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Okay.  Thank you.

         22                 MR. BICKHAM: Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Now move on to

         24  Time Warner.

         25                 MR. SZARFARC: Good morning Chairman
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          2  Avella and Members of the City Council Subcommittee

          3  on Zoning and Franchises. My name is Howard

          4  Szarfarc, and I am President of the New York City

          5  division of Time Warner Cable.  I am pleased to

          6  share our views on the authorizing resolution that

          7  the Mayor has submitted to the Council, as well as

          8  answer any questions that you or your staffs may

          9  have.

         10                 On background, our commitment to the

         11  City of New York began way back in 1967 with an

         12  experiment in urban cable called Sterling Manhattan.

         13    At that time, local residents only sought clear

         14  reception, a problem in a City filled with

         15  skyscrapers.  And it was solved by the City's first

         16  cable system, which had 17 channels.

         17                 Over the years, programming choices

         18  expanded and more and more New Yorkers subscribed.

         19  Today, our service has grown to meet the

         20  information, entertainment, and the communication

         21  needs of New Yorkers.  We have continued our

         22  commitment to the City through investing in

         23  infrastructure upgrades, new services and products.

         24  During this time, we have developed our community

         25  involvement and character, helping to enrich the
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          2  many communities we serve.

          3                 The company gives back millions of

          4  dollars in direct and in- kind contributions to the

          5  City's vibrant nonprofit sector. Hundreds of

          6  organizations have benefited from our community

          7  outreach programs and contributions.  Our commitment

          8  to this City is underscored by the civic efforts of

          9  our leader, Dick Parsons, who has recently agreed to

         10  chair the City's Anti- Poverty Task Force.

         11                 Today, we serve over one million

         12  customers throughout Manhattan, Brooklyn, Queens,

         13  and Staten Island.  Our more than 3,000 employees

         14  live and work in the neighborhoods we serve.  About

         15  half of our employees  --  which are our technical

         16  employees  --  are represented by Local Three, of

         17  the International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers.

         18    And we have enjoyed a good relationship with our

         19  union and its members for many years.

         20                 We have invested and reinvested in

         21  our facilities, constructing more than 3,000 miles

         22  of cable above and below ground throughout our

         23  service areas, from Bay Ridge to Bayside, from

         24  Washington Heights to Brooklyn Heights.  Recently,

         25  we completed our second system- wide upgrade,
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          2  investing over $400 million to make our entire

          3  infrastructure fiber rich, an important step which

          4  has enabled us to improve reliability, expand

          5  programming, enhance performance as well as stay

          6  competitive.  This fiber rich system allowed us to

          7  rapidly deploy both high- speed online and digital

          8  phone as well as more services for our customers.

          9                 As the Council reviews the issues

         10  surrounding the authorizing resolution, we would

         11  like to underscore our position with just three

         12  words: Level Playing Field.  By this, I mean that

         13  all franchise video providers in the City be subject

         14  to the same requirements and obligations, including

         15  financial, performance, construction, and customer

         16  support.  We realize that we will face more

         17  competition and we're ready to meet that challenge.

         18  We should not be disadvantaged, however, by having

         19  new entrants subject to lesser obligations, unless

         20  our obligations are similarly reduced.            Let

         21  me take a moment to discuss today's marketplace. We

         22  recognize that consumers benefit from more

         23  competition and greater choice.  Over the last

         24  several years, we have been able to bring our

         25  customers hundreds of channels and new services,
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          2  such as DVRs, movie on demand, local video on

          3  demand, including the recent broadcast on video on

          4  demand of the Staten Island Little League Games,

          5  which were of great interest to many New Yorkers,

          6  high definition television, high- speed Internet

          7  access, and most recently, digital telephone

          8  service.

          9                 In 1992, we created and developed New

         10  York One News, a forerunner of local cable news, and

         11  now a model.  I mention this, all of this, simply

         12  because these innovations were necessary for us to

         13  remain competitive.  Our customers expect

         14  convenience, value, and choice.  And the fact is, if

         15  we don't meet those expectations, we lose customers.

         16

         17                 We agree that competition has a

         18  positive impact on the economy, brings consumers

         19  greater choice, creates an environment where

         20  companies perform at the highest levels to attract

         21  and retain customers, and most importantly, allows

         22  the free market, the free market to determine

         23  success.  We are, and always have been willing to

         24  operate in a competitive landscape.  And even today,

         25  there is competition in the video marketplace.  The
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          2  FCC agrees, noting in its recent 11th Annual Report

          3  to Congress on the status of competition, that most

          4  consumers have a choice of at least three providers,

          5  cable, and one of two national DVS providers, Dish

          6  and Direct.  They offer hundreds of channels in

          7  digital service.  The FCC also observed that it did

          8  not believe the fact that a large number of

          9  consumers continue to subscribe to cable indicates

         10  lack of choice.  Cable operators have made upgrades

         11  and advances in the services they offer, in response

         12  to increased competition.  And as a result of that

         13  competition, some 25 million customers nationally,

         14  one out of four video customers, now obtain their

         15  service from a company other than  --  other than

         16  their local cable operator.

         17                 In addition to satellite companies,

         18  telephone companies such as Verizon, are already in

         19  the marketplace in partnership with satellite

         20  providers throughout the City.  Indeed, competition

         21  is here, but has made our company stronger.

         22                 Please keep in mind, that since the

         23  change in law in 1996, allowing phone companies to

         24  enter the video business, Verizon could have come

         25  forward any time in the past ten years and requested
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          2  a franchise.  It didn't.  They have chosen to seek a

          3  franchise now, and that's fine.  But they should not

          4  be given any advantage over existing franchises,

          5  which have spent the past ten years improving and

          6  upgrading their systems to better serve customers

          7  and meet competition.

          8                 In our view, it's good public policy

          9  that all video providers be on equal footing, in all

         10  respects.  In fact, this was envisioned when the New

         11  York State Department of Public Service created its

         12  Memorandum and Resolution last year.  Anticipating

         13  and increasingly competitive landscape, the PSC

         14  requested and received comments in public forums

         15  across the State, from the Bronx, to Brooklyn, to

         16  Binghamton.  The 2005 PSC rules grew out of this

         17  input, together with an update of the State's

         18  regulatory framework, to reflect a more competitive

         19  environment.  The very words "level playing field"

         20  are the title of the Public Service Commission's

         21  Rules and Regulations, Section 895.3.  And I quote,

         22  Level Playing Field.  No municipality may award or

         23  renew a franchise for cable television service which

         24  contains economic or regulatory burdens which when

         25  taken as a whole are greater or lesser than those
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          2  burdens placed on other cable television franchises

          3  operating in the same area".

          4                 In fact, we believe the burdens go

          5  beyond that.  It should be to equivalent and shared

          6  equally.  That means that no one company, whether

          7  it's a company newly seeking a franchise, or an

          8  existing one, should be advantaged or disadvantaged.

          9                 It is our position that all companies

         10  and competitors should have equal PEG channels set

         11  aside, customer service performance standards,

         12  institutional network support, reporting, insurance

         13  requirements, and franchise fee obligations.

         14                 The Council, while examining the

         15  issues surrounding the authorizing resolution,

         16  should not be giving an advantage to any company by

         17  relieving it of any obligations, whether they're

         18  subject to financial, construction, customer

         19  service, or anything else.  Granting such an

         20  advantage would distort the marketplace and

         21  ultimately harm the consumer, by eliminating the

         22  ability to choose between providers which compete on

         23  equal footing.

         24                 Also, no advantage is needed, because

         25  as I said earlier, a robust, competitive landscape
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          2  now exists.  As we all know, government should not

          3  pick winners and loser.  That's the role of the

          4  marketplace.  Leave it up to the consumer to decide

          5  on which provider to select.  New Yorkers are pretty

          6  smart, and can't be fooled.  Allow them to make the

          7  choice as to which provider to rely upon.

          8                 I'm just going to summarize some of

          9  the important elements of the level playing field

         10  argument.

         11                 As you know, we pay five percent of

         12  our gross revenues from cable services in franchise

         13  to the City.  In 2005, that amounted to $65 million

         14  paid to the City.  In addition, we have been, and

         15  continue to be, required to pay public access fees

         16  that have increased in proportion to our customer

         17  growth.  We're proud of our good relationships that

         18  we have with our community access organizations, and

         19  I know some of them are here today.  We have

         20  supported them in many ways, but most importantly,

         21  on a financial level, which has enabled them to

         22  flourish.  This year alone, community access

         23  organizations, including Manhattan Neighborhood

         24  Network, Queens Public Television, BCAT, and CTV

         25  received $5.5 million.  We ask that you ensure that
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          2  any new video franchisee be subject to the same

          3  franchise fees and financial support for education

          4  and government channels to which we are subject.

          5                 PEG.  Under our franchise agreement,

          6  we are required to set aside channels for public,

          7  education, and government use. We offer nine PEG

          8  channels in each community that we serve.  Four are

          9  public access, and five are set aside for the City

         10  for government use, and include, for instance, NYC

         11  TV.  Those requirements were in place before we had

         12  a single customer.  And far fewer channels than we

         13  have today.  I urge the Council to ensure that any

         14  new entrant be required to provide the identical

         15  number of PEG channels that we have been required to

         16  provide.

         17                 We continue to expend millions of

         18  dollars to support an institutional network which is

         19  utilized by the City.  It was this network that

         20  provided urgent and immediate communication on

         21  September 11th, and the difficult days that

         22  followed.  Any new franchisee should be required to

         23  absorb and equitable share of those expenditures to

         24  maintain and strengthen this vital network.

         25                 Today, we are required to provide
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          2  complimentary service to a host of municipal

          3  facilities, and we're pleased to do so.  New

          4  entrants should be required to absorb and equivalent

          5  commitment.

          6                 As with the existing franchise

          7  holders, the City should mandate a sequence of

          8  construction and timeline for new entrants that

          9  require that each franchisee be required to provide

         10  service to every resident who requests it.

         11                 Let me say one final word about level

         12  playing field. These obligations cannot be

         13  postponed, eliminated, or overlooked. Because

         14  Verizon, in 2006, a decade after federal legislation

         15  permitted its entry into video, determined it should

         16  be awarded a franchise.  It goes without saying that

         17  Verizon can, and will successfully engage the New

         18  York City marketplace.  After all, it's a company

         19  that's done business here for 100 years, with high

         20  name recognition, and a reputation for providing

         21  telephone service. They're clearly capable of

         22  meeting all the financial expectations. In point of

         23  fact, Verizon's 2005 total revenues are $10 billion

         24  greater than that of the entire domestic cable

         25  television industry.
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          2            We urge you to ensure that true video

          3  competition evolves on a level playing field, by

          4  adding a provision to this authorizing resolution,

          5  which will require that all companies adhere to the

          6  same rules, requirements, obligations, and

          7  regulations from the start.

          8                 By incorporating this provision into

          9  the authorizing resolution, marketplace success will

         10  be determined by the ability of competitors to meet

         11  the needs and interests of consumers, and not by

         12  artificial regulatory advantages.

         13                 There is one last reason I urge you

         14  to carefully consider this level playing field

         15  issue.  Simply stated, it's just plain fair.  Thank

         16  you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Your statement

         18  obviously addressed my issue with the PEGs, but I

         19  wondered if you would comment on the issue of union

         20  labor and prevailing wage.

         21                 MR. SZARFARC.  All of our technical

         22  workers here in New York City are members of Local

         23  Three of the IBEW, and they're well represented.

         24  Their business representative is in attendance here

         25  today.  And I think our employees are well paid and
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          2  well represented.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: And the  --  you

          4  didn't address the prevailing wage part of my

          5  question.

          6                 MR. SZARFARC.  I'm not sure what

          7  you're looking for.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: That in effect,

          9  Time Warner abides by all the regulations in regards

         10  to prevailing wage.

         11                 MR. SZARFARC: Yes, they do.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Okay.  I have a

         13  number of my colleagues who asked to speak.  Council

         14  Member Felder, and then Council Member Katz.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you very

         16  much.  I just want to repeat some of the same

         17  questions.  So I  --  where do you provide service

         18  now?  And I should say  --  forget about that. Make

         19  that easy.  Will you provide service to the entire

         20  City?

         21                 MR. SZARFARC: We currently

         22  contemplate seeking renewal of the areas in which we

         23  currently operate.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Where is that?

         25                 MR. SZARFARC: That is the entire
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          2  borough of Manhattan; the on- third, the western

          3  portion of Queens, pardon, of Brooklyn; the entire

          4  borough of Queens; and the entire borough of Staten

          5  Island.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: And do you

          7  intend to provide service to the entire City?

          8                 MR. SZARFARC: No.  We currently

          9  contemplate seeking renewal of the areas in which we

         10  currently do business.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: So again, in

         12  writing, if it's okay with the Chair, I'd like you

         13  to state clearly where you intend to provide

         14  service.

         15                 In addition, same questions again,

         16  can you say you know, I won't feed you.  What are

         17  you willing to say about your compliance with the

         18  original franchise agreement that you have with the

         19  City?

         20                 MR. SZARFARC: Well, I need to ask you

         21  a question. Our franchise  --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: You can't

         23  answer me, ask question.  I told you outside.  But

         24  that's why  --  unless you want to go campaigning

         25  for a few months and raise money, and get elected,
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          2  so that's the one benefit I have.  You sit there and

          3  I roast you.  You don't roast me.  Now I want you to

          4  answer the question.

          5                 MR. SZARFARC: Certainly.  Our

          6  franchise  --  we have a series of franchises that

          7  date back as long as 1967 in Manhattan, for example.

          8    But our most recent franchises, which were issued

          9  in 1998 and expire in 2008, and we are absolutely in

         10  compliance with those agreements.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Were there any

         12  franchise agreements in between the discovery of

         13  America and 199  --  you know, what you just said?

         14                 MR. SZARFARC: Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON FELDER: Okay.  So can you

         16  tell me, in writing  --  we don't have to do it here

         17    --  even though, you know, it's more fun.  But I

         18  want in writing for you to say emphatically and

         19  clearly, whatever you're willing to say.  But it

         20  should be clear that you should say that we were in

         21  full compliance of the following franchise

         22  agreements.  And if you weren't in full compliance,

         23  ask your lawyer.  Okay?  Don't ask me.

         24                 Finally, how many years did it take

         25  to build out the current systems that you have?
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          2                 MR. SZARFARC: The most recent

          3  construction that took place was in the outer

          4  boroughs.  Manhattan was much earlier.  And it was

          5  about five and a half years to complete construction

          6  in the outer boroughs.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: So in total,

          8  how many years did it take?

          9                 MR. SZARFARC: Five and a half years.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Five and a

         11  half years.  And finally, just one other question on

         12  the level playing field. Because that's something

         13  that everyone has been talking about, and it's

         14  somewhat confusing to me.  Because it's like the old

         15  story, the analogy, at least for me, at home with my

         16  kids, everybody's right.  Either everybody is right

         17  or everybody is wrong.  Because it doesn't make

         18  sense.  The arguments that are being made on both

         19  sides of this debate, either everybody is lying or

         20  everybody is telling the truth.  So what I want to

         21  ask is not whether you're lying or telling the

         22  truth.  What I'd like to know is that do you believe

         23  that the same agreements should be repeated?  Or

         24  should be duplicated?  So in fact, in theory, let's

         25  say there was an agreement to paint this room, for
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          2  heaven's sake.  Finally, okay? Would you say that it

          3  should be painted twice by a new competitor? Because

          4  that was in the original agreement?

          5                 MR. SZARFARC: No.  I wouldn't.  I

          6  think what the concept of level playing field

          7  anticipates is a quality, and not simply replicating

          8  what may not need to be replicated.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Good.  That

         10  was the right answer.  So in fact, I want to ask you

         11  a follow up to that.  So would you say that this is

         12  in terms of dollars?  So that if, for example, as a

         13  result of the original franchise agreement Time

         14  Warner had to spend $10 million, let's say by an

         15  objective third party, they came in, they analyzed

         16  the investments that your company had to make to

         17  abide by the agreement.  That that's what would have

         18  to be replicated?

         19                 MR. SZARFARC: For the most part, but

         20  there are many administrative requirements contained

         21  in the contracts that we currently have  --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Can you give

         23  me one example?

         24                 MR. SZARFARC: Reporting requirements.

         25    Where we have voluminous requirements to provide
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          2  information about how many phone calls we took, how

          3  many outages might have taken place, what

          4  neighborhoods they occurred in.  But I guess all

          5  that translates eventually into money, because it

          6  costs money to provide all that information.  So to

          7  the extent that that translates, yes.  It's about

          8  cost.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: But you

         10  certainly would not --  again, I don't want to say

         11  that  --  would you say that you certainly believe

         12  that there's no point in any competitor coming in,

         13  new or old, repeating the same things again, which

         14  are of obviously no benefit to anyone?

         15                 MR. SZARFARC: I'm sure there are

         16  instances that duplicating does not make sense, and

         17  we agree that equality can be accomplished in other

         18  ways.  For example, money as opposed to simply

         19  duplicating existing facilities or otherwise.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Right.

         21                 MR. SZARFARC: We agree.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: No.  You

         23  didn't agree. Because you said there are cases.  I'm

         24  making a generalization. You don't have to agree

         25  with me.  My generalization is that if there are
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          2  financial obligations, there is no point to

          3  repeating things that people spent money on, to

          4  repeat them again, for no reason at all.  The

          5  reporting requirements that you talk about, besides

          6  costing, that I understand.  But if it's a question

          7  that you had to go out and spend money to fix

          8  something somewhere, or build something somewhere,

          9  and there's no need to fix it or build it again,

         10  that would not be part of a lucid human being's

         11  argument to require somebody else to do that again.

         12  Is that true?

         13                 MR. SZARFARC: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: That was good.

         15    That was the right answer.  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         17  Katz.  Then Council Member Rivera.  Then Council

         18  Member Sears.  And by the way, Council Member

         19  Felder, it's been Council Member Sear's project

         20  since she came into the Council, to get this room

         21  painted.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: It's part of

         23  what will make the level playing field.  Few can

         24  paint it.

         25                 We thank you for coming here today
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          2  and testifying. And for all the work really, that

          3  all of the service providers have done in order to

          4  get to this point.

          5                 I have some very grave concerns about

          6  this process. All right?  The   --  and I just would

          7  like some sort of comments on it.  First of all, I

          8  appreciate your answering the level playing field

          9  question.  It was sort of what I was trying to get

         10  to before, which is, you know, there are financial

         11  burdens and regulatory burdens that are already

         12  placed on Time Warner and Cablevision, because

         13  they're already in the field.  And perhaps if

         14  Verizon or any other company comes in, there may not

         15  be the need to duplicate services, so as long as the

         16  financial and the regulatory burdens are similar,

         17  and even, it would seem that that would be fair.

         18                 I have two, though, issues I'd like

         19  you to comment on.  First of all, it sounds from the

         20  testimony, not only of you, but also others that

         21  have come up and will come up, I'm sure, the level

         22  playing field is clearly the big issue.  But no

         23  matter what the Council does, and no matter what the

         24  Mayor's Office does, this deal is not going to be

         25  approved if the PSC doesn't decide that it was a
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          2  level playing field.  Is that  --  am I missing

          3  that?

          4                 MR. SZARFARC: It is our understanding

          5  that the PSC will have a say in the process.  That's

          6  correct.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: It's my

          8  understanding that they have the final say.  I mean,

          9  if we go through this entire process, we have the

         10  RFP, everybody issues  --  everybody responds to the

         11  RFP, the City thinks it's level, the Council thinks

         12  it's level, although after really it gets out of our

         13  hands, we don't really have that much say in it.

         14  That if the PSC decides it's not level, that's a

         15  problem.

         16                 MR. SZARFARC: Well, I'd have to defer

         17  regarding PSCA matters to my regulatory counsel if

         18  they want to take a shot at that.  I have with me

         19  Gary Matz, who is our VP of Regulatory Affairs.

         20  Gary, do you want to take a shot at that one?

         21                 MR. MATZ: Good morning.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Good morning.

         23                 MR. MATZ: Yes, that is correct. I'm

         24  sorry.  For the record, my name is Gary Matz.  I am

         25  Vice President, Chief Counsel, Regulatory Affairs
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          2  for Time Warner Cable.

          3                 And yes, this franchise would

          4  ultimately be subject to review and approval by the

          5  Public Service Commission.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: So in the end,

          7  we take the five percent, the construction, the

          8  buildout, the burdens on the  -- the PEG channels,

          9  everything like that.  So I guess what we really

         10  need to really do is just make sure we don't go

         11  through this entire process.  The City picks  --

         12  you know, providers for certain areas, and make sure

         13  then we don't get to the PSC and they say no. So we

         14  do want to use what you testified to  --  and I

         15  appreciate all the detail  --  as sort of a base of

         16  all of that.

         17                 So I really just wanted to make sure

         18  that everybody understands that in the end, it's got

         19  to be a level playing field. Otherwise, I don't

         20  think the PSC would vote for it.  But the

         21  suggestions that you have to create it, I think are

         22  very useful. So I thank you for that.

         23                 The other concern I have  --  and

         24  this is sort of a more larger question  --  the

         25  whole point of DoITT's testimony was to create
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          2  competition.  That's the whole point.  That's why

          3  we're all here.  That's why the workers are here,

          4  that's why all the service providers are here,

          5  that's why the Council Members are here.  We want to

          6  provide competition.  What I don't clearly

          7  understand  --  and maybe you just have a

          8  perspective on it  --  is if you guys go for your

          9  renewals, because if you meet the federal four

         10  criteria, right?  The material terms have been met,

         11  the quality of the operative services, the operator

         12  has the financial ability to go on, and you know,

         13  they're able to meet the future cable- related

         14  needs, which I have to think that all of you,

         15  Cablevision, Time Warner, Verizon you know, can meet

         16  that.  And you all just go for renewal.  How does

         17  that provide competition?  And so I guess if you

         18  just have a thought on that, I'd be curious.

         19                 MR. SZARFARC: Sure.  And I'll use the

         20  outer boroughs for a great example.  Queens and

         21  Brooklyn, where today, everyday, we compete with

         22  dish operators for video customers.  And it's no

         23  secret if you take a ride out in the outer boroughs,

         24  you'll see lots of dishes and lots of customers who

         25  make choices.  And that's okay.  There is
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          2  competition out there very aggressively right now.

          3  You can't read a newspaper or watch TV without

          4  seeing commercials advertising competitors's

          5  products.  And now new entries, additional entrants

          6  are looking to enter the marketplace, and provide

          7  additional competition.  I mean, that's  --  we're

          8  perfectly okay with that process, and we accept

          9  competition.  We accept that it's good for the

         10  consumer and we accept that it's good for our

         11  company.  It makes us work harder to keep our

         12  customers.

         13                 That being said  --  and I'm sorry if

         14  I'm repeating myself  --  but the level playing

         15  field ensures that when we compete with a new

         16  franchise entrant, that franchise entrant is playing

         17  by the same rules as we are.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Yes, I was

         19  talking really about something else, which is that

         20  if everybody goes for renewals, then I guess the

         21  only way we have competition is to make you know,

         22  one company overall a Citywide company.  And I guess

         23  I'm just curious as to why your company wouldn't

         24  want to bid outside.  Like let's say you're not  --

         25  I don't want to pick on the Bronx  --  I see Jose
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          2  Rivera here, so I don't want to pick on the Bronx

          3   -- Assemblyman Jose Rivera, a very able

          4  representative in Albany, but in this chamber, he's

          5  just Joel's father.  We welcome him.  But if you

          6  want to  --  so your vision is that you're not going

          7  to try to expand.  And is that because it's cost

          8  prohibitive to go into the other areas?  Or is that

          9  just because it's a sure thing for renewal, and your

         10  customer is already there?

         11                 MR. SZARFARC: Well no, I think the

         12  latter.  I think we said publicly that the economic

         13  picture for us of going to another community on top

         14  of another operator is something which we're not

         15  choosing to do right now.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay.  I just

         17   --  Mr. Chair, I think that I'm just very concerned

         18  about the competition issue. And I don't know how we

         19  manage to achieve what we want to achieve. DoITT was

         20  very clear in their testimony  --  and I know that

         21  we have representatives of DoITT here  --  that they

         22  want to see what the cable providers come back with.

         23    And I don't think that that's a bad way of going

         24  about it.  I mean, you guys might have new and

         25  innovative ideas, and I think that's terrific.  But
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          2  to achieve competition, if everybody goes for

          3  renewal, I think is an issue. And I don't really

          4  know how to deal with it for the future, but I thank

          5  you for your honest answers.  Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

          7  Rivera.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Thank you very

          9  much Mr. Chair.  Thank you very much for joining us

         10  here today on a very important topic affecting our

         11  City.

         12                 Level playing field, topic of

         13  discussion for the past couple of months, is going

         14  to be a topic of discussion for some time, I can

         15  see.  What, in your definition, would create a level

         16  playing field for the franchisees or for the

         17  proposed franchisees in the City of New York?   What

         18  would be the ideal level playing field?

         19                 MR. SZARFARC: Well simply stated, and

         20  its simplest form, I guess a rule book that everyone

         21  plays by the same rules. And I don't necessarily

         22  mean  --  because we have a voluminous franchise

         23  agreement.  If I stacked them all up, the agreements

         24  we have at the City of New York, on this table,

         25  they'd be about this high altogether.  And there's a
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          2  lot of rules, requirements, and obligations there.

          3  And that's fine.  But I'm not necessarily looking to

          4  replicate that set of rules and regulations.  The

          5  process might evolve into a whole new set of

          6  regulations, reflecting the fact that the world is

          7  changed in the last ten years.  That's okay.  What

          8  we would seek is that if there's a new rule book, or

          9  an existing rule book, that everybody play by the

         10  same rules.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Now the

         12  current rules and regulations, is it standardized

         13  for, say, Cablevision and Time Warner?  Or are they

         14  different rules and regulations for the franchise

         15  agreements?

         16                 MR. SZARFARC: I haven't's studied

         17  Cablevision's in great detail, but I believe they're

         18  roughly similar.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: They're

         20  roughly similar?

         21                 MR. SZARFARC: They're roughly the

         22  same.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Now, the

         24  biggest concern that you have is that  --  what

         25  would be the largest concern in terms of the level

                                                            88

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  playing field?  Is there any area in particular

          3  that's of major concern?

          4                 MR. SZARFARC: I don't think so.  I

          5  think it's the over riding concept that all of the

          6  costs associated with regulation be equal with all

          7  the franchise competitors.  Certainly, some costs

          8  more than others.  And certainly, those might take a

          9  higher priority.  But in the end, it's the concept

         10  of everyone operating under the same rule book.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Okay.  And

         12  then I see in your testimony, you mentioned that you

         13  did 3,000 miles of cable, and $400 million to make

         14  the entire infrastructure fiber rich.  How long did

         15  it take again, for that process?

         16                 MR. SZARFARC: When I was asked

         17  earlier, the original construction process in the

         18  outer boroughs for example, was about five and a

         19  half years.  The $400 million in my comments was

         20  relating to the physical upgrade that we did in

         21  about '98, completed about in '98.  And that process

         22  took about three, four, three and a half to four

         23  years as well.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Is that part

         25  of the agreement that you stick to a specific
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          2  timeline in terms of --

          3                 MR. SZARFARC: No.  Actually, the

          4  original construction of the outer boroughs were

          5  part of the outer borough --  the earlier outer

          6  boroughs franchise agreements.  Subsequent to that,

          7  to remain competitive, we made the decision to

          8  improve our infrastructure largely through the

          9  implementation of hundreds and hundreds of mile of

         10  fiber optics, to what we call upgrade our

         11  facilities, so that we could bring advanced products

         12  and services to our customers.  And that's what the

         13  $400 million was referencing.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Was there any

         15  type of City subsidies?  Any tax abatements?  Any

         16  tax rebates, or anything of that nature to assist

         17  Time Warner in that expansion, or in that systemwide

         18  upgrade?

         19                 MR. SZARFARC: No.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: No subsidy

         21  whatsoever.

         22                 MR. SZARFARC: No.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Okay.  And

         24  obviously, the PEGs is obviously a major issue you

         25  know, that we're all talking about.  I know in the
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          2  Bronx, we have BronxNet, we have Michael Nobe who is

          3  here in the audience with us.  He's a great

          4  Executive Director.  Doing a phenomenal job.  And

          5  obviously, you have other PEGs within your areas.

          6  And you're going to continue your commitment to

          7  making sure we have the public access channels?

          8                 MR. SZARFARC: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Okay.  Thank

         10  you very much Mr. Chair.  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         12  Sears.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you Mr.

         14  Chair.  Good morning.  I know that you've all been

         15  here for quite some time.

         16                 I'm just going to ask you to walk me

         17  through something.  Because there's such an issue

         18  about the competition, and the concerns about that.

         19  And I don't think that that's quite what you're all

         20  about.  Is the objections to competition.  You made

         21  that very clear.

         22                 So my question, to me, direct, and

         23  just  --  as Verizon now is regulated.  Is it not?

         24  With the services that it provides?

         25                 MR. SZARFARC: I believe so, yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay.  Is the

          3  cable industry deregulated?

          4                 MR. SZARFARC: The cable industry

          5  still is subject to regulation.  And in fact, it's

          6  still  --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I thought they

          8  were deregulated some time back.  So that's why I

          9  need clarity.

         10                 MR. SZARFARC: There were certain

         11  components of regulation that were reduced over the

         12  last five to seven years. But the industry  --  for

         13  example there is still a good amount of regulation

         14  that is involved in this franchise process for that

         15  matter.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Sure.

         17                 MR. SZARFARC: But our many of our

         18  rates are still regulated, and this franchise

         19  process is again, another example of how the

         20  industry still remains regulated.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: All right.  It

         22  seems that one of the big concerns is that any new

         23  competitors coming in, would not be piggybacking on

         24  what the industry has already done over the years,

         25  in meeting the requirements and fulfilling certain
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          2  obligations to the City and the communities.  Is

          3  that correct?

          4                 MR. SZARFARC: I'm not sure I

          5  understand the question.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: In other words,

          7  what you have done, and what Cablevision has done,

          8  and you've had to comply with some very strong

          9  demands, really, from the City, and what you are

         10  offering back when you first came into the industry.

         11    Started it. So you put a great deal into that.

         12  Now, if a franchise was awarded to someone new, do

         13  they follow on what you're doing?  Or is it that

         14  they must do other things to augment what you're

         15  doing, that you're not doing now?  I think that we

         16  need to be a little clear on that. Because you've

         17  done a lot, and I'm not saying that you haven't. You

         18  certainly have extended yourself.  So has

         19  Cablevision.  So if there  --  and you mentioned

         20  Verizon, so I'll just carry along with Verizon.  If

         21  they were to be awarded the franchise, now you have

         22  been doing things, and I get that the industry would

         23  not like them to continue doing what you're doing.

         24  That they need to enter it and do things that are

         25  not being done.  That would create a level playing
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          2  field, rather than augmenting on what is already

          3  being done.  Which would not be as costly as what it

          4  was when you originally initiated them.

          5                 MR. SZARFARC: Well,  --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Is that clear?

          7  Or did I have too many words?

          8                 MR. SZARFARC: There's  --  I think

          9  from what I can see occurring around the country,

         10  the expectation would be that the new entrant would

         11  seek to provide what I guess was characterized

         12  earlier, and we certainly use it in our advertising,

         13  as a triple play of services.  And so in answer to

         14  your question of would I expect them to do something

         15  else, no, I expect that there would be a competitive

         16  triple play of services if you will, and there would

         17  be competition for the hearts and minds of every

         18  subscriber.  I hope I'm answering your question.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Not quite.  Are

         20  there things you're not doing now that you would

         21  like to see done?  And not necessarily by you?

         22  Because you certainly have met your commitments.

         23                 MR. SZARFARC: No.  We have spent, as

         24  we quoted earlier, millions and millions of dollars

         25  to build what we believe to be highly advanced
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          2  infrastructure.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay.

          4                 MR. SZARFARC: And we will continue

          5   --  and there's nothing stopping us  --  we will

          6  continue to bring to market new and advanced

          7  products that make sense for our customers and make

          8  economic sense, as quickly as possible.  Because

          9  we've built this wonderful infrastructure and we

         10  certainly want to take full advantage of it.  So we

         11     --  no, the answer is we intend to bring as many

         12  products and services to market, utilizing that

         13  infrastructure.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay.  It would

         15  seem that when you pointed out the profit of $10

         16  billion that Verizon had, it would seem that the

         17  marketplace did speak, and with such a huge profit,

         18  in using the services of Verizon, I would have to

         19  think that they're using the services of Verizon

         20  because they have absolutely done in keeping up with

         21  the infrastructure, in advancing their technology,

         22  so that if they were to get this franchise, they

         23  would have a far wider, broader band than maybe what

         24  is existing right now.

         25                 MR. SZARFARC: Well they've been the
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          2  incumbent phone provider for quite some time.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I understand.

          4                 MR. SZARFARC: And that gave them

          5  certain size and scope in the marketplace.  And I

          6  assume their goal will be to extend additional

          7  services and compete with us.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I would say

          9  that you've all extended  --  or invested in large

         10  amounts of money.  Yet still, I think the issue in

         11  this franchise, and what we do with it in the

         12  Council, in order to do a level field, is just how

         13  far have each of you extended your services where it

         14  would be a level playing field for all the new, and

         15  those that are renewing their franchises. Because in

         16  renewing a franchise, it doesn't have to be with the

         17  same conditions.  Is that correct?

         18                 MR. SZARFARC: It does not have to be

         19  the same conditions.  That's correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So that means,

         21  that in renewing the franchises, and I think my

         22  colleague pointed that out, that there's a lot to

         23  consider in terms of the existing contracts you

         24  have, and what you will be needing, and exactly any

         25  new one would be doing if they were awarded the
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          2  franchise.  So it seems it involves all of you.

          3  Those that have the franchise and those that may be

          4  awarded a franchise.  Because your contracts don't

          5  have to stay the way they are.

          6                 MR. SZARFARC: That's correct.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay.  All

          8  right.  Thank you very much.  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         10  Jackson.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you Mr.

         12  Chair.  And good morning.  I apologize, I had to

         13  step away during your testimony, and I hope that I

         14  don't repeat some of the questions that my

         15  colleagues may have asked in my absence.

         16                 Quite frankly, like you as an

         17  executive, we juggle all the time to try to make

         18  sure that we carry out our business, and that's what

         19  I was doing.  As I indicated, I co- chair the Black,

         20  Latino and Asian Caucus, and we had a press

         21  conference downstairs on the fact that Governor

         22  Pataki failed to reappoint Justice Bundy Smith to

         23  the Court of Appeals.

         24                 But let me ask a questions.  The same

         25  questions that I put forward to the President of
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          2  Cablevision.  I see that you are the President of

          3  the New York City Division of Time Warner Cable. And

          4  you indicated that you have 3,000 employees that

          5  live and work in the neighborhoods that we serve.

          6  Is that all the number of employees that you have in

          7  New York City?

          8                 MR. SZARFARC: The exact number would

          9  be closer to 3,200 employees in the City of New

         10  York.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And what's

         12  your diversity level of those 3,000 employees?

         13                 MR. SZARFARC: Well, those 3,200 or so

         14  employees I am proud to say, are very representative

         15  of the communities we serve.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And what does

         17  that mean, specifically.

         18                 MR. SZARFARC: But I don't have all of

         19  the numbers with me, but I am more than prepared, as

         20  the prior speaker was, to provide you with those

         21  same reports, information statistics.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I would

         23  appreciate that. And I say, not to me, but to the

         24  Chair, and the Chair will disseminate that to the

         25  Committee.  You can copy me on it, but it should go

                                                            98

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  to the Chair.  I ask you to do that.

          3                 And you indicated that about half of

          4  your employees are represented by Local Three of

          5  IBEW.  Is that correct?

          6                 MR. SZARFARC: It's the technical

          7  workers.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: The technical

          9  workers.  And the other half?

         10                 MR. SZARFARC: Are not represented.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So the

         12  technical workers are represented.  What are the

         13  titles that are not represented?  Give me an

         14  example, so I can visualize that in my mind.

         15                 MR. SZARFARC: Sure.  Administrative

         16  positions, customer service positions, sales

         17  positions.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  But

         19  the individuals that  --  the technical I guess the

         20  laying of the fiber optics, and doing all of the

         21  major repairs and everything.  Those are  --

         22                 MR. SZARFARC: Much more than that.

         23  And all of the people who do installations and come

         24  to your home to repair your cable when occasionally

         25  that might be needed.  Operating all of our
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          2  infrastructure.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  So the

          4  average person that I see that's driving a Time

          5  Warner truck in my neighborhood, because I'm

          6  represented by Time Warner, I live in Manhattan, is

          7  a union represented employee?

          8                 MR. SZARFARC: He's a member of Local

          9  Three, yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  And

         11  does Time Warner contract out work, other than to

         12  giving work to the employees?  So for example, is

         13  Time Warner paying prevailing wage to employees that

         14  work on projects that are being done by Time Warner?

         15    Let me get to the crux of it.  Someone raised the

         16  issue, and I don't know if it was Time Warner, or

         17  Verizon, or Cablevision, but since I got the

         18  information now, and I'm asking it now.  I may have

         19  asked it to the previous, but the previous person is

         20  now off, and you're on the seat.  My question is, is

         21  Time Warner hiring people from outside of New York

         22  City to do work that the employees here can do?  And

         23  paying them, those individuals, not the prevailing

         24  wage of New York City?  That's the bottom line of my

         25  question.
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          2                 MR. SZARFARC: Where we do

          3  construction, for example, which is the largest part

          4  of our contracting activities, we contract to Local

          5  Three companies.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Contract to

          7  Local Three  --

          8                 MR. SZARFARC: We use contractors who

          9  are members of Local Three.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Of the Local

         11  Three.

         12                 MR. SZARFARC: As well.  So  --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: You say "as

         14  well".  You mean that you may use others outside of

         15  that too?

         16                 MR. SZARFARC: All our construction

         17  work in New York City is done by either ourselves,

         18  through our Local Three employees, or contractors

         19  who are members of Local Three.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  So in

         21  essence, basically, what I'm gathering from your

         22  answer  --  and I was listening pretty closely  --

         23  that basically, all of the work that you do are by

         24  Local Three employees or contractors that have

         25  members of Local Three.  That's what I heard.
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          2                 MR. SZARFARC: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Is that

          4  correct?  So in essence, you're telling me that you

          5  don't hire contractors that let's say they're coming

          6  from Georgia, that are non- union, that are not

          7  being paid prevailing wages of New York City.

          8                 MR. SZARFARC: That's correct.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  And

         10  I'm going to ask that of the other people that come.

         11                 And Cablevision  --  you're not  --

         12  you said that you have  --  even though you're not

         13  on the stand now, but I'm talking to you also.  You

         14  said you have 1,700 employees that are non- union.

         15  I want to know whether or not those employees that

         16  you have in New York City are doing the work, or

         17  you're hiring people from California, or wherever,

         18  to come in and do work that employees of New York

         19  City.  You don't have to answer that now, but I

         20  would like to have a response to that in your formal

         21  response to the Chair of this Committee.

         22                 Because Eric Gioia raised a very

         23  important point. That we here represent people in

         24  New York City.  I mean, that's who I'm elected by.

         25  You heard my talk about the average constituent that
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          2  I earn, and the concern is that we want to ensure

          3  that the people that we represent have the jobs here

          4  in New York City, especially when the bills that I

          5  pay every month to Time Warner, is coming from my

          6  pocket.  And the money that I get are from the

          7  constituents of New York City.  Do you understand my

          8  point?

          9                 MR. SZARFARC: Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  I just

         11  want to make that clear.  And I'm not only talking

         12  to you, even though you're there right now.   I'm

         13  talking to all of the people that are going to come

         14  in front of us.  So even though I'm talking to you,

         15  I'm talking to all of you that are going to come in

         16  front.

         17                 Now you mentioned in here about

         18  Verizon and $10 billion you know, obviously, you

         19  mentioned that because that's a concern of yours. Is

         20  that correct?

         21                 MR. SZARFARC: I mentioned it to

         22  illustrate the fact that they are a very, very large

         23  company that has the ability to -  has the resources

         24  to maintain the level  --  that are required to

         25  maintain the level playing field.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And right

          3  now, Time Warmer Cable is in where?  What's your

          4  geographic area, as per your contract?

          5                 MR. SZARFARC: We serve the entire

          6  borough of Manhattan.  We serve the entire borough

          7  of Queens and Staten Island.   --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And Staten

          9   --  so three boroughs you serve.

         10                 MR. SZARFARC: Three boroughs.  And we

         11  serve about a third, the western portion of the

         12  borough of Brooklyn.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: The western

         14  portion.  And would you also submit a list of

         15  community benefits that you provide you know.  Do

         16  you  --  do executives go to Principal for a Day?

         17  Do executives go and speak to community- based

         18  organizations about becoming masses, business

         19  people.  To be Chief Executive of Time Warner Cable?

         20

         21                 MR. SZARFARC: I understand sir.

         22  We'll be happy to provide that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Do you

         24  provide services to the community?  And what type of

         25  services?  So I would like to have a list of all of
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          2  the community benefits that the communities in which

          3  you service.  And you serve basically you said three

          4  full boroughs.  Queens, Staten Island and Manhattan.

          5    And the western part of Brooklyn.  You do not

          6  service the Bronx, right?

          7                 MR. SZARFARC: That's correct.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: But if you

          9  also provide services for the Bronx, as far as

         10  community benefits, even though you don't service

         11  that, I would like to know that also.  If you do.

         12  Okay?

         13                 If you had your way, as a President

         14  of Time Warner Cable of New York City.  How would

         15  you like to see the RFP written? Give me some points

         16  that you would like to see included in that RFP that

         17  the City is going to put out.

         18                 MR. SZARFARC: I'd like to see a

         19  reduced regulatory framework reflecting the fact

         20  that customers can now, and continue to be able to

         21  make choices, and to allow the customers to make the

         22  choice.  But for the most part, I echo again what

         23  I've been saying for the last few minutes here,

         24  which is, whatever that might be, I would simply

         25  like it to make sure that it's a equivalent RFP for
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          2  all of my competitors.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So in

          4  essence, to make sure that everyone is on the same

          5  playing field  --

          6                 MR. SZARFARC: Playing by the same

          7  rules.  Yes sir.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Playing by

          9  the same rules.

         10                 MR. SZARFARC: Yes sir.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I think that

         12  I'm hearing that not only from you, but I think I

         13  heard that from Cablevision, and I would expect that

         14  no one is going to come up here and say that they

         15  want an advantage over the other.  I don't expect

         16  anyone to say that.  Do you expect that to be said?

         17                 MR. SZARFARC: I'd rather not predict

         18  what others may say or not say today sir.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  And

         20  finally, I think that I asked you about your

         21  employees, but I want to know about your executives

         22  also as far as diversity.  So can you include that

         23  in the information that you provide the Chair?

         24                 MR. SZARFARC: Absolutely.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And thank
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          2  you.  I don't have any other questions.  I am a

          3  subscriber.  I've been a subscriber since 1975.  And

          4  quite frankly, my bill, I think is --  no, we're not

          5  getting personal, but the reality is that I think no

          6  matter what cable service you have, I think that

          7  most people would say, the bills are a lot of money.

          8    No matte what cable service they provide.  So

          9  maybe this will, as a result of maybe this RFP,

         10  depending on what's included in there, that the

         11  prices may come down a little bit?  What do you

         12  think about that?  What's your opinion?  Do you have

         13  an opinion about that?  I'm very serious. Because I

         14  think that you know, most people like myself and

         15  quite frankly, I told you what the average family

         16  earns.  I earn  --  my family earns much more than

         17  the average family that I represent. And I know that

         18  that's a lot of money.  Not to say that I'm not

         19  happy with the service mind you.  But money is

         20  money.

         21                 So my question to you is, if this RFP

         22  and every one has the same playing field, and no

         23  advantage, do you think that will bring down the

         24  price of cable for the average consumer?

         25                 MR. SZARFARC: I think it's already
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          2  happening sir. As I think my counterpart from

          3  Cablevision mentioned earlier, with the advent of

          4  digital  --  our product, Digital Phone, customers

          5  are saving money every day.  And I think you're

          6  right.  Sir, I'm from Brooklyn.  I grew up there.  I

          7  went to school there.  I understand what people are

          8  facing.  And I'm very proud of the fact that we've

          9  given customers and opportunity to save money every

         10  day. And everyone is pinching pennies.  We're very

         11  much aware of that. And I think the success of our

         12  phone service has been based upon the fact that New

         13  Yorkers recognize value.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  Thank

         15  you.  Thank you Mr. Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.  We

         17  will now move on to Verizon.  After Verizon

         18  testifies, we will take a five- minute break, and

         19  then we will proceed with the rest of the public

         20  hearing.  We have close to 60 speakers signed up.

         21  So after we hear from Verizon, we'll take a five-

         22  minute break and then we'll proceed to those

         23  speakers.

         24                 MR. DUNNE: Good morning.  It's still

         25  morning.  I see it's 11:50.  Good morning.  My name
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          2  is Tom Dunne. I am Vice President of Government

          3  Affairs for Verizon New York.

          4                 With me today on the panel are Marie

          5  Lasota, Verizon Assistant General Counsel; Brendan

          6  Pinkard, of Wiley Rein and Fielding, outside

          7  counsel; and Paul Trane, of the Telecommunications

          8  Insight Group, lead consultant to Verizon on our

          9  video franchising efforts.

         10                 I want to thank Chairman Avella and

         11  the other Members of the Subcommittee for holding

         12  this public hearing today to advance a resolution

         13  that would encourage the introduction of alternative

         14  cable providers in New York City.  And as a result,

         15  position New York City to join other municipalities

         16  around the country that have taken steps to break

         17  the television service dominance held by the cable

         18  companies.  The resolution is about providing

         19  competition and choice to all New Yorkers.

         20                 And I am very appreciative of the

         21  opportunity to speak before the Subcommittee today

         22  on behalf of Verizon Communications.

         23                 So that you have a better perspective

         24  of Verizon's integral involvement in the fabric of

         25  New York City, I would like to present an overview
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          2  of my company.

          3                 Eighty years ago, New York Telephone

          4  opened its doors on 140 West Street in Lower

          5  Manhattan.  Now, we're Verizon, and 140 West Street

          6  is still our home.  Over those decades, we built the

          7  most technologically advanced communication network

          8  in history.  And we're doing it again today, having

          9  invested hundreds of millions of dollars in the last

         10  few years alone, building a next generation fiber

         11  optic network that we call FiOS.  These investments

         12  mean faster, more advanced Internet services; more

         13  reliable phone and wireless networks; and standing

         14  in the wings and waiting and introduction, Verizon

         15  FiOS TV, a real alternative to cable TV.

         16                 But more than just our advanced

         17  technology offerings, Verizon is among the largest

         18  private employers, philanthropist, and taxpayers in

         19  this great City.  As you may be aware, nearly 13,000

         20  New York City residents are employed by Verizon.  We

         21  have a proud history of being a union company, and

         22  most of our employees are represented by the

         23  Communication Workers of America.  And as part of

         24  the continuing commitment to the communities we

         25  serve, the Verizon Foundation contributed more than
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          2  $9 million to 1,100 non- for- profit organizations

          3  throughout the City in 2005.  Verizon is one of the

          4  largest taxpayers, having paid nearly $222 million

          5  in real property, sales, and use tax in the City in

          6  2005.

          7                 Simply said, we, and our employees

          8  care about the City that we call home.

          9                 For many decades, New York City cable

         10  customers have been served by two cable companies

         11  that do not compete in one another's service areas.

         12  Time Warner or Cablevison.  Each has a franchise to

         13  provide cable TV within its own separately defined

         14  part of the City.  Cablevision serves the Bronx, and

         15  part of Brooklyn.  Time Warner is the sole provider

         16  in all other areas of New York City.

         17                 Passage of the resolution now before

         18  this Subcommittee would be the first step in opening

         19  up the market to new cable TV providers.  The

         20  resolution, in  effect, leads to the breakup of the

         21  current monopolies, and would bring the benefits of

         22  cable competition and cable choice to residents.

         23  Today, the lack of cable competition and consumer

         24  choice in New York, and in much of the country,

         25  contrasts dramatically with an intensely competitive
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          2  telecommunications marketplace.

          3                 Nowadays, a New York City consumer or

          4  business may choose from a range of voice providers,

          5  including traditional wireline, wireless, cable,

          6  satellite, and Internet- based platforms. High-

          7  speed broadband data services also are available

          8  from multiple providers and technology platforms,

          9  including cable and DSL.  In these fields,

         10  competition has flourished, and consumers have been

         11  the beneficiaries.

         12                 However, in New York City,

         13  subscribers to cable services continue to suffer the

         14  effects of one of the few remaining monopolies in

         15  America.  The existing legal framework is slow to

         16  adjust and foster the introduction of new service

         17  providers and competition in the cable industry's

         18  home turf of subscription video services.  Today,

         19  New York City residents have but one choice for a

         20  wireline cable provider.  Whichever one happened to

         21  be granted the franchise to operate in that

         22  neighborhood.  For consumers, it's been mostly a

         23   "take it or leave it" proposition for decades.  For

         24  the incumbent wireline cable companies, it's been

         25   "living on Easy Street", being the one and only
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          2  show in town, all at the expense of the consumers,

          3  your residents.

          4                 Not surprisingly, while prices for

          5  phone service, cell phone service, and Internet

          6  access have steadily declined since 1996, cable

          7  prices have risen a staggering 86 percent. Consumer

          8  polls consistently, and overwhelmingly arrive at the

          9  same conclusion: Consumers are enthusiastically in

         10  favor of choice and competition in the provision of

         11  cable service.

         12                 Study after study also show that

         13  cable TV prices drop significantly in markets where

         14  there is competition.  The FCC's February 2005

         15  Report on Cable Industry Prices concludes that where

         16  there is a land- based competition for cable TV

         17  service, rates are typically more than 27 percent

         18  lower than in locations where there is no such

         19  competition.

         20                 A Bank of America research report

         21  earlier this year also found that where there is

         22  wireline cable competition, incumbent providers

         23  typically respond with a series of unadvertised

         24  offers for improved services, discounts, and other

         25  consumer incentives.  Indeed, Verizon has witnessed
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          2  this behavior first hand.  In markets where we have

          3  a cable presence, the customer who mentioned Verizon

          4  FiOS TV to the incumbent cable company's sales

          5  people received instant monthly pricing equal to, or

          6  less than Verizon's FiOS package.  Simply said,

          7  where there is real cable competition, the consumer

          8  is in the driver's seat.

          9                 By seeking the cable franchise in New

         10  York City, Verizon has committed to breaking the

         11  cable monopoly that has, for decades, has maintained

         12  control over what the City watches, and how much

         13  it's residents pay for cable services.

         14                 The initial construction phase of our

         15  Fiber to the Premises, we call it FTTP, the network

         16   --  the construction of the network is underway.

         17  This year, we are offering our FiOS voice and data

         18  service in parts of Staten Island, Queens, and the

         19  Bronx.

         20                 Make no mistake.  Verizon is

         21  committed to serving all customers in the City,

         22  regardless of ethnicity or income. That's simply how

         23  we do business, and that's the way we've always done

         24  business.  Today, our FiOS network reaches diverse

         25  communities in Long Island, Midstate, and Upstate
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          2  New York.  And our FiOS TV lineup offers multi-

          3  cultural, in- language programming that surpasses

          4  anything offered by cable.  Just to give you a

          5  glimpse of what we have to offer, we offer 31

          6  Hispanic channels, Eight Asian, four African-

          7  American, and two Russian.

          8                 We expect our opponents to do all

          9  they can to slow Verizon's entry into the cable

         10  marketplace.  We've seen it before. In Nassau,

         11  Suffolk, Westchester, and Rockland Counties, and in

         12  other communities nationwide, where Verizon has

         13  sought and ultimately obtained competing cable

         14  franchises.

         15                 Editorial boards of leading

         16  newspapers have criticized one incumbent cable

         17  company for deplorable tactics.  And in the end,

         18  community after community, has rejected these strong

         19  arm tactics, embraced competition, and in each case,

         20  have unanimously approved Verizon's agreements.

         21                 To date, 12 communities in New York

         22  have approved Verizon franchises.  And we have

         23  approval hearings scheduled with another 10

         24  communities this month.  In each of those

         25  communities, residents are, or soon will be,
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          2  realizing the benefits of competition and choice

          3  among multiple providers of cable services.

          4                 Should the Council approve the

          5  proposed resolution, it will empower the City to

          6  enter into an agreement with Verizon that will

          7  provide the City and its residents with a multitude

          8  of benefits, including innovative services, PEG and

          9  technological support, additional franchise fees,

         10  and the inherent benefits of a robust, competitive

         11  marketplace.

         12                 As elected officials, you have the

         13  opportunity to change the way cable TV service is

         14  offered in New York City.  To one that is

         15  highlighted by customer choice and competition.  The

         16  resolution before this Subcommittee today is a

         17  critical first step towards achieving that goal.

         18                 The proposed resolution provides the

         19  necessary flexibility to enter the marketplace.  And

         20  ensures that the fundamental needs and interests of

         21  the City and its residents are fully protected.

         22                 This is a historic moment for this

         23  Subcommittee, for the City, and for Verizon.  You

         24  have an unprecedented opportunity to swing open the

         25  doors to competition and customer choice for your
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          2  constituents and for millions of other New Yorkers.

          3  We hope that the Subcommittee will avail itself of

          4  this unique opportunity and approve the proposed

          5  cable franchising resolution without delay.

          6                 I thank you for the opportunity to

          7  speak before the Subcommittee and welcome your

          8  questions.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you for

         10  your testimony. I certainly agree with a lot of the

         11  comments that you made.  You know, it's my personal

         12  belief that passing this resolution will increase

         13  competition, lower prices, and improve customer

         14  service.            I think the question for myself

         15  and then my colleagues is, some of the other issues

         16  that are involved in this resolution to ensure that

         17  we protect union labor, the prevailing wage, and the

         18  PEGs.  And you've heard me ask this question of the

         19  other two existing franchises, so I'd like you to

         20  comment on the PEGs, as well as union labor and the

         21  prevailing wage.

         22                 MR. DUNNE: With regards to the

         23  prevailing wage issue, Verizon complies with all

         24  federal, State, and local laws, and the

         25  Comptroller's Office of New York City oversees
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          2  prevailing wage, and we have no issues with

          3  Comptroller Thompson with regard to that issue.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: And the PEGs.

          5                 MR. DUNNE: We fully support PEG in

          6  all of our franchises that exist today, and we

          7  anticipate, through negotiation with the City, that

          8  we'll do the same here in New York City.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: So you're in

         10  complete agreement with us in the "level playing

         11  field" which would require any person who gets the

         12  cable franchise to be contributing equally to the

         13  public access channels.  Whatever mechanism that may

         14  finally turn out to be.

         15                 MR. DUNNE: If you take a look at the

         16  resolution, the City has incorporated the language

         17  of the level playing field in paragraph 19.  So it's

         18  in the resolution.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: There's also been

         20  some further text amendments that have been

         21  submitted.  I don't know if you've seen it, from the

         22  PEG channels themselves.

         23                 MR. DUNNE: I have not seem them.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I'll share that

         25  with you.  I can get that to you.
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          2                 Obviously, my Committee Members have

          3  a number of questions.  First Council Member Sears,

          4  and then Council Member Rivera.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thank you Mr.

          6  Chair, and good morning.  I should say good

          7  afternoon.

          8                 I just have one brief question,

          9  because we've hear a lot of testimony, and there's a

         10  lot for this Committee to do.  And it's not an

         11  uncomplicated issue.  What have you been doing to

         12  prepare yourself to hopefully win this franchise?

         13  In terms of your technology, in terms of  --  even

         14  though you have the level playing field, as to what

         15  programs and amenities that will come in that are

         16  useful and good and not frivolous stuff, that I'm

         17  implying.  Okay Because we don't ask that.  So what

         18  have you been doing to prepare yourself?

         19                 MR. DUNNE: Council Member, we have

         20  spent over $230 million in the City of New York, in

         21  rolling out a new product, the FTTP, the Fiber to

         22  the Premises.  It's broadband, and you know, we're

         23  out in Queens, Staten Island, parts of Manhattan.

         24  We're you know, going to the whole City with this

         25  product.  So at this point in time, we can provide
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          2  voice, and we can provide data without a franchise.

          3  And we're doing that.  We're improving our

          4  technological network, our infrastructure.

          5                 This is a historic opportunity for

          6  our company to basically retire and work on the

          7  copper network and to put in broadband.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Do you have an

          9  approximate timeframe when you would completing your

         10  infrastructure?  For a time period that  --

         11                 MR. DUNNE: No, I do not at this

         12  moment.  No.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So it may be

         14   --

         15                 MR. DUNNE: There are many factors to

         16  take into account.  You know  --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So then, as

         18  much as you wish to do the entire City, it may take

         19  you some time in order to do that.

         20                 MR. DUNNE: Oh yes, it will.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay.  That's

         22  what I was really asking.  And what does fiber

         23  optics do for you?  And I'm not being naive about

         24  it, I know it's glass.  And what advantages does

         25  fiber optics have to the City?  And to subscribers?
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          2  That copper does not provide at this moment?

          3                 MR. DUNNE: It's a very high- speed

          4  system that provides Internet access, crystal clear

          5  voice to constituents, to small businesses.  It

          6  would allow a small business, for instance, to be

          7  able to do business on the Internet.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Yes.  Can you

          9  repeat that?

         10                 MR. DUNNE: Sure.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Thanks.

         12                 MR. DUNNE: High- speed broadband

         13  would give you crystal clear voice, and very fast

         14  speeds on the Internet, and it would help small

         15  businesses to be able to buy over the Internet, get

         16  information over the Internet instead of going and

         17  traveling to buy those products.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: So in the plan

         19  that you have for the City, have you been, in your

         20  target areas  -- because you have to start somewhere

         21  and pull it all together  --  are you looking at the

         22  City globally and targeting in different ways?  Or

         23  are you picking very specific regions and starting

         24  there?  And I think probably that relates to some of

         25  the issues that I think Councilman Jackson may have
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          2  raised earlier with other testimony.

          3                 MR. DUNNE: With regards to our

          4  buildout and our system, we build out by central

          5  office.  You know, we've been here you know, for 75

          6  some odd years, so we build out by central office

          7  first.  There are many factors that we would look

          8  at, and when we build out in a particular area.  One

          9  of the factors would be ease of implementation of

         10  putting the system out.  Is most of our plant out on

         11  the streets?  Is most of the plant underground?  How

         12  much fiber is in the network already?  There are a

         13  multitude of decisions that go into where we build.

         14                 By the way, race is not one of those

         15  things that are decided upon.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: I know, you

         17  kind of heard that, or the economic stability of

         18  various communities.  So how do you look at that?

         19  Obviously, we have to look at profitability, and

         20  that's not a nasty word.  It's a very important

         21  word.  So how do you look at the regions that are

         22  not as profitable as others?  Are they   --  in what

         23  stages are they included?  And that's not a

         24  discriminatory thing.  We're talking about how you

         25  reach them, the economic feasibility, and how do you
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          2  address having an equal and a fair playing field for

          3  those people that do want those services, and may

          4  not have quite the income that other areas do?  So

          5  we're talking about the fairness to those

          6  subscribers.  Potential subscribers.

          7                 MR. DUNNE: As I said earlier, when we

          8  roll out, we don't roll out by a particular

          9  geographical area.  We roll out by a central office,

         10  which may take in many different communities.  So

         11  that's how we roll out.  And for instance, the

         12  rollout in Queens, we're out in Laurelton, we're out

         13  in Rosedale, we're out in Arverne, we're out in the

         14  Rockaways.  In Manhattan, East Harlem, Lower

         15  Manhattan.  In Staten Island, all of Staten Island,

         16  including the north end.  You know, it's rolled out

         17  by central office and the biggest concern we have is

         18  ease of implementation.  How do we get there?   How

         19  can we roll it out?  What is the most cost-

         20  effective product?   And how much fiber we have in

         21  the systems where we're going.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: How would you

         23  address the issue that has been raised this morning

         24  as it relates to the level playing field, in terms

         25  of what other providers have been doing, and that
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          2  the rules are for everybody and not  --  I use the

          3  word piggyback on the efforts that have been done

          4  earlier.

          5                 MR. DUNNE: Council Member, I'd like

          6  to refer the level of playing field concept to co-

          7  counsel.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay.

          9                 MR. PINKARD: I think the Subcommittee

         10  has characterized the level playing field issue

         11  quite accurately.  The PSC takes into account

         12  economic and regulatory burdens taken as a whole.

         13  And so, while the incumbents often argue that it

         14  should be a term- for- term comparison, it really is

         15  a matter of evaluating the totality of two

         16  agreements.  And determining whether or not it

         17  places one provider or another at a material

         18  economic  --  a material competitive disadvantage.

         19  So you would look at two agreements, and take into

         20  account whether or not one, the core interests of

         21  the City are protected, and two, whether or not it

         22  would place one company or another at a

         23  disadvantage.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS: Okay.  Thank

         25  you very much. You've cleared up a few things for
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          2  me, and I just have to comment that on the $10

          3  billion profit, that it was stated that Verizon has

          4  made, you are doing things that are right.  That's

          5  what I have to think.  Thank you very much.

          6                 MR. DUNNE: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

          8  Rivera.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Thank you very

         10  much Mr. Chairman.  Thank you for being here Mr.

         11  Dunne, and to all the other advisors and associates

         12  here today.  I just have a couple of questions that

         13  I just want to get clarity on.

         14                 Your business model is different from

         15  the business models followed by Cablevision and Time

         16  Warner, about they have franchises in specific

         17  locations.  You're actually looking to provide the

         18  service in all boroughs.  Is that correct?

         19                 MR. DUNNE: That's correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Now what is

         21  your timeline for 100 percent completion of

         22  Citywide?  Is that your intended goal, eventually

         23   --

         24                 MR. DUNNE: Mr. Trane is negotiating

         25  that.
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          2                 MR. TRANE: Obviously, the buildout

          3  again, is in negotiations with the Administration.

          4  I'm sure we'll have some interesting conversations

          5  with them in terms of the buildout.  As was

          6  indicated earlier, the cable industry had years to

          7  build out their systems.  We want to bring

          8  competition as quickly as possible.  And I'm sure

          9  that will be reflected in the negotiations with the

         10  City.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Okay.  Just

         12  also wanted to find out, in terms of  --  I know in

         13  your statement, Mr. Dunne, you mentioned support for

         14  the PEGs.  You know, within the City of New York.

         15  Now you didn't mention what level of support.  Is it

         16  going to be the same level of support that you know,

         17  is already currently in existence?  Or is it going

         18  to be a different structure?

         19                 MR. DUNNE: Council Member, I'd like

         20  to refer that to Marie Lasota.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Okay.

         22                 MR. DUNNE: Thank you.

         23                 MS. LASOTA: Councilman, we would, in

         24  accordance with level playing fields requirements,

         25  and what the City has determined as the appropriate
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          2  needs for the PEG access community, and what the

          3  City thinks is appropriate, we would provide

          4  commensurate support.

          5                 Right now, what is known as the

          6  support that is needed is reflected in the existing

          7  agreements, but as I understand it, the City is in

          8  the process of assessing its needs for the future,

          9  for PEG access and we would look to meet the City's

         10  needs there as well.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: And also, for

         12  the franchise fees, I know in one of the other

         13  testimonies, they paid $65 million last year for

         14  franchise fees.  Is that something that's comparable

         15  into what Verizon would end up paying?

         16                 MR. DUNNE: Well, we would love that

         17  to be the case, but we have to get a customer first.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: You have to

         19  have the customer first.  No, that's true.  You have

         20  to make sure that the customer is in agreement.

         21                 Also just want to find out, in terms

         22  of you already have your FiOS package within certain

         23  parts of the City of New York.  It's not operating

         24  yet, though, is it?

         25                 MR. DUNNE: In Staten Island it is.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: In Staten

          3  Island it's operating.  You already provide full

          4  service package?

          5                 MR. DUNNE: No.  Just the data and the

          6  voice.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: The voice and

          8  the data. Okay.  Now in terms of price, do you have

          9  an estimated idea  -- because I know that you know,

         10  Robert Jackson brought up a very good point that

         11  some of our communities have very low median

         12  incomes. Actually, my district, actually has a

         13  $21,000 per year median income.  So price is always

         14  a factor when you're determining you know, what

         15  service you want to you know, sign up for.  Do you

         16  know what price level you're looking  --

         17                 MR. DUNNE: Yes.  We do.  Paul.

         18                 MR. TRANE: I mean generally speaking,

         19  a second entrant needs to be cheaper.  And as Mr.

         20  Dunne alluded to in his prepared testimony, where

         21  there are two wireline providers, providing cable

         22  service to the same geographic area, rates are

         23  generally 27 percent lower.  So I think in the

         24  experiences that we've seen elsewhere in New York,

         25  and around the country, prices have always gone
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          2  down.  And customer service improves for both

          3  providers.  So the winner in all of this is the

          4  consumer.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: I don't have a

          6  house phone myself, because cell phone bills are

          7  very inexpensive nowadays, but what is your average,

          8  you know, telephone bill for a household?

          9                 MR. DUNNE: I believe it's close to

         10  $40.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Okay.  And

         12  that's gone down over the years I guess.

         13                 MR. DUNNE: Yes, it has.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Okay.  So

         15  there's no more $100 phone bill.  That's not the

         16  average nowadays.

         17                 MR. DUNNE: No, it's not.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: I guess that's

         19  because of the competition, the competition has

         20  brought it down.

         21                 MR. DUNNE: Absolutely.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Okay.  And

         23  just  --  so 27 percent lower.  Now in terms of your

         24  buildout, hypothetically, if this were to take

         25  place, and you decide to start building out further,
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          2  within other parts of the City of New York, would

          3  there be any City subsidies that you'll be looking

          4  for in terms of tax abatements?

          5                 MR. DUNNE: I'm not aware of any, no.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Somebody else

          7  is aware?

          8                 MR. PINKARD: No.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Now what would

         10  create a level playing field?  I asked this earlier

         11  of Time Warner.  In your definition, what would a

         12  level playing field truly entail?

         13                 MR. DUNNE: Paul?

         14                 MR. TRANE: This issue comes up in all

         15  of the franchise areas in New York.  And as Mr.

         16  Pinkard indicated it's the law in New York that it

         17  has to be a level playing field.  And this issue has

         18  been vetted in all 12 of our franchise.  And all of

         19  them have been approved by the PSC.  As was alluded

         20  to earlier, the PSC will be the ultimate arbiter on

         21  this issue, in its willingness to confirm a

         22  franchise.  We expect to compete, and compete on a

         23  level playing field with both Time Warner,

         24  Cablevision and RCN as well.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Okay.  And
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          2  then I guess this will be my final question.  In the

          3  Bronx, we have Bronx 12, and you know, with Time

          4  Warner you have New York One.  Will Verizon be

          5  putting up its own type of news station?

          6                 MR. DUNNE: Marie?

          7                 MS. LASOTA: Verizon is looking into

          8  something along those lines.  The Time Warner

          9  Channel and the Cablevision channels are proprietary

         10  to those companies.  Obviously, we could enter a

         11  programming agreement with them, if that was

         12  something that they would be willing to do.   But we

         13  would explore the opportunities.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Okay.

         15  Consumer satisfaction is utmost of importance.  I

         16  know in business, and also in government.  We want

         17  to make sure that our constituencies are getting the

         18  best product possible.  So you can understand, and

         19  obviously every other organization here today can

         20  understand, you know, the grave concern that we have

         21  in terms of moving forward and what you know, those

         22  franchise agreements would look like in upcoming

         23  months.  So we want to thank you for being here.

         24  Obviously, we want to thank you for putting in the

         25  time.
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          2                 And you know, obviously, PEG support

          3  is key. Franchise fees are important, and equal

          4  opportunity and level playing field is very

          5  important for all of us.  So we want to thank you

          6  for being here.

          7                 MR. DUNNE: Thank you.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         10  Katz.  And then we'll have Council Member Jackson

         11  and Council Member Mealy.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you.

         13  First of all Mr. Dunne, I want to just welcome you,

         14  because we knew each other in Albany, when in my

         15  previous life, I was an Assembly Member and you were

         16  very active up there.  So it's good to deal with you

         17  on a different level of government here.

         18                 I think to a certain extent, you sort

         19  of come at a disadvantage, since you're the only one

         20  building out.  And these testimonies, from the very

         21  beginning.  And I guess because of that, perhaps the

         22  burden is a little higher in trying to achieve and

         23  trying to prove a fairness quality as you enter the

         24  market.

         25                 So I do have just a few questions for
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          2  you, if I can. First of all, the same question I

          3  asked the other providers.  Which is how do you

          4  envision answering the RFP?  Do you envision on

          5  answering it Citywide?  Or do you envision on

          6  answering it geographically?

          7                 MR. DUNNE: Paul?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: No.  I want you

          9  to answer.

         10                 MR. TRANE: Not knowing what's in the

         11  RFP, but certainly, if the opportunity is to serve

         12  the entirety of the City, I think it's Verizon's

         13  intention to do that, subject to the buildout of the

         14  City.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: What does that

         16  mean?  Subject to the build  --  what in your

         17  perspective what do you mean by that?

         18                 MR. TRANE: Meaning as the earlier

         19  questions indicated, there's a negotiation of how

         20  long it will take to build out certain areas of the

         21  City.  It's our intention to look for a Citywide

         22  franchise, subject to that buildout in negotiations

         23  with the City.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: So let's just

         25  say you get a Citywide franchise.  Just assuming
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          2  here, just for everyone else in the room.  Let's

          3  just say you get a Citywide franchise, do you have a

          4  plan for your construction and your buildout

          5  already?  I mean you must have thought about it

          6  before answering that question.

          7                 MR. TRANE: No.  What happens is, the

          8  allocation of capital is done at the conclusion of

          9  each year.  That process is ongoing now for 2007.

         10  And obviously, the commitments that we'd make in a

         11  franchise would be subject to the availability of

         12  capital and labor resources.  All those things come

         13  into consideration. But rest assured that whatever

         14  obligations we make, they'll be done with due

         15  diligence on our end, with the intention of living

         16  up to them.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And any buildout

         18    --  I know that you answered sort of this

         19  question, but just yes or no.  Any buildout would be

         20  done with union labor?

         21                 MR. TRANE: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And we all know

         23  that the details are the issue.  I mean, can you

         24  comment a little bit on the prevailing wage issue?

         25  The Chair of the Subcommittee has been very vocal
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          2  about the prevailing wage issue.  So can you just

          3  expand upon that?  I know you're using all union

          4  labor, but in the details of prevailing wage, I

          5  think it's important to talk a little bit about the

          6  formula.

          7                 MR. DUNNE: As I mentioned earlier, we

          8  comply with all local, State, and federal laws.  And

          9  the Comptroller is very active in the prevailing

         10  wage.  And I checked before I came today. We do not

         11  have any issues with regards to that prevailing

         12  wage.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I appreciate

         14  that historically, the last few weeks, that you've

         15  been in discussions and I know we're going to hear

         16  from the unions later.  So I'll look forward to that

         17  testimony as well.

         18                 Can you comment a little bit  --  I

         19  know you talked a little bit about the level playing

         20  field.  This is my question. And this is the same

         21  issue I brought up to Cablevision, and I think Time

         22  Warner.  If we're trying to promote competition, and

         23  everybody is going for their renewal of their

         24  already agreements, I guess my question is, what's

         25  your perspective on the promotion of competition?
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          2  And I guess with that, the level playing field.  Do

          3  you have any details that you've thought of, as far

          4  as how you think you can meet the regulatory and

          5  economic burden of the other companies, since many

          6  of the things that you might want to do might be

          7  duplicated?  I mean I don't know how many base

          8  stations we might need.  I don't know how you've

          9  thought of that.

         10                 And I guess the other issue is  --

         11  look, I have Time Warner, in the interest of

         12  disclosure.  I like Time Warner. I don't know what

         13  it would take for me to switch from that.  And I

         14  guess my question is, if everybody has a level

         15  playing field, I'd like to know just some of your

         16  thoughts on how that proceeds.

         17                 MR. DUNNE: Brendan?

         18                 MR. PINKARD: I think from a level

         19  playing field perspective, you noted, we do start at

         20  a disadvantage for a new entrant.  We have no

         21  customers.  The incumbents have all the customers.

         22  So you know, we need to come in at a price point

         23  that's competitive.  And we're also building the

         24  only network of its kind in North America.  And that

         25  helps us tremendously to get folks like your
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          2  attention when you want to switch, or you're

          3  interested in switching.  The availability of that

          4  one- of- a- kind network is an important element.

          5                 Certainly, the scale and scope of

          6  that network is critical for the future of Verizon.

          7  I think that's why Verizon wants to build out here

          8  and elsewhere, because it's really banking on this

          9  network to be the future of this company.

         10                 There is competition in the landline

         11  telephone service, in the data services.  Two

         12  companies that came before you provide those

         13  services as well as video.  And so Verizon wants to

         14  position itself to be able to provide voice, video,

         15  and data in a competitive marketplace.

         16                 MR. DUNNE: It's important to note

         17  that the cable companies can come into our business

         18  totally  --  to telecommunications business  --

         19  totally unimpeded.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I'm sorry, what?

         21                 MR. DUNNE: Unimpeded.  No regulatory

         22  burden for them in coming into our business.  And

         23  they're very aggressive and very active in taking

         24  telephone customers away from us, with their triple

         25  play.  And I keep on raising the level playing field
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          2  argument as if it's a barrier to entry.  The level

          3  of playing field argument, by the Public Service

          4  Commission, when they put those rules into place,

          5  was to make it easier for new entrants to come into

          6  the market.  You know, you heard testimony today

          7  from Cablevision.  And you've heard testimony from

          8  Time Warner.  And everyone's for choice and

          9  competition.  But just not right now.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Right.  But I'm

         11  assuming that DoITT you know, and the City agencies

         12  are just as smart as we are, and they understand

         13  that you have no customers yet.  And they also

         14  understand that a level playing field has to be

         15  perspective you know, perspective of one another

         16  when you enter the field.  So I guess what I'd like

         17  to know over the next few days, and maybe you can

         18  give it to the Chairman, and he can disseminate it,

         19  is your thoughts on  --  and maybe it's not detailed

         20  yet  --  on what would be fair in your views, as far

         21  as how to make a level playing field, taking into

         22  account that you have no customers.  Taking into

         23  account that you're just entering the field.  So if

         24  you can perhaps do that in the next few days, I'd be

         25  interested in seeing that.
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          2                 MR. DUNNE: Yes, we can do that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay.  The other

          4  issue that you and I have discussed, and I'm very

          5  curious about, is the technology advancements.  And

          6  my understanding, and I guess this goes to the

          7  buildout, is that it's more cost effective to go

          8  into certain types of areas  --  single family

          9  homes, duplexes, than it is to go into larger

         10  apartment buildings.  And if I'm wrong, please

         11  correct me. So I guess the question becomes  --  and

         12  we've talked about this  --  is the technology

         13  advances that you have on the FiOS.  My

         14  understanding is the boxes are very large in the

         15  apartments, and it may be a hinderance for some

         16  apartment dwellers to order your service.  And I

         17  guess my question is,   --  my understanding is, you

         18  can make them smaller, and you're working on it.

         19  And I just thought you might want to discuss that.

         20  And my concern clearly is that if you don't become

         21  experts in that yet, what happens if you get the

         22  contract and you're not able to fulfill those

         23  services in terms of buildout.

         24                 MR. DUNNE: Well, with regard to

         25  multiple dwelling units, the do present a challenge.
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          2    The biggest challenge is getting the permission

          3  from the landlord to get into the building. And that

          4  is a challenge.  We're right now, at this point in

          5  time, meeting with the New York City Housing

          6  Authority to get into the buildings on Staten Island

          7  to give the FiOS service, make it available to the

          8  customers there.

          9                 Some of the other issues with regards

         10  to multiple dwelling units is every building is

         11  different.  The architecture is different.  How many

         12  floors are there?  How many apartments per floor?

         13  Where is the existing cable in the building?  Can we

         14  create a path similar to the cable path that's

         15  already in that building? But the biggest obstacle

         16  is getting permission from the landlord to enter the

         17  building.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: It's a perfect

         19  world. We have permission by every landlord to go in

         20  for every company.  So my question is really the

         21  same still.  And I know we talked about it, and I

         22  would like to just you know, expand upon it on the

         23  record, as far as my concern, and one of the

         24  concerns of a lot of folks, is that if you get these

         25  contracts, and it's cost prohibitive to go into the
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          2  apartment buildings, number one, do you think it

          3  would be cost prohibitive?

          4                 MR. DUNNE: No. And I'll respond to

          5  that.  And I'm glad you gave me this opportunity.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Always happy to

          7  serve.

          8                 MR. DUNNE: Thank you Council Member.

          9  The action is in the apartment buildings.  All

         10  right?  That's where the people are, that's where

         11  the customers are, that's where we want to be. And

         12  we're going to get there.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Okay.  We'll

         14  have further discussions.  I do thank you  --

         15                 MR. DUNNE: It's not cost prohibitive

         16  to go into those buildings.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: It's not cost

         18  prohibitive to go into the buildings.

         19                 MR. DUNNE: It's not.  When you're

         20  rolling out the cable out on the street and the

         21  pole, if you pass an apartment building that has 400

         22  units, it's the same amount of space that you've

         23  gone through on the street.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Right.  But in

         25  an apartment, if I have an apartment instead of a
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          2  private home, and I have these four- foot by two-

          3  feet boxes that are going to have to go into my

          4  building I may not want to  --

          5                 MR. DUNNE: Then the customer has the

          6  right to choose.  That's the opportunity that we're

          7  trying to bring to the City and the residents the

          8  opportunity to choice.  They may want it.  They may

          9  not want it.  They have the opportunity to reject

         10  it. All right?  And if we know that's going to

         11  happen, the architecture --  we're working on it

         12  right now.  Those boxes will be smaller.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: And in the

         14  meantime, you're working on advances to make it more

         15     --

         16                 MR. DUNNE: Yes we are.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: -- Smaller and

         18  desirable.

         19                 MR. DUNNE: Absolutely.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you.

         21                 MR. DUNNE: Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         23  Jackson.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you,

         25  Mr. Chair.  Good afternoon.  It's now transition
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          2  from morning to afternoon.

          3                 MR. DUNNE: Thank you.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And you know,

          5  I'm sorry.  I may have gone to the rest room while

          6  you were doing introductions. But other individuals

          7  spoke in responding to questions, and I personally

          8  would like to know you know, what's their positions

          9  within Verizon.  I understand that you're the Vice

         10  President of Government Affairs.  Could you just

         11  introduce them and their titles if you don't mind?

         12                 MR. DUNNE: Paul, could you introduce

         13  yourself?

         14                 MR. TRANE: Yes.  My name is Paul

         15  Trane, and I'm the lead outside consultant for

         16  Verizon on the video franchising effort.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         18                 MR. DUNNE: Marie.

         19                 MS. LASOTA: I'm Marie Lasota,

         20  Assistant General Counsel with Verizon's Legal

         21  Department.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         23                 MR. PINKARD: Brendan Pinkard, outside

         24  counsel with Wiley Rein and Fielding.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  You
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          2  may have sat here earlier and listened to the

          3  questions that I've put forward to Cablevison and to

          4  the Time Warner, with respects to the type of income

          5  that the people that I represent, Joel Rivera, and

          6  my colleagues said his constituents to average $21-

          7  $22,000.  Mine about $32- $33,000.  For a family,

          8  that's not a whole lot of money. And I'm concerned

          9  about the fact that whoever comes in will be able to

         10  service all communities.  And I heard you say that

         11  in your testimony, that you know, that if, in fact

         12  you are awarded a contract, that Verizon would

         13  service all communities of the City of New York.  Is

         14  that correct?

         15                 MR. DUNNE: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  And

         17  now right now, -  I'm a lay person, I'm a

         18  legislator, so I don't know all of the details of

         19  what you guys are going through, and all of your

         20  competitors and what have you.  Quite frankly, I

         21  don't really care to know.  But I'm concerned about

         22  the fact that you said in your testimony that when

         23  you enter into an agreement with the City of New

         24  York, so you anticipate that you will enter an

         25  agreement with the City of New York concerning
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          2  breaking into what you call a monopoly.  Is that

          3  correct?

          4                 MR. DUNNE: That is correct.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  And I

          6  heard you say in your  testimony that your response,

          7  meaning Verizon's response, will be Citywide.  You

          8  will not cherry- pick and say we're only going to go

          9  into Manhattan, or we're only going to do Staten

         10  Island.  Or only the Bronx, or only to Brooklyn, or

         11  only to Queens. Is that correct?

         12                 MR. DUNNE: Correct.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  And I

         14  think Paul may have responded to this, to --

         15                 MR. DUNNE: MR. Jackson  --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes.

         17                 MR. DUNNE: With regards to the cherry

         18  picking allegation, it's one that the company is

         19  very, very sensitive to. Allegations have been made

         20  in Westchester, have proven to be false.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Proven to be

         22  false.

         23                 MR. DUNNE: Yes.  And editorials have

         24  been written about that.  Allegations have been made

         25  in Hempstead, where one company actually came up
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          2  with false and misleading maps.  And an editorial

          3  was written in Newsday with regards to race, and

          4  saying that they should not raise the ugly head of

          5  racism when there's no truth to that allegation.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  Now,

          7  you said to me regarding those allegations.  And

          8  I've heard those allegations.

          9                 MR. DUNNE: I know you have.  Because

         10  you wouldn't have brought up that question.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I've heard

         12  the allegations. And you said they were proven to be

         13  false.  Have you submitted anything in your packet

         14  in response to the allegations that have been

         15  raised?

         16                 MR. DUNNE: The two editorials that

         17  we've been referring to, I believe are in the

         18  package.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         20                 MR. DUNNE: If they're not, I will

         21  make sure every Member of the Council gets it.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And if I need

         23  additional information other than the editorials,

         24  because editorials are not --  you know, those are

         25  just opinions, you know that.
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          2                 MR. DUNNE: No.  Editorials are

          3  opinions.  But with regards to the journal news

          4  article in Westchester, they did their own socio-

          5  economic study as to where we were rolling out in

          6  the county, and they said that Verizon was rolling

          7  out not only to the affluent, but also to the poor

          8  areas.  We're in Mount Vernon, we're in New

          9  Rochelle, we're in Port Chester.  And then they

         10  wrote the editorial after they proved the allegation

         11  to be false.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Because Mr.

         13  Dunne, I've had editorials written about me, in

         14  which I totally disagreed with.

         15                 MR. DUNNE: I think I've read a

         16  couple.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So but  --

         18  okay, well I'm glad you responded to that, because

         19  that's important, because I know that I've heard

         20  about that, and I'm sure that my colleagues have

         21  heard about that.  And I will look through the

         22  packets to see if those articles are in there, and

         23  if I feel I need something else, then I will ask --

         24                 MR. DUNNE: I will be available 24/7.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Good.  Now
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          2  Verizon in New York City.  Verizon is located not

          3  only in New York City, but in New York State and

          4  different other parts of the country, is that

          5  correct?

          6                 MR. DUNNE: Yes sir.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  Let me

          8  talk about New York City.  What services do you

          9  currently provide in New York City?  Verizon.

         10                 MR. DUNNE: We provide telephone

         11  service.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Go ahead.

         13  Anything else?

         14                 MR. DUNNE: Data service.  And we're

         15  trying to get into the video market.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. And how

         17  many employees do you employ in New York City?

         18                 MR. DUNNE: Thirteen thousand.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Are they

         20  unionized or non unionized?

         21                 MR. DUNNE: The vast majority are

         22  unionized.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: What aspects

         24  are not unionized?

         25                 MR. DUNNE: The management.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  And do

          3  you have statistics as far as diversity of that

          4  approximately 13,000 that you referred to, that are

          5  unionized?

          6                 MR. DUNNE: I have statistics for the

          7  whole country --  and I can get it broken down  --

          8  right here for me for the whole country.  And I have

          9  statistics with me today.  With regards to

         10  diversity, Council Member Jackson, diversity is not

         11  a concept at Verizon.  It's a way of life.  The

         12  company is committed to diversity.  You've asked

         13  earlier, before, does anyone participate in the

         14  Principal for the Day.  Yes, we do.  The chairman of

         15  our company, Irving Seidenberg has participated in

         16  Principal for the Day.  And he served that

         17  particular day with Larry Seabrook, a Council

         18  Member.  And I'd like also to read to you some of

         19  the awards that Verizon has received, and honors, in

         20  recognition of our diversity.

         21                 Verizon is the number one U.S.

         22  Company for diversity, says Diversity, Inc.

         23  Magazine.  The top 40 best companies for diversity,

         24  Black Enterprise Magazine.  Top company for African-

         25  American MBAs to work, Black MBS Magazine.   One of
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          2  the 2006 best companies for women of color, says

          3  Working Mother Magazine.  Top 35 great places to

          4  work for African- American women, says Essence

          5  Magazine.  Top five companies for Hispanics, says

          6  Hispanic Business Magazine.  Top 13 companies for

          7  Hispanic women, says Latino Style Magazine.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So have you

          9  submitted that as part of your package?

         10                 MR. DUNNE: Yes, it's part of the

         11  packages.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  Good.

         13  So can you supply the Chair of the Committee and

         14  copy me what your diversity factors are for New York

         15  City.  Because you said you employed about 13,000.

         16  So would you be able  --  would you supply  --

         17                 MR. DUNNE: Absolutely.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And the same

         19   --

         20                 MR. DUNNE: I'll add this to the

         21  record for the entire company.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: The same

         23  questions that I've asked of the other ones, to

         24  supply, I ask you the same thing.  You know, when I

         25  was speaking to them, I was really speaking to not
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          2  only them, but to everyone that was going to come in

          3  front.

          4                 Let me as a question as far as the

          5  buildout. Because you heard Cablevision talked about

          6  when they first entered the market, around 1983 I

          7  believe, it said it took about six years to build

          8  out.  Now obviously, '83, this is now 2006, 23 years

          9  later, technology and what have you.

         10                 MR. DUNNE: I think that's revisionist

         11  history.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DUNNE: Well,

         13                 MR. DUNNE: I think if you take a look

         14  at the record, it's taken them much longer, like

         15  closer to 20 years.  And you know that parts of

         16  Brooklyn are still not built out.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well they've

         18  said that they've built out all of the areas of

         19  their franchise.  Now you indicated that you know

         20  that they don't have parts of Brooklyn. You know

         21  that, right?

         22                 MR. DUNNE: Parts of Brooklyn are

         23  still not  --  I believe Kensington.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Right.  But

         25  is that within their franchise?
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          2                 MR. DUNNE: I don't know the answer to

          3  that particular question.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well, because

          5    --

          6                 MR. DUNNE: It's either Time Warner or

          7  Cablevision. Cablevision has two- thirds of Kings

          8  County.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Right.  But

         10  you know that they're not going to build out in an

         11  area that they don't have a franchise with.  That

         12  would be against their contract.  Wouldn't you agree

         13  with that?  If that was the case.

         14                 MR. DUNNE: Well we're talking about

         15  competition.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I'm not

         17  talking about  --

         18                 MR. DUNNE: If there's a franchise

         19  agreement, they will not build outside the

         20  contracted area.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Right.  And

         22  so you raise the issue of Brooklyn, and you raise

         23  one specific, I guess, location or municipality, and

         24  your response to that is you don't know whether or

         25  not that's within their contract franchise.  But you
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          2  raise the issue of that there's parts of Brooklyn

          3  that have not been built out.  And I'm asking you,

          4  do you know if there's any parts of Brooklyn that

          5  are part of Cablevision, or whatever other cable

          6  company has any of that, that have not been built

          7  out?

          8                 MR. DUNNE: Not to my knowledge.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  So

         10  that's what I thought, and I thought your answer

         11  would be that.  Because I asked them, and they said

         12  that they have built out the entire area of their

         13  franchise.

         14                 But my question I guess to you or to

         15  Paul is, with respects to  --  what is your

         16  anticipated time to build out?  Let's assume you got

         17  a Citywide contract.  Is it going to take

         18  approximately a year?  Is it going to take five

         19  years?  Is it going to take ten years?  Because the

         20  contracts from Cablevision and I think Time Warner

         21  is about as 10 or 12- year contract.  My

         22  understanding is.  And that I assume, correct me if

         23  I'm wrong, that if the City provides a franchise to

         24  Verizon, that will be for a similar period, because

         25  that's what the period of contracts are, about 10-
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          2  12 years.  Is that correct?  Help me out here.

          3                 MR. DUNNE: That's correct.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  So I'm

          5  sure that you have anticipated or factored out how

          6  long it would take you to build out the City of New

          7  York.  What is your estimated timeframe on how long

          8  it would take to build out New York City?  Is it a

          9  year?  Five years?  Seven years of the 10- year

         10  contract?  Or what?

         11                 MR. TRANE: I don't think we've looked

         12  at it in that level of detail.  It is certainly a

         13  multi- year, multi- billion dollar effort.  And it's

         14  important to remember that currently, there are 65

         15  wire centers, our central offices that serve all of

         16  New York City.  We're serving all of the residents

         17  now, through those wire centers.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: You mean as

         19  far as telephone and data.  Is that correct?

         20                 MR. TRANE: Correct.  So we

         21  anticipate, over a negotiated period of time,

         22  upgrading those facilities so that they would be

         23  video- capable.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: In order to

         25  service, if you get the contract for the entire
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          2  City, that would be servicing the entire City.  Is

          3  that correct?

          4                 MR. TRANE: Correct.  Over a

          5  negotiated time.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Because  --

          7  let me go back to my concern.  My concern is that

          8  you know, the people that I represent, I don't want

          9  them to be the last one on the block to get cable in

         10  the City of New York.  Or especially, as Joel Rivera

         11  said, the areas that have the least amount of monies

         12  in order to spend for cable overall, you know, just

         13  from a economic point of view, I would want to see a

         14  system where the buildout is not discriminatory

         15  based on income in essence.  Can you comment on

         16  that?

         17                 MR. TRANE: That will, in fact, be the

         18  case.  And we don't redline, as Mr. Dunne alluded to

         19  earlier.  We expect to build out in all areas.  And

         20  to be honest with you, many areas where the income

         21  may be lower, often time, the cable TV rate and the

         22  percentage of packages that they take and the amount

         23  of money that they spend on cable is often higher in

         24  those areas.  So we have no incentive to not build

         25  there.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  And I

          3  read your testimony that you feel that by entering

          4  into the cable business here, that will reduce

          5  rates.  You heard me talk about cable bills and

          6  whether or not as a result of all of this that we're

          7  going through, whether or not you the average

          8  consumer is going to see a reduction.  And what I

          9  heard from your testimony Mr. Dunne, that your

         10  expectation is that if Verizon has a contract, that

         11  the rates will go down, based on statistics that you

         12  have experienced, that your company has experienced

         13  around the country.  Is that correct?

         14                 MR. DUNNE: That is correct,

         15  Councilman Jackson.  And I also  --  and we also

         16  have included those two studies.  The FCC study and

         17  the Bank of America study in the packet.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Now with

         19  respects to employees, you heard me raise the

         20  question to Time Warner with respects to what union

         21  represents the 13,000 members that you  --

         22                 MR. DUNNE: The Communication Workers

         23  of America.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: CWA?

         25                 MR. DUNNE: Yes sir.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: What local is

          3  that?  1180? Or 11 what?  Do you know the local

          4  number?

          5                 MR. DUNNE: No.  Bob, are you here?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  CWA.

          7                 MR. DUNNE: Communication Workers of

          8  America.  Bob Masters will be testifying later.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  With

         10  respect  -- yes, I know Bob.  With respects to

         11  contractors.  Is all the work that's being performed

         12  in New York City, or that will be performed in New

         13  York City, will it be done by unionized employees?

         14                 MR. DUNNE: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  And

         16  will those unionized employees  --  I know you

         17  referred to local, State, and federal laws and what

         18  have you and so forth, but let me ask more

         19  specifically, will those employees be paid

         20  prevailing wage in New York City, whether or not

         21  those employees come from Pennsylvania, or Virginia,

         22  or from Georgia, or from California.  Will they be

         23  paid prevailing wage in New York City?

         24                 And the reason  --  let me as you  --

         25    let me tell you why I ask that question.  Because
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          2  going back to what Eric Gioia said, my colleague,

          3  that we, in the City Council represent people in New

          4  York City.  And I'm concerned about New York City

          5  residents. I'll let the legislators in Virginia and

          6  Georgia worry about employees down there.  I'm not

          7  the president of the United States, so I don't have

          8  to worry about that.  Not yet.  But I have to worry

          9  about the people in New York City.  And so I'm

         10  concerned about that, because quite frankly, I've

         11  asked my Legislative Director, Joe McInerny

         12  (phonetic)  and you've seen him come up and talk to

         13  me from time to time.  I want to know what the

         14  unions are talking about.  I want to know what the

         15  employees are talking about.  I want to know what

         16  the Manhattan Neighborhood Network, you know, the

         17  free access channel.  I want to know what they're

         18  talking about. Because I want to be able to, as a

         19  legislator, in making a decision here in this Zoning

         20  Subcommittee, in the Land Use Committee, in the full

         21  Council.  I want to make the best decisions that

         22  impacts the people that I represent.

         23                 So I raise that question, as far as

         24  contractors that you may hire even though they may

         25  be union employees, are they being paid the
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          2  prevailing wage of New York City?

          3                 MR. DUNNE: Where it is required we

          4  pay the prevailing wage.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Where it's

          6  required.

          7                 MR. DUNNE: When you open up the City

          8  street, and get a permit.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         10                 MR. DUNNE: Prevailing wage deals with

         11  the opening up of the City streets and getting the

         12  permit.  And we pay the prevailing wage.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I thought

         14  prevailing wage is the wage of the industry of

         15  whatever it is that's set by the Comptroller of New

         16  York City, whether or not you have to open up a

         17  street or not.

         18                 MR. DUNNE: The prevailing wage  --

         19  with regard Mr. Jackson, to prevailing wage, we are

         20  in full compliance with that. We have no issues with

         21  Comptroller.  I checked before we came in.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  Well

         23  I've heard your response.  And let me just say this

         24  to you.  That I've heard from union people, union

         25  people, that they do not want  --  whether it's
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          2  Verizon, or Cablevision, or Time Warner, or whoever

          3  else is coming in here  --  to say that they're

          4  bringing in union employees and paying union wages,

          5  and going by all of the local, state, and federal

          6  laws, and bringing in employees somewhere else,

          7  where the prevailing wage is let's say $30 an hour

          8  in New York City, and paying them the prevailing

          9  wage of wherever they come from, which may be $20.

         10  And in essence, what that means for the people of

         11  New York City, is that they're not working.  And I'm

         12  concerned about the people in New York City working,

         13  and not really concerned about the employees from

         14  Georgia or Alabama or Chicago, or wherever they're

         15  coming from.  That's where I'm coming from.  And I

         16  want you to clearly understand that.  And I'm not

         17  only talking to you, even though you're sitting here

         18  right now.  I'm talking to Cablevision, and Verizon,

         19  and whoever else is out there doing that.  Do you

         20  understand?

         21                 MR. DUNNE: Yes sir.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         23                 Just to make sure, I'll look at the

         24  other questions, because I said I want to try to ask

         25  the same questions to all of you.  And by the way, I
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          2  said to you I have Time Warner Cable, I have Verizon

          3  as far as my telephone.  And also as far as my cell

          4  phone.  And I guess if Cablevision was in Manhattan,

          5  I'd probably have Cablevision too.

          6                 But let me just say  --  I'm sorry

          7  Mr. Chair, but we talked about competition.  I know

          8  that for example, Con Edison  -- I'm a Con Edison

          9  customer.  But I receive mail that you know, I can

         10  go and find another provider, other than Con Edison.

         11    And even Con Edison advises you of that when they

         12  send you the bill.  But quite frankly, you know, who

         13  has the time to investigate that and wind up saving

         14  three cents a kilowatt and what have you and so

         15  forth? People don't have the time for that stuff.

         16  Quite frankly.  You know what I mean?  I know I

         17  don't.  And I have a college degree. So I'm still

         18  with Con Edison.  For whatever it's worth.  And so,

         19  I just hope that we're not pinching pennies here,

         20  and where my constituents would have to be able to

         21  read a 50- page manual to determine whether or not

         22  they're going to save fifty cents.  Do you know what

         23  I mean?

         24                 MR. DUNNE: Yes sir.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I think that
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          2   --  I say that because quite frankly, sometimes,

          3  really that's what it's about. You have to go

          4  through so many hoops to determine whether or not

          5  you're getting a discount, and whether or not you're

          6  going to save money.  And most people don't have the

          7  time to do that.

          8                 I'm sorry Mr. Chair.  Let me just

          9  look here and I'll wrap up.  Okay.  Give me one

         10  second.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I want to remind

         12  my colleague and the rest of the Committee Members

         13  because I still have other people that want to ask

         14  question.  We have over 60 people who would like to

         15  speak.  And as you want to hear from the unions, so

         16  do I, and there are other people here we would like

         17  to hear from  --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes sir.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: So if we could

         20  start to wrap up --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I'll be

         22  finished in one minute.

         23                 Would you please submit to  --  you

         24  talked about your president, Principal for a Day and

         25  other things.  Can you please submit to the Chair, a
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          2  list of community benefits that Verizon has provided

          3    --  I know that you're not in the cable business,

          4  but you're in the telephone business, and you're in

          5  the data business in New York City.  Can you please

          6  submit a list  -- and you're the Vice President of

          7  Government Affairs  --  a list of what type of

          8  community benefits that Verizon has  --

          9                 MR. DUNNE: Yes.  We will do that, and

         10  I'd just like to let you know, that right off the

         11  top of my head, we've adopted PS 154 in Harlem.  And

         12  Verizon's Education and Technology Center on 125th

         13  Street is used by the community to you know, teach

         14  people how to use computers, how to get online.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Very good.

         16  I'll go and check it out myself.

         17                 MR. DUNNE: We've been doing that for

         18  years.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I'll go and

         20  check it out.

         21  I want to thank you for coming in and I just hope

         22  that with respects to the level playing field, I've

         23  heard you and I've heard the other people, and you

         24  know, time will tell.

         25                 But let me as this last question.  If
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          2  you had your way  --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Rob  --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: If you had

          5  your way, what would you like to see  --  what are

          6  the one or two or three points that you would like

          7  to see in the RFP?

          8                 MR. TRANE: We expect the RFP to be

          9  done in a very professional manner.  And I know in

         10  our brief discussions with DoITT,  --  and they

         11  understand our position, having no customers in the

         12  video market, they understand that's something that

         13  they're sensitive to, and we expect that the RFP

         14  will be fair for all of the providers as well.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA:   --  And then

         16  Council Member Felder, and then Council Member  --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Thank you

         18  Mr. Chair.  I just want to focus a little bit  --

         19  you may have answered this question already, but in

         20  terms of infrastructure and Verizon.  In many of our

         21  communities  --  I know in my district, the one I

         22  represent, the Tenth in Washington Heights, Inwood,

         23  and Marble Hill, I not only have Verizon very

         24  present and visible in my district, but I also have

         25  Time Warner.  When we speak about Verizon now doing
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          2  cable, what does that mean in terms of the property

          3  that Verizon currently occupies in many of our

          4  communities?  Does that mean that now we're going to

          5  have huge antennas in the middle of our communities,

          6  such as the way that Time Warner displaced them,

          7  where they're at now?

          8                 MR. DUNNE: Our fiber system will be

          9  right parallel to the copper system on the poles.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: No antennas.

         11

         12                 MR. DUNNE: Not to my knowledge.  I've

         13  never seen an antenna.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: And in terms

         15  of the  -- there will be no structure changes in the

         16  building that currently exists, where Verizon

         17  occupies?

         18                 MR. DUNNE: You're talking about the

         19  central offices?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Not  --

         21  well, I don't know if you call then central offices,

         22  because I see no movement there, because I know

         23  there's cables in there.

         24                 MR. DUNNE: In each of the central

         25  office, where you provide the service, each central
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          2  office would have to be upgraded --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: What's a

          4  central office?  So I could understand.

          5                 MR. DUNNE: It's a building that we

          6  have in different communities, and there are 59 of

          7  them.  And in that building is where all of the

          8  cable lines come, and the signals, the telephone

          9  communications are switched down from there.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: Those

         11  buildings.

         12                 MR. DUNNE: Yes sir.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: There's no

         14  structural changes with you going in to doing cable

         15  now?

         16                 MR. DUNNE: Not to the building, no.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: You'll use

         18  the infrastructure that currently exists in those

         19  buildings to take your wires out into the

         20  residential buildings.

         21                 MR. DUNNE: Correct.  But they will be

         22  fiber instead of copper.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: And in terms

         24  of a follow up, I just wanted to make that

         25  clarification in terms of no structure changes in
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          2  those buildings that exists already.

          3                 In terms of Council Member Jackson

          4  line of questioning, in terms of your community

          5  involvement in the history of the company and

          6  community involvement, I would just suggest that

          7  since you're in the communities physically, with

          8  these buildings, we need to do something about the

          9  looks of these buildings.  They look scary, they're

         10  dark.  Many of them have fences that are not very

         11  appropriate to the surrounding communities, and

         12  they've been there for years.  But nothing happens.

         13  So maybe one of the structural changes that we could

         14  probably provide is an upgrade of the looks in these

         15  buildings.  Because my particular district, I had

         16  three, now I have two.  One was sold.  And they're

         17  in the middle of the block, and there isn't any

         18  movement, because all we have there is the cable, so

         19  there are no administrative duties going on in these

         20  buildings.  But however, they're still there. Some

         21  of them are dark.  Some of them are filled with

         22  graffiti, and so forth.  And as a Verizon property,

         23  it would be of much help if we could improve the

         24  looks of these buildings.

         25                 MR. DUNNE: I would be more than
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          2  willing to go to your community with you and look at

          3  these buildings, and write up your concerns, and

          4  give them to Corporate Real Estate.  Any time.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ: I certainly

          6  welcome that.

          7  Thank you Mr. Chair.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

          9  Felder.  And then the last question will be by

         10  Council Member Brewer.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Thank you very

         12  much.  There's something that you said a bit earlier

         13  that got me very interested. You said something

         14  about revisionist history.  Do you care to explain

         15  that?  Or do you want to forget it?

         16                 MR. DUNNE: No, there were just

         17  articles that I have read in the New York Times with

         18  regard to the history of the cable rollout in the

         19  City, and it was not consistent.  I can get you

         20  those articles.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: No.  I want to

         22  know  --  I'll take the articles, but you said

         23  something about revisionist history, so what did you

         24  mean?

         25                 MR. DUNNE: By that I meant the
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          2  rollout that it took those companies more than five

          3  and a half years.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: So for

          5  example, Cablevision testified first.  Do you recall

          6  what you would consider the actual history of the

          7  rollout?

          8                 MR. DUNNE: No.  I was late here for

          9  the Cablevision testimony.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Oh.  Were any

         11  of your colleagues here for that testimony?

         12                 MR. DUNNE: Not for Cablevision.  They

         13  were here for the Q and As.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: All right.

         15  But were you here for Time and Warner?

         16                 MR. DUNNE: Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Would you say

         18  that their rollout, their statements, were accurate?

         19    Or was that also  --

         20                 MR. DUNNE: Well, it was more than

         21  five and a half years.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: So would you

         23  say that was revisionist history as well?

         24                 MR. DUNNE: That's what I was

         25  referring to.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Right.  So do

          3  you know how long that you believe was?

          4                 MR. DUNNE: Well, it's very technical,

          5  because some of these companies actually bought

          6  other companies.  In other words, they all weren't

          7  one company at one time.  They all, you know, there

          8  were other smaller cable companies that Time Warner

          9  had bought out.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: But you still

         11   --

         12                 MR. DUNNE: The articles that I have

         13  read in the New York Times indicate that it has

         14  taken more than five and a half years to build out

         15  the systems.  And that's what I was referring to.

         16  And I will get you those articles.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: Okay.  So you

         18  don't want me to bother you anymore.

         19                 MR. DUNNE: Council Member, I don't

         20  consider you a bother.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER: You made a

         22  mistake.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         24  Brewer, for the last questions.  And then we're

         25  going to be taking a five- minute break and I do
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          2  mean five minutes, and then we'll get back here for

          3  the rest of the testimony.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

          5  much Chairman. Thank you Tom Dunne, and your

          6  colleagues.

          7                 My question is, along the lines for

          8  the customer. I know you're a big company.  I think

          9  you're around 468 billion, and the City of New York

         10  is around $52 billion.  So you're big. And I

         11  certainly favor competition.  It's better for the

         12  customers, it's better for the City.  But I think

         13  nobody really knows what level playing field means,

         14  in this new world of telecommunications.

         15                 So one of the issues is customers.

         16  Right now, I believe that if one has an issue

         17  regarding franchise, which would be the cable, one

         18  calls 311.  And there's also other oversight

         19  agencies.  Public Service Commission, Federal Trade

         20  Commission, et cetera.  So how will you envision, if

         21  customers have a problem, they can be solved locally

         22  with your operators, which is often true, how will

         23  you be responding to some of these  --  I guess 311

         24  would be a new entity for you to be reporting to.

         25                 I mention this because for the
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          2  customer, it's confusing.  When you have so many

          3  different entities doing oversight, obviously, the

          4  video is a new entity for you, if this goes through,

          5  and it would, in fact, be a new entity for the

          6  customer to be cognizant of how to make reports.

          7                 So how do you envision being

          8  responsive to these entities?  And how do you

          9  envision responding to the customer who has

         10  problems?

         11                 MR. DUNNE: Paul.

         12                 MR. TRANE: Well obviously, we'll work

         13  with all the agencies that are involved with

         14  oversight and regulatory obligations of the video

         15  franchise if it's awarded to Verizon.  But an

         16  important thing to keep in mind is the one thing

         17  that's very clear.  Is when competition exists, not

         18  only do prices go down, but customer service

         19  improves for all of the companies.  Because the

         20  market place gives customers a choice.  They can

         21  essentially hang up and go somewhere else.  So the

         22  beneficiary of that competition is the customer, and

         23  customer service does improve for all of us.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right.  So

         25  right now, you only respond in terms of oversight to
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          2  the Public Service, correct? Commission?

          3                 MR. TRANE: No, in the  --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: In terms of

          5  customer.

          6                 MR. TRANE: Obviously, the Public

          7  Service Commission has a big role in the

          8  telecommunications network that Verizon has, but

          9  Verizon works cooperatively with all the City

         10  agencies that oversees the network here in New York

         11  City as well.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  The

         13  other question I have is, in terms of call centers.

         14  Some of the cable companies mentioned that they have

         15  call centers here in the City of New York. Where are

         16  your call centers?  In other words, when somebody

         17  calls to make a repair request, or has a question,

         18  where does one get directed?

         19                 MR. TRANE: Some of the facilities are

         20  here in New York.  Some of them are elsewhere around

         21  the country.  As was indicated earlier, Verizon has

         22  a nationwide footprint and serves customers in 27 or

         23  29 states around the country.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  I would

         25  just say, that as time goes on, this would be
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          2  something that I would hope, as an economic

          3  development, we would have more call centers in the

          4  City of New York.  And not elsewhere in that you

          5  are, obviously, doing a lot of business here.  I

          6  know you're national.  I know you're got other

          7  locations.  (sic)

          8                 My other question is  --  I know that

          9  this may have been covered, and you could tell me

         10  that it has  --  to me, having spent a lot of time

         11  looking at the PEGs, INet, the City's municipal

         12  cable, et cetera, looking at the schools.  Is there

         13  some  -- you've obviously, over the years I know

         14  have done a lot for our communities.  I think we're

         15  very aware of that.  But this would be a different

         16  relationship in terms of before, it was a community

         17  service, now it's part of your franchise agreement.

         18  How do you look at what you could do if there's

         19  already been a buildout in the schools, or in the

         20  public access stations?  Could you just give me one

         21  specific as to what you would do in the schools, or

         22  senior centers, or noprofits, that you think would

         23  match what has been done by the franchise agreement

         24  and the cable companies?

         25                 MR. TRANE: Yes.  Obviously, a lot of
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          2  the benefits to the facilities that you mention

          3  would be part of a negotiation. Generally speaking,

          4  we provide the same services that the incumbents do.

          5    However, if it's in the City's interest to look at

          6  alternative offerings that may have equivalent

          7  value, we would be more than willing to do that in

          8  the negotiations.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  And

         10  then just finally, in terms of  --  what was your

         11  vision since you have lots of buildout in Staten

         12  Island and you will have to be negotiating and

         13  you're upgrading your fiber optics, but negotiating

         14  with landlords in Manhattan is very different than

         15  negotiating with an individual in Staten Island.  So

         16  how do you envision that kind of discussion taking

         17  place?  What I see is a multi- unit dwelling, known

         18  as a MUD I guess in the real estate world, and they

         19  have already some service in that building.  How do

         20  you envision doing the buildout in a situation like

         21  that?  I believe it's illegal to offer owners money

         22  for moving into the building.  How do you envision

         23  participating in the real estate?  Which I think is

         24  probably going to be your biggest challenge.

         25                 MR. DUNNE: At the moment, we have
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          2  meetings with the Housing Authority, with regards to

          3  the buildings in Staten Island. And we're going to

          4  meet with the real estate industry in getting to the

          5  buildings.  You know.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So you're just

          7  going to talk to REBNY and they're going to let you

          8  into everything.

          9                 MR. DUNNE: Well, I didn't say that.

         10  But we are going to talk to REBNY.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right.  So

         12  you're going to go building by building.

         13                 MR. DUNNE: Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: All right.

         15  And I assume you know that this would be a challenge

         16  in terms of how the  --  it would be a challenge in

         17  terms of bringing the service in?  Or just a

         18  challenge in terms of negotiating with the owner?

         19  Or does it depend?

         20                 MR. DUNNE: It depends.  The owner is

         21  one, and each building, they have their own

         22  architecture.  How many floors?  How many tenants?

         23  Where are the existing cable?  Where is the

         24  equipment in the rises?  What are we going to do?

         25  You know.  So there are challenges, but we'll get

                                                            176

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  through.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And then just

          4  finally, there are other independent television

          5  channels, I think not in control by the incumbents

          6  or by you.  And I just didn't know, would they be

          7  able to travel along your fiber?

          8                 MR. DUNNE: Paul?

          9                 MR. TRANE: I'm not sure if I

         10  understand the question.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Well, I think

         12  there are independent  --  I mean, you'll obviously

         13  have access cable into the homes.  And this may be

         14  part of the franchise discussion, not necessarily

         15  applicable just to you.  But the issue is, there are

         16  for instance, there's Spanish language, Asian,

         17  different smaller carriers that are out there.  And

         18  I think they would like to be part of getting their

         19  message into homes.  So this is an open question.

         20  To be decided, whether that kind of discussion,

         21  independent television channels could be allowed or

         22  part of your fiber cable into the homes.  It may not

         23  be something that you are aware of, or want to do.

         24  But it's something that has come to our attention.

         25                 MR. DUNNE: We've negotiated with some
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          2  of those companies.  I believe one of them is going

          3  to testify today.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So you're

          5  willing to consider that.

          6                 MR. DUNNE: We're favorable  --  yes,

          7  we are.  To a very favorable conclusion.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  All

          9  right.  Thank you Mr. Chairman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you

         11  gentlemen.  We will now take a five- minute break.

         12  We will then come back and begin the rest of the

         13  hearing.  And I do mean five minutes.

         14                 A break was taken.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Okay.  Let me

         16  give the ground rules once again.  We're going to be

         17  calling up some individuals and some panels.  I know

         18  people have requested to speak along side each other

         19  in some circumstances.

         20                 We have on paper, over 60 people that

         21  wish to speak. As I always do in a situation like

         22  this, if there are people who would like to waive

         23  their time, obviously, that would be helpful. And

         24  especially if you've heard somebody go before you

         25  and they said the same thing, if when I call your

                                                            178

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  name, you want to just stand at your seat  and say,

          3  I'm in favor, or I'm opposed, or I agree with so and

          4  so, and I waive the rest of my time, that would be

          5  helpful, and we'd get to everybody.  Rest assured,

          6  anybody who wants to speak, I will be here for the

          7  entire time.

          8                 First panel  --  first person I'm

          9  going to call up is Thomas Steel, from RCN.  And

         10  what I'm going to do is, in order that this will

         11  move ahead expeditiously, because I know people have

         12  to leave  --  we've been here since 9:30 this

         13  morning  --  start to time people for three minutes.

         14    I don't cut somebody off if they go over the three

         15  minutes, but I do ask that you sort of speak to the

         16  time limit, and don't abuse the privilege.  Sir.

         17                 MR. STEEL: Thank you.  For the

         18  record, my name is Thomas Steel Jr.  I'm Vice

         19  President and Regulatory Counsel for RCN.  And with

         20  me is Pikay Rominy (phonetic) who is a Senior Vice

         21  President and General Manager here in New York City.

         22                 I will be brief.  I just want to  --

         23  we have been doing what Verizon is planning to do,

         24  and that is over- building the cable companies here,

         25  particularly Time Warner here in the City, since
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          2  1997.  We're a much smaller company.  We don't have

          3  the resources of other companies the size of Time

          4  Warner, particularly Verizon.  But we have been

          5  working hard in providing the benefits of

          6  competition to the City.  We now have nearly 100,000

          7  subscribers, primarily in Manhattan and Queens.

          8                 So largely, I'm here to introduce

          9  ourselves to the Committee, and to make sure that

         10  you understand that we support the resolution, and

         11  we look forward to working with DoITT so that we may

         12  ensure that we continue to provide competition in

         13  the City, in the land of the giants.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.  Like

         15  you said, you'd be within the time limit.

         16                 MR. STEEL: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Next speaker is

         18  Chris Shelton, from CWA.

         19                 MR. SHELTON: Good afternoon.  My name

         20  is Chris Shelton, and I'm here on behalf of the

         21  Communication Workers of America, with more than

         22  700,000 members, it is America's largest

         23  communications or media union.  As the CWA's

         24  International Vice President for District One, I

         25  represent 190,000 hard- working men and women who
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          2  belong to 327 CWA local unions in New York, New

          3  Jersey, New England, and Eastern Canada.

          4                 The workers I represent are employed

          5  in many different sectors of the economy:

          6  Telecommunications; health care; higher education;

          7  manufacturing; broadcast and cable television;

          8  commercial printing and newspapers; state, local,

          9  and county government, including more than 10,000

         10  people employed by the City of New York in a variety

         11  of capacities.  In addition to our members who work

         12  for the City of New York, 30,000 CWA members live in

         13  the City of New York, including me.  I am proud to

         14  be a long time resident of the Bronx.

         15                 I'm here today to express our union's

         16  support for Verizon's efforts to secure a new

         17  franchise to offer television services to New

         18  Yorkers.  The members of the CWA support Verizon in

         19  this franchise process for two main reasons: Because

         20  true competition benefits consumers, and because

         21  Verizon is a union employer whose employees, my

         22  members, will provide broadband TV services which

         23  will ensure New York remains the business capital of

         24  the world.

         25                 Let me begin by assuring you that our
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          2  interests on this matter are not merely parochial.

          3  The vast majority of the workers I represent do not

          4  work for Verizon.  Nevertheless, our union believes

          5  it is everyone's interest for Verizon to expand into

          6  video services.  The technological reasons behind

          7  separate franchises for video, data, and voice are

          8  clearly moot in today's telecom environment.  And,

          9  as traditional cable TV companies routinely provide

         10  voice and data services to their customers, it is

         11  clearly logical for additional voice and data

         12  company to provide video as well.

         13                 But on a more basic level, let me put

         14  it this way: Competition is good for consumers,

         15  plain and simple.  By offering consumers a choice,

         16  the City is able to encourage lower prices, more

         17  advanced technology, greater program choices, and

         18  better service.  These choices should be available

         19  to all New Yorkers and the franchise resolution

         20  considered by the Council should contain safeguards

         21  to ensure that the entire City benefits from this

         22  new competitive environment.

         23                 In order to maximize the benefits to

         24  consumers from competition, the CWA believes that

         25  any franchise awarded by the City should include
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          2  provisions:

          3                 Competition must encourage network

          4  investment.  The City should use the opportunity

          5  created by competitive franchises to encourage

          6  investment in a network infrastructure throughout

          7  New York.  This well enable City residents to take

          8  advantage of emerging technological breakthroughs in

          9  the years ahead, while simultaneously driving job

         10  growth in every segment of the industry, network,

         11  consumer care, and equipment manufacture.

         12                 Competition must promote quality

         13  universal service. Public policy has long supported

         14  universal affordable, quality telephone service to

         15  all Americans.  This ideal must keep pace with the

         16  new technologies of the 21st century.  We believe

         17  that one key benefit of Verizon's plans for FiOS TV

         18  is that it will ensure widespread access to ultra-

         19  high- speed Internet service.  Towards that end, the

         20  City should require, as part of the franchise, that

         21  all New Yorkers have affordable access to quality,

         22  high- speed Internet, video, and video services.

         23  There should be a clear timeframe for the company to

         24  complete the upgrades necessary for every

         25  neighborhood to enjoy the benefits of this service.
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          2                 Competition must be based on superior

          3  technology and service, not on low wages or abuse of

          4  labor law.  Quality service depends on skilled,

          5  career union employees.  Regulations must hold

          6  service providers to high- quality standards.  At

          7  the same time, the City should require all cable TV

          8  providers to meet area labor standards as a

          9  condition of their franchises.

         10                 But beyond the greater public

         11  interest, I'm here today because the proposal is of

         12  unique importance to Verizon workers.

         13                 Verizon's workforce in New York City

         14  is diverse, highly skilled, and most importantly

         15  from our perspective, highly unionized.  In the

         16  jurisdiction I represent, more than 46,000 Verizon

         17  workers are union members, including 31,000 who

         18  belong to the Communication Workers of America.  Our

         19  members who work for Verizon are highly- skilled

         20  professionals, who install and maintain cable,

         21  sustain the company's telecom infrastructure, and

         22  provide exceptional customer service.  Women and

         23  people of color make up a substantial component of

         24  Verizon's entire unionized workforce.

         25                 In New York, Verizon and its
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          2  predecessor companies have been unionized for nearly

          3  70 years.  While we certainly have had our fair

          4  share of differences with management during this

          5  time period, and although some disputes continue to

          6  this day, we believe that it is important to

          7  recognize that Verizon is a union employer whose

          8  market share is under sustained attack from anti-

          9  union competitors.  Accordingly, if you support

         10  unionized workers, I hope that you will support

         11  Verizon in its effort to secure a cable video

         12  franchise.

         13                 Thanks to collective bargaining,

         14  Verizon's unionized workforce enjoys good wages,

         15  health care, pensions, and job protections.  Too

         16  many cable TV companies offer few, or any of these

         17  benefits.  Instead, they seek to undermine the

         18  position of the City's largest unionized telecom

         19  provider, and lower the standard of living for

         20  working people.  Cablevision, in particular, has a

         21  shameful record of anti- union activity in this

         22  area.  They got up here and talked about level

         23  playing fields but they were talking about only in

         24  business, because it was my union that tried to

         25  recently organize people in Cablevision and they
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          2  stooped to tactics that can only be called shameful.

          3    And they sat up here today and said they were

          4  proud that their employees chose not to be union.

          5  Well, their employees chose not to be union because

          6  the company did everything they could, including

          7  captive audience meetings, video surveillance of

          8  union organizers, video surveillance of union

          9  meetings.  Everything they possibly could to

         10  intimidate their employees not to join a union.

         11                 Every day, Verizon is losing

         12  customers to these anti- union companies.  They're

         13  offered telephone service merely to build market

         14  share.  This systematic loss threatens the

         15  livelihoods of the workers I represent.

         16  Alternatively, by offering television service,

         17  Verizon will hopefully be able to stem this tide.

         18  In turn, it is our hope that the work involved will

         19  be done by union workers.

         20                 On that note, I should point out that

         21  as I alluded to earlier, Verizon's track record is

         22  not perfect.  While Verizon has given us assurance

         23  that this work will be done by union members, I am

         24  compelled to remember a famous quote by a former

         25  President of the Screen Actors Guild, who went on to
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          2  become a union- busting President of the United

          3  States: "trust, but verify".            While I

          4  rarely recommend following Ronald Regan's advice, I

          5  believe that in this case, it is warranted.  As

          6  Verizon comes to you for support, I hope that you

          7  will aggressively, aggressively examine whether or

          8  not they plan to use union labor to build and

          9  maintain the infrastructure necessary to provide

         10  television service, and use their unionized

         11  workforce to handle customer service for cable TV.

         12  With those assurances, along with a commitment by

         13  the company to offer service to the entire City, the

         14  entire City, our union believes that Verizon's

         15  application is well worth your support.

         16                 I'd like to thank Speaker Christine

         17  Quinn, Zoning and Franchise Chair Tony Avella, Land

         18  Use Chair Melinda Katz, and the Members of the

         19  Council for their ongoing support not only of my

         20  members, but all the working families of the City of

         21  New York. Thank you very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA;  Thank you for

         23  your testimony.

         24                 Next panel is --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Very quickly.

                                                            187

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  One question that I have is, obviously, we support

          3  your unions, so that we support your great local

          4  leader, Bob Master, and many others who are part of

          5  the union.  What kind of retraining if any  --

          6  would Verizon pay for that?  How would the  --

          7  would it be necessary  -- you have the best workers.

          8    I know from personal experience, not to mention,

          9  as part of my lifelong political work.  But will

         10  there be any need for that, in terms of future  --

         11                 MR. SHELTON: There is a lot of

         12  retraining.  A lot of it has been done, and it is

         13  ongoing as we speak.  The Verizon representative

         14  told you that we were currently installing FiOS

         15  service  --  although without television  --  in

         16  many of the parts of the City of New York, as well

         17  as many parts of New York State and New Jersey.  And

         18  we have lots of technicians who have been trained to

         19  do this work.  We will probably need lots more, but

         20  the company has made a commitment that they will do

         21  whatever is necessary to train the people that they

         22  need in this work.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: So they have

         24  done that.  Okay.             MR. SHELTON: It's in

         25  their interest, because every cable TV customer that
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          2  they get means profit.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Yes.  And the

          4  other question is, how does it work when you have

          5   --  I guess it would be  -- Local Three also works,

          6  in terms of pulling some of the cables for some of

          7  the cable companies.  Is that something  --  how do

          8  you  -- how would you work together in buildings?

          9  Or would you have two different competition  -- for

         10  this concept of competition, we want CWA workers et

         11  cetera.  But when you're going into a building, I

         12  just was wondering both unions would be pulling at

         13  the same time. How would that work?  Or is Local

         14  Three only kind of doing it up to the buildings?  Or

         15  maybe we don't know.

         16                 MR. SHELTON: We have contracts that

         17  provide that certain jurisdiction of work belongs to

         18  CWA members, and other work belongs to other people,

         19  and obviously, I'm not here, and would never be here

         20  to try to take any work away from any of my brothers

         21  and sisters who belong to unions other than CWA.

         22  That's not my purpose.  My purpose is to make sure

         23  that any company who does this, including the cable

         24  companies, are using unionized workforces.

         25                 COUNCIL WOMAN KATZ: Thank you very
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          2  much.

          3                 MR. SHELTON: You're welcome.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

          5  Jackson.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Good

          7  afternoon.  I'm sorry. I'm trying to eat half of a

          8  cheeseburger before I came upstairs.

          9                 But I have your testimony here.  Let

         10  me ask you one question.  You had cookies.  Oh.

         11                 MR. SHELTON: I thought he was the

         12  Chairman.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I'm skinnier.

         14    I need to eat more.

         15                 And I'm glad that you're here

         16  representing the CWA. Let me ask you a question

         17  about Verizon or any other cable company, whether

         18   --  and especially the unionized, contracting with

         19  people outside and bringing them in and not paying

         20  them prevailing New York City wages.  Do you have

         21  any knowledge of that?  Or can you comment on that,

         22  if you can?

         23                 MR. SHELTON: I've been told just

         24  recently that there is some of that going on, and I

         25  am currently checking that.  I haven't had enough
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          2  time yet to check it.  Verizon says that that is not

          3  going on.  We would absolutely not allow that, and

          4  if I find out it is going on, I will stop it.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

          6  Because you know, as a unionist myself, you know, I

          7  don't try to interfere with the internal affairs of

          8  a union.  That's a no- no.  Obviously.  But

          9  obviously, when I hear that, I tell the people,

         10  well, if that's the case, and they are you know,

         11  some of the response was, that if in fact we hire

         12  contractors, they are contractors that have union

         13  members.  In my opinion, that's an internal

         14  situation that the union has to deal with.  And so,

         15  I just wanted to know your response.  So I

         16  appreciate your response on that.

         17                 MR. SHELTON: We will absolutely check

         18  that rumor and have been.  And if we find out that

         19  it's true, it will be stopped. I guarantee that.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

         21  Thank you very much.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.  In

         23  that light, the next panel will be representatives

         24  from Local 731.  Gentlemen.

         25                 MR. OMBRES: Good afternoon.  I'll
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          2  just wait a moment or two while they pass out the

          3  testimony.  Good afternoon Chair, Council Members,

          4  and all guests in the room, including our union

          5  brothers and sisters.  My name is Frank Ombres.  I'm

          6  the Secretary Treasurer of Laborers Local 731.  We

          7  represent 5,000 active members, and 2,500 retirees.

          8  Local 731's jurisdiction stretches across the five

          9  boroughs of New York City.  Eighty percent of our

         10  members are residents of New York City.  Our work

         11  includes all the underground and excavation work for

         12  the utilities, the pollution plants, the power

         13  stations, the bridges, the tunnels, the roadways,

         14  subways, and much, much more.

         15                 A large percentage of Local 731's

         16  work is prevailing wage work.  The Prevailing Wage

         17  Law has been on the books for many, many years.  It

         18  represents legislative policy to protect workers and

         19  to ensure that those who build our City receive a

         20  decent wage. The Prevailing Wage Law applies to

         21  utility companies issued permits for the street

         22  cutting work.  Whenever the Department of

         23  Transportation issues a permit for street cutting

         24  work and excavations, it provides a statement that

         25  all street cutting, without exception, requires the
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          2  payment of prevailing wages.

          3                 In 1998, Local 731 conducted a survey

          4  of street cutting and excavation operations in the

          5  City of New York.  We discovered blatant violations

          6  of the Prevailing Wage Law.  Many workers were paid

          7  far below the legal wage.  Some of these workers

          8  came from out of state, as far as Florida.  In

          9  response to our findings, we met with the New York

         10  City Comptroller and asked for enforcement of the

         11  law.  Comptroller Hevesi said he wanted to enforce

         12  the law, but due to a technicality, he did not

         13  posses enforcement power for street cutting and

         14  excavation work.

         15                 As a result, Local 731, with the

         16  strong support of Comptroller Hevesi, went to the

         17  State legislator and successfully lobbied for the

         18  enactment of the law that provides the City

         19  Comptroller with enforcement powers when utilities

         20  perform street cutting and excavation work.

         21                 Now in 2006, we have again discovered

         22  blatant disregard for the Prevailing Wage Law.  As

         23  you may know, prevailing wage is an hourly rate for

         24  all construction crafts, which is based on the City

         25  Comptroller's determination.  The prevailing rate
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          2  acts to level the playing field for all contractors

          3  performing the work --  that's public work  --  by

          4  not undercutting the community- based wage rate.

          5  But how?  By fixing the labor costs.  And fixing the

          6  cost of materials, we know that when a contractor

          7  submits bids, they typically come within a few

          8  percentage dollars, percentage points, plus or minus

          9  five percent of each other.  However, here in 2006,

         10  we find that contractors are winning bids at well

         11  below the engineer's estimated costing for the

         12  project.  Why?

         13                 Where in the past, contractors simply

         14  cheated on labor costs, now there exists a far more

         15  insidious scenario.  What we have discovered is that

         16  the utility company has become the vehicle for

         17  violating the Prevailing Wage Law.  How?  As stated,

         18  prevailing wage is an hourly rate.  Rather than

         19  showing that in their contracts, or rather than them

         20  paying that hourly rate, the utility company has

         21  created a payment scale based on price per foot of

         22  street cutting and excavations.  That price per foot

         23  falls far short of the prevailing wage hourly rate.

         24  How did we make that determination?   There are two

         25  ways.  First, by the very terms of the issued
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          2  contract.  The contract provides the minimum workers

          3  necessary to complete the work.  One need only to do

          4  a quick calculation to determine that the wages that

          5  should be paid.

          6                 Secondly, Local 731 has interviewed

          7  construction workers engaged in street cutting work.

          8    The beginning and laying of fiber optics began in

          9  the borough of Staten Island, but has now been

         10  seeping into Brooklyn.  We discovered that these

         11  workers are being paid below the prevailing wage.

         12  I've brought examples of paychecks which I have

         13  attached to my testimony.  The paychecks clearly

         14  show that workers were not paid the prevailing wage.

         15    On open street cutting it is the laborers rate of

         16  $52 and change per hour.  If you look at the pay

         17  stubs that are attached, they fall far below that

         18  scale, as far below as 50 percent.

         19                 Local 731 has spoken with the utility

         20  company and so far, has received no satisfaction.

         21  To add insult to the injury, we have been told that

         22  street cutting and excavation that occurs from the

         23  curb to the house will not be treated as being

         24  subject to the prevailing wage.  Let me be clear.

         25  This work has been historically and traditionally
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          2  treated as prevailing wage work.  And pursuant to

          3  the permit taken by the utility company.  There are

          4  no exceptions that are omit the curb hookup to the

          5  house from the Prevailing Wage Law.  And just a

          6  note, that when the permits are issued, they are

          7  issued on the full scope of the work, not in

          8  partiality.

          9                 Before you now is a resolution that

         10  will allow cable competition.  Local 731 asks you to

         11  please inquire with the various companies that wish

         12  to enter into New York City market as to whether

         13  they understand their obligation to pay prevailing

         14  wage when engaging in street cutting and excavation

         15  work.  You've heard three testimonies today.  And

         16  two of them ignore it.  You should know that failure

         17  to pay the prevailing wage has resulted in over 50

         18  of our members not working right now.  These union

         19  members are your constituents.

         20                 I also want you to know that these

         21  five companies are operating in Staten Island.  They

         22  are out- of- town companies. To address your

         23  question.  As far away as Atlanta, Georgia.  We have

         24  the proof.  We have the films.  We have the filming

         25  of the Comptroller's office filming them.  And not
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          2  enforcing prevailing wage, or pulling the permits.

          3                 Lastly, I would like to take this

          4  opportunity to recognize other members of Local 731.

          5    I ask them to stand up. These are the men and

          6  women who lose work when companies cheat on

          7  prevailing wage.  On behalf of the officers, the

          8  staff, the membership, thank you for this

          9  opportunity to explain this very important issue.

         10  And thank you to our Business Manager, Joe D'Amato

         11  for giving me this opportunity.  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: You and I have

         13  already met on this issue, and I take the concerns

         14  that you've mentioned very seriously, and you can

         15  rest assured that we're going to look into the issue

         16  and see how we can help you in regards to the

         17  resolution. And as you heard from my colleagues all

         18  day during the testimony, we take union labor and

         19  prevailing wage issues extremely seriously.

         20                 MR. OMBRES: Well we appreciate what

         21  we've heard today.  It has been an experience for

         22  all of us.  And all we ask is that that RFP reflects

         23  what they must do before they enter into our house.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: One of the things

         25  I think everybody has to realize  --  and maybe this
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          2  is an important point to mention it  --  that the

          3  way the current procedure is set up, when the

          4  Council approves a resolution, after it leaves our

          5  hands, that's it.  We never get the follow up.  The

          6  Mayor can negotiate whatever he wants with the

          7  agreement.  So one of the things that we're going to

          8  be very careful as to what actually goes in that

          9  resolution.  I actually have legislation that maybe

         10  some of the unions would like to support, that would

         11  amend the procedure that would in effect, require

         12  the Mayor's Office, after issuing the RFP, and

         13  picking a company, you know, a franchisee, to bring

         14  it back to the City Council and make sure that

         15  whatever agreement is arrived at was fulfilled with

         16  the intentions of the City Council.  Because right

         17  now, after we pass this resolution, it leaves our

         18  hands, we never see it again.  We have no input.

         19  And I think that's a failure of the system.

         20                 But we will make every effort to take

         21  care of your issue in the resolution.  Council

         22  Member Jackson.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you Mr.

         24  Chair.  And let me just say that I appreciate your

         25  testimony, and I appreciate you and your members
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          2  coming down to this hearing.  Because you sat

          3  through, and your members sat through and listened

          4  to the testimony of the three companies that came in

          5  front of us.  Cablevision, Time Warner, and Verizon.

          6    And you've heard the questions that have been put

          7  forward to them, and their responses.  And in fact,

          8  you not only heard it, but there is a record of this

          9  transcript that will be available.  So I suggest

         10  that you follow up on this particular matter.

         11                 I'm surprised to hear though, that

         12  the Comptroller of the City of New York has not

         13  followed up on what you say are clear violations of

         14  the I guess contract, or the agreements that they

         15  have, and where the Comptroller, the previous

         16  Comptroller, Alan Hevesi, your union worked with him

         17  in order to pass the law that gave enforcement

         18  powers and they have not enforced the powers of the

         19  law.

         20                 As you know that the Mayor's Office

         21  will be dealing with this particular matter

         22  concerning an RFP.  I would strongly suggest that if

         23  you know any cable operators that have violated the

         24  law as far as prevailing wage, that you should write

         25  to the Mayor and to the I guess the DoITT, maybe the
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          2  agency that handles this contract, clearly showing

          3  proof of violation, and insist that you know, that

          4  specific language be in there.  And Tony, I don't

          5  know if I signed on to your resolution, but I will

          6  look at that and sign on to it right away, to ensure

          7  that New York City, and I don't care what anybody

          8  say, New York City is a union town.  And we'll

          9  always be a union town with respects to work to make

         10  sure that the people of New York City have a decent

         11  wage and benefits to support their families.  That's

         12  extremely important.

         13                 So let me just thank you on behalf of

         14  my colleagues that are not here, but knowing that

         15  they feel just as strongly as I do when it comes to

         16  protecting the rights of workers.

         17                 MR. OMBRES: We appreciate it.  Thank

         18  you sir.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you

         20  very much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         22  Katz: Hi.

         23                 MR. OMBRES: How are you?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Good.  Thanks.

         25  How are you?
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          2                 MR. OMBRES: Very good, thank you.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Very quickly.

          4  We understand, and the Chair stated time again, and

          5  I think it's important, that the prevailing wage is

          6   --  we need to get on top of that in your specific

          7  circumstance.  But yes, I mean, 731 is for this

          8  resolution.  It's just that we'd like to make sure

          9  that as we do this authorizing resolution, that

         10  there are some protections in there to clarify and

         11  to assure the prevailing wage.

         12                 MR. OMBRES: That's correct.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: I just wanted to

         14  state that for the record.  It seems to benefit  --

         15                 MR. OMBRES: Everyone.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  --  Immensely.

         17  Everyone.  To help the competition.  So I wanted to

         18  make sure that was clear.  It doesn't mean that we

         19  need to you know, do anything to get it, but it does

         20  mean that it would be beneficial to your workers,

         21  and we -

         22                 MR. OMBRES: When you talk about

         23  leveling the playing field,  --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Yes.  I've heard

         25  that statement.
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          2                 MR. OMBRES: The competition  --  I

          3  think we've heard that all day  --  But if the

          4  contractors  --  all good contractors bit, and

          5  leveled that playing field, and there's a three to

          6  five percent difference in any bids, you know

          7  they're all good contractors.  You know it.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         11  Brewer.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you also

         13  for being here.  My question is, I've been to New

         14  Dorp,  Staten Island, and I saw what is being laid

         15  in terms of the fiber there.  Even though I

         16  represent the Westside of Manhattan.  But my

         17  question is, when you talk about this partiality,

         18  what exactly does that mean?  Are you talking about

         19  their doing one thing to the street and another

         20  thing to the homes?

         21                 MR. OMBRES: Yes.  What they did was

         22   --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Because that

         24  to me is a layout, to go in there and  --

         25                 MR. OMBRES: It's a very simple
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          2  layout.  There is the street work that the permit

          3   --  when the permit's issued, it's issued right

          4  from the permit right to the house.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Correct.

          6                 MR. OMBRES: Okay.  What one of the

          7  utility companies has now done, there are four

          8  segments to it.  You have the street, you have the

          9  curb, you have a tree line, you have a sidewalk, and

         10  then you have an individual property.  What they're

         11  saying now is that the street work was prevailing

         12  wage, because the permit says that.  And then as we

         13  go towards the curb, we put a box, and we stop.  And

         14  then we're going to come back later on, and use a

         15  different entity, a different contractor, a

         16  different person from wherever we get them from, and

         17  the price per foot drops from $71 to $75 down to

         18  $18.  We know the rates.  They're in the contract.

         19  In fact, they're on page 76 if you want to go to

         20  their contract. We've seen the contracts.  We've

         21  seen the engineer bits.  The engineer bit will come

         22  out with $25,000 for that scope of the work. And it

         23  can include 10 homes.  The next thing you know, the

         24  contractor and the utility company going to a bid,

         25  he puts it out for only $18.  Now we already know
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          2  that the prevailing wage is not going to be met.

          3  The engineer already told you it's $25,000.  Now

          4  we're down to $18,000.  He puts it out to bid to 10

          5  contractors. The contractors come back with bids of

          6  $15,000 or less.  Well how could that be, if they're

          7  enforcing prevailing wage?

          8                 The contract stipulates there would

          9  be three laborers, a teamster, and an operating

         10  engineer to dig up that street.  Well if you do the

         11  math, what they get paid per hour under the

         12  prevailing wage, by looking at the City Comptroller,

         13  what he has listed, there is no way the price per

         14  foot goes into the price per hour.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  Thank

         16  you very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you

         18  gentlemen.

         19                 MR. OMBRES: Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: The next panel

         21   --  I see three chairs up there so I'm going to

         22  call a panel of three.  Davis Liss; Henry Caleron;

         23  and Ken Adams.

         24                 I don't see anybody approaching the

         25  panel, so those three individuals are no longer
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          2  here.  Okay, we've got one of them. We've got two.

          3                 How about Mitchell Moss?  Okay, then

          4  I'm missing another one.  Michael Burke.  Okay.  And

          5  by the way, those names of people that are not here

          6  listed as in favor of the resolution.

          7                 Is it Ms. Thompson?  Phaedra

          8  Thompsom.  Thomas.  Too tired.  Not here?  Broderick

          9  Byers.  Okay, come on up.

         10                 MR. ADAMS: Good afternoon.  I'm

         11  Kenneth Adams, President of the Brooklyn Chamber of

         12  Commerce.  The Brooklyn Chamber is the leading

         13  business assistance and economic development

         14  organization in Brooklyn.  We are pleased to have

         15  this opportunity to comment on the resolution being

         16  considered by the Subcommittee today.

         17                 The Brooklyn Chamber of Commerce

         18  fully supports the resolution authorizing franchises

         19  for cable television services pursuant to Section

         20  363 of the New York City Charter, proposed by the

         21  Mayor, and submitted to the Council.  We further

         22  urge the Council to adopt its corresponding

         23  resolution, introduced by Council Member Katz and

         24  Avella, that would enable the authorization of these

         25  franchises.
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          2                 We understand that for the purposes

          3  of this resolution, cable television services  shall

          4  mean cable services defined by the Communications

          5  Policy Act of 1984.  This distinction is important

          6  because it recognizes advances in telecommunications

          7  technology that enable the transmission over fiber

          8  optic cable infrastructure of voice, data, and high-

          9  speed Internet and cable television services.

         10                 As you know, existing cable providers

         11  have begun to introduce this expanded blend of

         12  services in certain locations around the City.  It

         13  is time to increase the availability of these vital

         14  services Citywide and allow new providers to compete

         15  to deliver them in the most cost- effective way for

         16  local consumers.

         17                 We feel strongly that it is time to

         18  increase the availability of, and lower the prices

         19  for, such services across New York City.  We

         20  support, for example, the efforts of Verizon to

         21  introduce its FiOS TV initiative in Brooklyn and

         22  throughout the City.  This resolution would

         23  encourage competition among providers to provide

         24  these enhanced services and thus, it is certainly in

         25  the interest of consumers, both businesses and our
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          2  chamber members, and residents of Brooklyn and the

          3  City beyond.

          4                 We urge the Subcommittee to adopt the

          5  resolution.

          6                 Thank you very much for your time and

          7  consideration this afternoon.

          8                 MR. BYERS: Good afternoon. My name is

          9  Broderick Byers.  I am the Founder, CEO of the

         10  Employment and Career Channel. My company is a New

         11  York- based multi- media company that creates,

         12  distributes, employment and career development

         13  television, via cable, broadcast, and the Internet.

         14  Our programming has received numerous awards for our

         15  inspiring youth programming in being able to help

         16  people of disabilities find jobs and understand how

         17  they can work with their disabilities and have

         18  successful careers.

         19                 You probably have not heard of my

         20  service, and we do think it's innovative.  And the

         21  reason why is why I'm here today. I speak today in

         22  support of competition in the cable services, and

         23  real choice for consumers.  As a person who has sold

         24  cable here in New York City to thousands of

         25  subscribers, I can tell you that I am sensitive to

                                                            207

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  people who are buying our services.  I am very

          3  sensitive to the power of cable television, and how

          4  the technology can be used to instruct and be

          5  destructive tool in many of our communities.

          6                 Let me be clear.  Content is king.

          7  As many of you may or may not know, cable channels

          8  are typically owned in full or in part by cable

          9  television operators.  And those channels get

         10  preferred access, whereas independent channels such

         11  as myself, cannot get access.

         12                 The City Council should be concerned

         13  that there are only one or two gatekeepers in New

         14  York City that decide what we as New York consumers

         15  will see on our TV sets.  To me, this is very

         16  dangerous.  I would like to add that companies such

         17  as Verizon and smaller cable operators like Irving

         18  Community Transport, are much more open to

         19  independent programming and thus access.

         20                 Before you is an opportunity to

         21  change the cable landscape to New York City for the

         22  benefit of the City, its businesses, and residents.

         23  I urge you to seize the moment.  Thank you.

         24                 MR. MOSS: Good afternoon Councilman.

         25  My name is Mitchell Moss.  I've been on the faculty
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          2  of New York University for more than 33 years.  I'm

          3  here to speak on behalf of competition in

          4  telecommunications in New York City.

          5                 Let me just say that I have a

          6  prepared statement, but I would like to depart from

          7  it so I don't repeat some of the previous speakers.

          8                 First, the City of New York today has

          9  become more and more dependent upon information.

         10  But, unlike banking or food, or apparel, or music or

         11  culture, we don't have competition information when

         12  it comes to our home.  This is an obsolete relic of

         13  old technologies and old regulations.  So you do

         14  have choice when it comes to banks.  You have choice

         15  in food, but you don't have choice in

         16  communications.

         17                 Over the past 25 years, we have

         18  become more and more dependent upon information.

         19  Whether it's a cell phone that we just heard right

         20  now, or whether it's having an abundance of TV

         21  channels in our home.  When I grew up in Queens, and

         22  I was a student of Councilman Katz's father more

         23  than 35 years ago,   --  it will be. He was one of

         24  the great residents of Queens.  One of the great

         25  music teachers.  We had only five TV channels.
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          2  Today, in my house, we have more than I can possibly

          3  count, and certainly more than I can view.  But the

          4  fact is, we don't have the choice in how we get

          5  those channels, and who we pay for those channels.

          6                 I think it's important for New York

          7  to benefit from more capital investment in

          8  telecommunications.  The City of New York's annual

          9  capital budget, as you know, is over $4 billion a

         10  year right now.  But if we invest in

         11  telecommunications competition, we will add $2

         12  billion a year, at least, into new capital in the

         13  City.  I think the City benefits by capital

         14  spending.  It employs workers, it leads to improved

         15  infrastructure, it makes everyone benefit from this.

         16

         17                 So I think we have to look at this

         18  not just from having competition in the home, but

         19  the importance of accelerating capital investment in

         20  our City's fundamental infrastructure.

         21                 The infrastructure of communications

         22  is as important as the infrastructure of

         23  transportation.  And I think if we have an

         24  opportunity to get $2 billion of investment in

         25  communications, we should do everything possible to
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          2  accelerate that, to not let it be delayed.   Because

          3  delay means that we are going to fall behind other

          4  cities, which have this extra investment.  Thank you

          5  very much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.

          7  Council Member Brewer.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.  I

          9  have a question for Mitchell Moss.  One of the

         10  issues I think  --  and it's over used, is what we

         11  can do for a level playing field, suggestions in the

         12  RFP.  Given your City experience, in addition to

         13  your academic experience, obviously, the buildout

         14  has included schools, INet, PEGs, I think you know

         15  the list.  So my question to you is, what do you

         16  suggest in terms of inclusion for  --  as more

         17  carriers, like Verizon or others, come into the

         18  field?  What would be a place in which we should be

         19  putting our efforts?

         20                 MR. MOSS: First of all, you know, you

         21  have been the pioneer in you know, bringing the City

         22  to realize how important it is to accelerate

         23  telecommunication systems.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: We're trying

         25  sir.
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          2                 MR. MOSS: Please.  And I think that

          3  what we have now is to recognize that people use

          4  information in every place that they go.  It's no

          5  longer confined to the home or to the office. You

          6  know I think  --  you know, this is not within the

          7  City's domain, but I have always been a believer

          8  that the MTA information laggered in the region.

          9  It's shocking that I have to turn on the TV to find

         10  out whether there is a delay in the subway system.

         11  It's appalling that I have to turn on you know,

         12  television news to find out you know, what subway

         13  lines are not working this day.  So if I would be

         14  concerned, I'd be  --  frankly, it's the lack of

         15  information about transportation that his hurting

         16  our City.

         17                 When I teach a class at six o'clock

         18  and students come in and say, well, the subways were

         19  delayed, you know, part of it is they don't know

         20  where to go, because they pay their fare, they use

         21  the Metro card, and then they're sitting there for

         22  20 minutes.

         23                 So we should be able to get

         24  information.  If we could have information of

         25  entrance to a subway, selling the latest Nike

                                                            212

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  sneaker, we could have information of whether the

          3  subway that you're going to pay $2.00 to use is

          4  working.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.  How

          6  about schools in that vein.

          7                 MR. MOSS: Well you know, obviously,

          8  the public school system you know, in my view, is

          9  one where you know, kids spend at least five hours a

         10  day.  It's 25 hours a week.  I'm a bigger champion

         11  of the libraries, which in many cases, are just as

         12  important, because they serve old people and young

         13  people as well. And I am a great champion of making

         14  the library information intensive.  Just go out to

         15  Flushing and you can see what a library does.  You

         16  can go to many of the libraries.

         17                 Kids know how to use technology when

         18  it's given to them.  So I think it's not just

         19  schools, because the libraries are open year round,

         20  and schools tend not to be.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         24  Katz.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: My father was a
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          2  music teacher at Jamaica High School, so I guess my

          3  question to you is do you still play an instrument?

          4  A lot rides on this.  No pressure.

          5                 MR. MOSS: You know at first, I

          6  deliberately avoided discussing specifics.  When I

          7  knew David Katz, he was the orchestra leader in an

          8  orchestra that I played the saxophone in.  That's

          9  the answer.  I have long since given up, and gave it

         10  to my younger brother.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ: Thank you, I

         12  think, for giving it up and for answering the

         13  question.  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you

         15  gentlemen.  Next panel is Lance Van Arsdale, Local

         16  Three, and Partnerships for New York City.

         17                 MR. VAN ARSDALE: Thank you for having

         18  me here this afternoon.  My name is Lance Van

         19  Arsdale, from Local Three of the International

         20  Brotherhood of Electrical Workers.  As you have

         21  heard in the past, I'm not going to repeat what was

         22  said, or burden you with a written statement.  I'm

         23  going to be short and brief.

         24                 Local Three represents 2,000 members

         25  that work for Time Warner Cable.  We've negotiated
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          2  fair contracts since 1967. Our member originally

          3  started out the history in masted TV antennas in the

          4  apartment buildings when there was one antenna on

          5  the roof. Those workers moved over and were trained,

          6  and were with the predecessor cable companies.  That

          7  started in 1964.

          8                 We've negotiated fair wages.  Time

          9  Warner has contributed into our multi- employer

         10  pension plan since 1967. That's a electrical

         11  industry multi- employer pension plan, not a Time

         12  Warner plan.  Our members receive, through Time

         13  Warner, comprehensive health insurance, and also

         14  into their retirement.  We have members that have

         15  just received their 25 year and 30 year pins as

         16  being members of Local Three.  They've had their

         17  careers in the cable industry.

         18                 Through the years, we've negotiated

         19  training and skills for our members in the cable TV

         20  industry, and what that has evolved into, is that

         21  that training program that we negotiated in the City

         22  of New York, is now covered throughout Time Warner,

         23  throughout the United States of America.  And we

         24  started it here. We progressed with our skills all

         25  the way through.
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          2                 Now the thing that's important here

          3   --  you've heard level playing field.  What I want

          4  to say is playing by the same rules.  We provided

          5  work opportunities through the franchise system in

          6  the City of New York.  Members of Local Three have

          7  wired up the five boroughs twice for the cable TV

          8  companies.  Cablevision doesn't really want to

          9  recognize it, but it was Local Three electrical

         10  contractors that built their plant the first time,

         11  and rebuilt it the second time.

         12                 Through that system, we've been

         13  through every corner of the five boroughs, in every

         14  neighborhood, regarding service. And that's

         15  important for the future.  We're not opposed to

         16  Verizon having a franchise, but we want them to have

         17  an equal franchise, where that service is provided.

         18                 We wired up police stations, fire

         19  stations, libraries, and schools in the City of New

         20  York through the franchise system.  We want that to

         21  happen in every school, every police station, every

         22  fire station.

         23                 As you've heard from our brothers in

         24  the CWA and the laborers union, there are things

         25  that are happening out there. There are contractors
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          2  from Georgia in Staten Island for Verizon. The

          3  laborers don't want to say Verizon, but I'm saying

          4  Verizon.

          5                 On behalf of the 34,000 members of

          6  Local Three in the City of New York, we're urging

          7  the City Council to institute a franchise for the

          8  three companies that go by the same rules.  Now

          9  these are three big multi- billion dollar

         10  corporations.  Verizon, Time Warner, and

         11  Cablevision.  Where not talking about a little

         12  player starting up here.  They have more than enough

         13  money in the world to wire up every neighborhood in

         14  the City of New York.  Thank you very much.

         15                 MR. SIMAS: Hi.  My name is Mike

         16  Simas, Director of Government Affairs, Partners for

         17  New York City, testifying on behalf of Kathy Wylde,

         18  our CEO.

         19                 Good afternoon Members of the

         20  Subcommittee. Partnership is an organization

         21  comprised of the chief executives of the City's

         22  largest employers.  It is committed to working in

         23  partnership with government, labor, and the

         24  nonprofit sector, to enhance the economy and create

         25  jobs.
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          2                 As you are no doubt aware, there's

          3  been tremendous technological growth in the cable

          4  industry in recent years.  Fiber optics have allowed

          5  the industry to offer not only cable television, but

          6  also broadband Internet and telephone services

          7  through one line.  This opportunity to bundle

          8  services has led to wider access and faster

          9  connection speeds at a far lower cost to consumers.

         10                 While the technology exists for

         11  greater competition among cable providers, only 1.5

         12  percent of markets nationally have had head- to-

         13  head competition for cable television services.

         14  This is unfortunate for consumers, because national

         15  studies by the FCC have shown that in markets where

         16  competition exists, cable rates are 27 percent

         17  lower.

         18                 Access to broadband services is a key

         19  indicator in rating the preparedness of

         20  international cities for the 21st century.  Cities

         21  that rate highly in the availability of this

         22  technology are more competitive in the global

         23  economy.  In fact, the Partnership, in conjunction

         24  with PriceWaterhouseCoopers, will be releasing a

         25  study early next month that examines competitive
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          2  factors among international cities.  One of these

          3  variables is the use of broadband technology, where

          4  New York trails both Paris and Tokyo.  Only 66.8

          5  percent of New Yorkers that are online access the

          6  Internet via broadband.  In Paris, where a

          7  competitive market exists, 85 percent of Internet

          8  users get online with broadband technology.

          9                 New York City should be leading the

         10  world in the availability of cable and Internet

         11  services for its residents.  The resolution before

         12  you today will facilitate this process, by allowing

         13  the City to consider proposals for new cable

         14  providers in an equitable manner, consistent with

         15  the New York State Public Service Commission's level

         16  playing field requirement.

         17                 We strongly urge the Subcommittee and

         18  the entire Council to expedite passage of this

         19  important resolution.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.  Thank

         21  you gentlemen.           Next panel is Brooklyn

         22  Community Access TV, Manhattan Neighborhood Network,

         23  and BRONXNET.

         24                 MR. SUTTON: Thank you so much for

         25  seeing us today. Just before we began (sic) we want

                                                            219

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  to thank the entire Council for over and over, for

          3  over and over, professing its support for public

          4  access television.  It's so clear that you

          5  understand the importance of it to the fabric of the

          6  City, and it's wonderful to hear you talk about it

          7  over and over.

          8                 Good morning.  Thank you for holding

          9  this important hearing, and allowing us to testify.

         10  My name is Greg Sutton.  I'm the Executive Producer

         11  of Brooklyn Information and Culture's Brooklyn

         12  Community Access Television division.  With me at

         13  the table today are Michael Max Knobbe, Executive

         14  Director BRONXNET; Dan Coughlin, Executive Director

         15  of Manhattan Neighborhood Network. And in the

         16  audience is Linda Fanning, Executive Assistant for

         17  Queens Public Television.

         18                 We're here together representing the

         19  public access organizations of Bronx, Brooklyn,

         20  Queens, Manhattan.  We're here together to ask that

         21  authorizing resolution LU 197 be amended to ensure

         22  that public, education, and governmental access

         23  channels are an integral part of any franchise

         24  agreement negotiated by the City for cable

         25  television service.
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          2                 Each of us manages four cable

          3  channels which provide the public with access to

          4  media.  These channels, together with CUNY TV and

          5  NYC TV make up public education and governmental

          6  channels.  Each borough's public access channels

          7  provide our communities with locally- produced and

          8  sponsored programming generated by the individuals

          9  and community groups in our boroughs. The result is

         10  incredibly diverse, unfiltered, and independent

         11  programming.  Our producers, directors, technicians,

         12  and on- air performers come from our neighborhoods

         13  and local schools.  And we train them to use our

         14  facilities and equipment.  Many even go on to jobs

         15  in the film and television broadcast industry.

         16                 PEG has been a feature of cable TV in

         17  New York since the first cables were buried in our

         18  City streets, or hung from our street poles.  While

         19  there are always challenges, we feel we have become

         20  an important and established part of the

         21  communications fabric of New York City.  New Yorkers

         22  use our facilities seven days a week.  New Yorkers

         23  watch our shows seven days a week.  We're confident

         24  that any competitive entrant, as well as the

         25  existing service providers would want to carry our
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          2  local based content. We're also confident that the

          3  officials negotiating and approving the franchise

          4  would include PEG specific provisions in a final

          5  document.

          6                 I'd like to ask my colleague, Michael

          7  Max Knobbe, from BRONXNET to continue the testimony

          8  at this point.

          9                 MR. KNOBBE: Thank you Greg.  Thank

         10  you Chairman Avella and Chairwoman Katz, Council

         11  Member Brewer, our distinguished Majority Leader

         12  from the Bronx, and Council Member Hilton Jackson,

         13  and all the distinguished Members of the Committee

         14  for your careful consideration here.

         15                 The authorizing resolution is, as it

         16  stands, you know, good.  Nevertheless, it is with

         17  the authorizing resolution at the outset of the

         18  process, where you, the Council Members, the most

         19  local- based elected officials, have your say to set

         20  the agenda for future negotiations.  You are, in

         21  essence, the trustees of the public property that

         22  the phone companies and cable companies will be

         23  using for their respective private business.  The

         24  authorizing resolution is the template or a

         25  checklist that controls what terms must go into the
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          2  franchise as compensation for use of the public

          3  right of way.

          4                 The authorizing resolution, as

          5  originally presented, omitted a requirement for PEG

          6  capacity and support.  And we need to fix that, and

          7  fill that gap.  We respectfully request that a

          8  provision be added requiring, at a baseline minimum,

          9  support and capacity for PEG from any franchisee

         10  using the public rights of way.  Therefore, we

         11  propose the following be added: "There shall be

         12  provisions requiring capacity and support for

         13  public, educational, and governmental access."

         14                 We have good relations with our

         15  incumbent cable franchisees and expect to have good

         16  relations with new entrants.

         17                 On July 1, 1971, the New York City

         18  Director of Franchises required the two Manhattan

         19  cable television franchisees to provide two public

         20  access channels to be administered in accordance

         21  with the City's interim regulations.  For over 35

         22  years, public access has been a part of the

         23  communications landscape, allowing nonprofits,

         24  educational institutions, elected officials, civic

         25  organizations, community leaders, health centers,
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          2  students, immigrants, artists, and faith- based

          3  organizations to access electronic media.  We have

          4  given training to thousands, empowered our

          5  communities, and promoted freedom of expression.

          6  For all these reasons, public access should be

          7  continued to be supported in all future franchises.

          8  Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I think you know

         10  our feelings on this matter.  That we're not going

         11  to let any resolution go ahead without support for

         12  the PEGs.  You have submitted that text amendment.

         13  I have submitted it not only to the Council Land Use

         14  staff for review.  But also to the Administration.

         15  And I believe we're not going to have a problem.

         16  That's just me at this point saying that, but you

         17  have my total support.  But I think we will be able

         18  to work this thing out.  Clearly, that is our

         19  intention.

         20                 Council Member Brewer.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you.

         22  Dan, I'd like to ask you, because you didn't speak.

         23  What exactly  --  certainly we support that

         24  provision  --  but what exactly would that mean in

         25  terms of the day- to- day capacity for the PEGs?
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          2  What would you envision if you had the optimum?

          3                 MR. COUGHLIN: Well right now, were

          4  just asking for the simple continued support in

          5  principle for PEG.  But obviously, as you know

          6  Council Member Brewer, down at Manhattan

          7  Neighborhood Network alone, we're overflow capacity.

          8    We can't handle, right now, the amount of

          9  community- based organizations, Manhattan residents,

         10  others who are seeking access on our channels.

         11  Right now, we're producing about 568 hours a week.

         12  And we're jammed.

         13                 So we can get into those issues

         14  later, and I think I know the Council will have

         15  plenty of opportunity to hear about that.  But

         16  certainly, reflecting the incredible support around

         17  the City for public access for educational and

         18  government channels, at a minimum, the baseline

         19  principle being put forward in the resolution is I

         20  think a great start.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I thank you.

         22                 MR. SUTTON: And if I could just add

         23  something very quickly.  I think that especially

         24  with the landscape on the national level, we feel

         25  that it's important for the local municipality to
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          2  make that statement in the authorizing resolution as

          3  well.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

          5  Jackson.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well first of

          7  all, let me just thank you for coming in, and

          8  presenting the view of the average people that I

          9  represent.  I watch public access and some of the

         10  local channels up in Northern Manhattan.  And I

         11  agree whole heartedly with Tony Avella, our Chair,

         12  that we will do everything we can.

         13                 I say to you, as one Member of this

         14  Subcommittee and Member of the City Council, I fully

         15  support it, not only at the level that it currently

         16  is, but it should be increased.  Because the demand

         17  for public access is great.  And I know that even

         18  when I was running as a candidate for the City

         19  Council, going back, I think even in 2001, and then

         20  when I ran for re- election maybe last term, I

         21  forgot when, the education channel, they had any

         22  candidate that wanted to come in, had an opportunity

         23  to I guess present.  And they broadcast that so

         24  people would have an opportunity.

         25                 The normal commercial TV channels,
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          2  they didn't provide us that opportunity, so that the

          3  public would have an opportunity to hear a

          4  presentation by candidates running for office.  And

          5  I think that that type of public access, so that the

          6  people of our great City will have an opportunity to

          7  see all of the candidates you know, is really what

          8  it's about.  Public access, and about having the

          9  opportunity for people of New York to take advantage

         10  of communication that way.

         11                 So I not only support maintaining the

         12  level, but also about increasing it.  Thank you Mr.

         13  Chair.

         14                 MR. COUGHLIN: If I could just comment

         15  on that.  I was struck  --  I know one of the folks

         16  who testified today mentioned 17 cable channels

         17  starting up early on in the time of cable 35 years

         18  ago.  I understand that four of those channels were

         19  public access channels.  So four out of 17.  And

         20  it's ironic what has happened  --  and certainly the

         21  transformation has been remarkable what has not

         22  happened, and what probably ought to happen, just

         23  bouncing off your comments, is that level of

         24  proportionality to public interest programming to

         25  community voices, to neighborhood voices, voices
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          2  that are never heard, whether it's local races, the

          3  candidate debate, which is so important, that oxygen

          4  of information that is so important to a functioning

          5  democracy be heard, and that's going to be critical,

          6  I think, for the health of New York City in the

          7  future.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you

          9  gentlemen.

         10                 Next panel, Wellington Chen,

         11  Chinatown Partnership; Lynn Stirrup, from the

         12  Brooklyn Academy of Music; Alberto Villate, am I

         13  pronouncing it right  --  New York State Coalition

         14  of Hispanic CC, whatever CC stands for.  Chamber of

         15  Commerce.  That's a good guess.

         16                 I guess you're Lynn.  I guess

         17  Wellington and Alberto are gone.  Oscar Henry.  Is

         18  he here?  Okay, Oscar.  Marita Dunn. Okay.  And

         19  those names that I mentioned, those people who

         20  aren't' here, obviously were testifying in favor of

         21  the resolution.

         22                 MS. STIRRUP: Good afternoon.  As the

         23  Vice President for Planning and Development at

         24  Brooklyn Academy of Music, which is the nation's

         25  oldest performing art center, commonly known as BAM,
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          2  it is my pleasure to participate in this public

          3  hearing in order to urge you to support this

          4  resolution.

          5                 You may be wondering why a cultural

          6  institution is advocating an initiative by a

          7  telecommunications company.  First of all, our

          8  history with Verizon and its predecessors goes back

          9  more than 20 years.  And it is a strong relationship

         10  upon which we have been able to depend in every way.

         11    We have benefited from their ongoing Board

         12  membership, as well as their customer care, and we

         13  have always found that the company understands the

         14  needs of the communities it serves, and that it

         15  seeks ways to keep these communities socially and

         16  economically healthy.

         17                 Specifically, Verizon's video network

         18  could offer BAM an entirely new avenue for reaching

         19  out to many communities, through the power of

         20  technology.  A subscriber to Verizon's video on-

         21  demand system, for example, could point the remote,

         22  click, and call up any of BAM's programs or services

         23  at any time.  This in turn, could assist our

         24  outreach to home- based students, the disabled,

         25  seniors, the under- served, and many others who
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          2  would otherwise not have access to our programming.

          3                 As a premier cultural institution in

          4  the largest borough, we want to harness the power of

          5  technology and extend the reach and access of our

          6  offerings within our communities and beyond.

          7                 Brooklyn Academy of Music

          8  enthusiastically encourages Verizon's effort to

          9  offer meaningful competition within this cable

         10  market, and we hope that you will approve their

         11  plans. Thank you.

         12                 MS. DUNN: Good afternoon.  Since I

         13  have one minute here, here's my one minute.  My name

         14  is Marita Dunn, and I'm the Executive Director of

         15  Harlem Valley Heights Community Development

         16  Corporation, a nonprofit organization that advocates

         17  on behalf of minority businesses.

         18                 The key issue here for us, are choice

         19  and competition.  Investment in, and access to,

         20  technologies are vital to everyone's success.

         21  Technology fosters business growth through education

         22  and information; choice encourages competition.

         23  Technology offers employment growth and expansion;

         24  competition encourages creative thinking.

         25                 Verizon's service has been right for
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          2  our community in the past, and Verizon's FiOS

          3  service is right for Harlem Valley Heights and all

          4  of New York City now.

          5                 We whole- heartedly support this

          6  video franchise resolution because it fosters choice

          7  and competition.  And we ask that you support it

          8  without delay.  Thank you.

          9                 MR. HENRY: Mr. Chairman, Members of

         10  the Council, and fellow supporters.  Thank you for

         11  the opportunity to speak today. I am Oscar Henry.  I

         12  represent Hentel Litecare, an African- American

         13  owned telecom business based in Brooklyn.

         14                 For the past year, my company has

         15  provided specialized technical support for Verizon's

         16  DSL product in the Bronx and Queens, as well as

         17  other areas of Downstate New York and Connecticut.

         18  We see the Verizon's FiOS and FiOS TV as the next

         19  generation of high- technology service to the home.

         20  And we very much want to be on the front lines of

         21  these exciting technologies and the business

         22  opportunities ahead.

         23            There's a lot of talk about spillover

         24  effect of Verizon's fiber construction projects and

         25  how that effect creates and sustains jobs.  My
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          2  employees are the human faces behind that effect,

          3  and we know it is real.  Investment like Verizon's

          4  not only create jobs, they create jobs in minority

          5  communities.  That should be important to every

          6  Member of the Council.  It is government's role to

          7  embrace that kind of progress.

          8                 I ask you to please vote for this

          9  resolution.  Thank you for the opportunity to speak

         10  today.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Council Member

         12  Jackson.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well I want

         14  to thank all of you for coming in, and Marita Dunn

         15  is one of my constituents. She's very active in the

         16  Harlem community.

         17                 But let me ask you a question sir.

         18  You said that your business  --  you have a cable or

         19  technical support unit for DSL.  And I assume that

         20  your business is located in Brooklyn.

         21                 MR. HENRY: Yes it is.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And how many

         23  employees do you employ?

         24                 MR. HENRY: Right now, I have four

         25  employees.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  And

          3  so, you're here in support of the resolution put

          4  forward by the City Council, basically to open up

          5  the franchise, cable franchise, to not only Verizon,

          6  but to anyone else who wants to come into the

          7  business. Is that correct?

          8                 MR. HENRY: This is to support that

          9  you open it to Verizon.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Only to

         11  Verizon.

         12                 MR. HENRY: Well, Verizon and any

         13  other that would form competition. Right now, I

         14  think that it is the main bodies of Verizon,

         15  Cablevison, and Time Warner.  Verizon is  --  I am

         16  in support of Verizon being part of that.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  Okay.

         18  All right. And so your business is not only in New

         19  York, but you said you have as part of I guess being

         20  a contractor for Verizon, to other areas in the

         21  regional area, which includes I guess certain  --

         22  wherever they have in their metropolitan area.

         23                 MR. HENRY: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  Very

         25  good.  And the four employees, are they New York
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          2  City residents?

          3                 MR. HENRY: They are all New York City

          4  residents.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  All

          6  right.  Thank you.  Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.

          8                 Next panel, is Lillian Rodriguez

          9  Lopez; a representative from HITN TV; and the Aspira

         10  Association.

         11                 While they're getting seated, a

         12  number of organizations couldn't stay, and they have

         13  asked for their testimony to be submitted into the

         14  record.  The following organizations have submitted

         15  testimony in support of the resolution:   New York

         16  Presbyterian Hospital, Southwest Brooklyn Industrial

         17  Development Corporation, Downtown Brooklyn Council;

         18  Redline Designs, Rockaway Development and

         19  Revitalization Corporation, Mouse, Flushing Chinese

         20  Business Association, the Associated Blind

         21  Incorporated, Greater Jamaica Development

         22  Corporation, Downtown Real Estate Chamber of

         23  Commerce, East Harlem Chamber of Commerce, Queens

         24  Center for Progress, Services for People with

         25  Developmental Disabilities, and the West Side
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          2  Chamber of Commerce.  All of that will be entered

          3  into the record.

          4                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: My name is  --  First,

          5  Chairman Avella for giving us an opportunity to be

          6  here today.  My name is Jose Luis Rodriguez. I'm the

          7  President of the Hispanic Information and

          8  Telecommunications Network.  We are here today to

          9  respectfully request from this Committee, Majority

         10  Leader Rivera, also.  The reason we are here today

         11  is to respectfully request that the existing

         12  resolution be amended to include provisions to

         13  require to condition the negotiations with new cable

         14  providers to condition to include New York based,

         15  minority managed, educational Latino educational

         16  channels in the system.

         17                 HITN at the present time, is the

         18  largest and the only educational cable provider in

         19  the United States.  We reach about 18 million

         20  households throughout the country.  We are being

         21  carried right now on the basic tier of the satellite

         22  systems.  Yet, in New York based organization, we

         23  are not present in the cable systems in New York

         24  City, except the Time Warner System.  And even

         25  there, we are carried in what we call "the digital

                                                            235

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  ghetto", which is a ala carte tier that the industry

          3  have set aside to put Spanish language content.

          4  Unfortunately, the numbers of Latinos subscribed to

          5  that tier is very small.  I don't think that in any

          6  case, it's more than 15 percent of the Latino

          7  subscribers.

          8                 Therefore, the majority of Latinos

          9  are not taking advantage, cannot take advantage of

         10  the fact that we are providing educational content.

         11  They have to pay extra for it.

         12                 I understand Council Member Brewer

         13  raised the issue before about getting content into

         14  the schools.  Getting cable to the schools.  Our

         15  content, even if there is cable in the schools,

         16  often it's an educational based content, cannot make

         17  it.  Yet, we have distance learning content that

         18  could be used in the school systems in New York

         19  City.  We have adult- based education that could be

         20  used in a number of nonprofit organizations in the

         21  City, to be able to provide for needs that have been

         22  identified out there that are not being  --  that

         23  are increasingly non- existent in our City.

         24                 I understand that for every Latino

         25  that can make it into a GED program in the City, in
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          2  a program sponsored by the City or by a nonprofit,

          3  there are about 29 waiting in a list.  Our

          4  organization is providing GED, and right now, they

          5  cannot get this content.

          6                 I understand that there are some

          7  concerns whether this Council is empowered to

          8  require content.  I know most of it the discussion

          9  that have taken place this morning have been

         10  requirements mainly physical requirements, the

         11  buildout and all that.  But you are, in a way,

         12  mandating content when you ask for public PEG

         13  channels, which you should, when you are requiring

         14  these additional networks, it is the same principle.

         15    There is certain -  you are requiring that content

         16  because that content is needed by the majority of

         17  the people in the City.

         18                 We want you to also consider the

         19  Latino needs of our community, which represents

         20  close to 30 percent of the City as needs that could

         21  be provided for by a channel like HITN.  Thank you.

         22                 I would like to introduce Mr. Greg

         23  Rohde.  Mr. Rhode is the former Assistant Secretary

         24  for the Department of Commerce. He was the head of

         25  NTIA, and he was a point person for
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          2  telecommunications in the Clinton Administration,

          3  and one of the main drivers for the digital divide

          4  solutions in telecommunications.  And also of the e-

          5  rate (phonetic) program in this country.  Thank you

          6  Greg.

          7                 MR. ROHDE: Thank you.  Thank you Mr.

          8  Chairman for holding this hearing, and Members of

          9  the Committee.

         10                 It's actually very fitting you're

         11  holding the hearing today, because 79 years ago

         12  today, September 7, 1927, an Idaho potato farmer

         13  named Filo Farnsworth was the very first to

         14  successfully transmit a video image electronically,

         15  And he sat in a abandoned warehouse in San Francisco

         16  with some engineers, and he called it the electronic

         17  television.  And that was 79 years ago today.  Now

         18  one would think that the guy who invented television

         19  probably died a very wealthy happy man, but actually

         20  his story is quite more tragic than that, and it's

         21  there's an interesting lesson in that story.  He

         22  chose to remain an independent entrepreneur.  He did

         23  not want to sell his product to RCA or to General

         24  Electric. And he spent the rest of his professional

         25  career in court, battling them, and died a very
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          2  frustrated person, who saw somebody else take his

          3  invention and run off with it.  The lesson here is

          4  that business in itself, sometimes, is not

          5  necessarily fair or kind to independent

          6  entrepreneurs.

          7                 In the past 10 years, since the

          8  Congress passed the Landmark Telecommunications Act

          9  in 1996, the communications landscape has changed

         10  dramatically.  For the most part, consumers have

         11  seen more choices, and lower rates in local phone

         12  service. Same with mobile phone service.  The same

         13  with long distance service.  There's one area where

         14  in the communications landscape that's changed very,

         15  very little, and that's the area of multi video

         16  cable service.

         17                 Some exceptions to the fact, that

         18  we've seen some growth in direct broadcast

         19  satellite.  For the most part, most citizens of New

         20  York, most citizens in the country, if you will,

         21  have very few  --  no choices when it comes to

         22  multi- channel programming.

         23                 If indeed it is the case that your

         24  resolution, as you desire, introduces more

         25  competition and more choice, which I certainly hope
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          2  it does, and this can be very good for consumers,

          3  and very good for the market, that's a very good

          4  step.  But still, even as you enter  --  as you've

          5  start today to try and introduce at least one new

          6  competitor, still, that new entrant, as well as the

          7  incumbents, enjoy a significant amount of power and

          8  authority and control over what kind of programming

          9  your constituents can watch.

         10                 So today, our message is asking you,

         11  as you consider this resolution, to give the

         12  authority to the Administration to negotiate these

         13  franchise agreements, is to make sure that it's

         14  explicit enough in that language to say that, as

         15  you're going to give these franchise agreements,

         16  they should reflect the cultural diversity of the

         17  local community.  It goes without saying, New York

         18  City is one of the most culturally diverse and

         19  ethnic diverse cities, not only in the United

         20  States, but in the world.

         21                 Those who are offering multi- channel

         22  video services in the City ought to be  --  their

         23  programming ought to reflect that.  And so, our

         24  message to you is to, just as you are appropriately

         25  looking at requirements specifically that these
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          2  franchise agreements include access to public access

          3  channels, but also reflect the culture and diversity

          4  of the City.  Thank you.

          5                 MS. LOPEZ: Thank you Mr. Chairman,

          6  Majority Leader Rivera, and Councilman Jackson.  I

          7  really appreciate this opportunity to speak before

          8  you today.

          9                 Unfortunately, sometimes I know more

         10  about certain things that I'd like to know.  And in

         11  addition to being the President of the Hispanic

         12  Federation, I am also the co- chair of Broadband

         13  Everywhere, which is a national organization

         14  comprised of advocates, organizations, and some

         15  industry people around the deployment of broadband

         16  technology throughout the country.  So I've been

         17  privy to a lot of information regarding the rollouts

         18  in other states and other cities, over the course of

         19  several months now, if not two years.

         20                 The record of some of the companies

         21  that we're talking about, in terms of community

         22  service, the history in New York, the records of

         23  philanthropy is not in question for me.  I come here

         24  telling you that I support competition.  I greatly

         25  support competition.  But when we pass this
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          2  resolution, and it's given forward to the City of

          3  New York, the issue of buildout and deployment is

          4  very important.  It is critically important.

          5                 We hear lots of things that speak to

          6  the level of commitment to poor, ethnic, immigrant,

          7  urban communities.  You have asked, what is a level

          8  playing field?  We're a regional organization.  But

          9  our heart and soul is in New York City.  If people

         10  say, we're willing to pay six or five percent in

         11  franchise fees.  We're going to do more.  And they

         12  only pay three, it doesn't matter, because it will

         13  get passed on to the consumer.

         14                 If you hear people telling you, we're

         15  going to have all of these channels, look at the

         16  type of channels they are. Sometimes they're not the

         17  very important public service programming, or

         18  educational programming.  Or ethnic programming that

         19  is in a basic package or free.  It's premium

         20  channels.

         21                 And so I just want to bring those

         22  issue to your attention, because some people say the

         23  devil is in the details.  I believe God is in the

         24  details.  And those are the things that we have to

         25  build in and consider when we look at a resolution
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          2  that goes forward to the City of New York.

          3                 If we anticipate that adding new

          4  providers and services to the cable market will

          5  result in lower prices for all consumers, my

          6  argument, our argument has been that it has to

          7  proportionately benefit the poor, ethnic, and

          8  immigrant communities.  The communities that

          9  Councilman Jackson, that also Member Rivera talked

         10  about.  Because the rollout  --  and I know that I'm

         11  on one minute  --  we've heard the deployment is

         12  expensive and it's complicated.  And that all the

         13  companies understand that communities of color in

         14  this City represent an important economic market and

         15  an important economic engine.  But while this may be

         16  accurate, we need to ensure that these new

         17  technologies benefit these communities at the

         18  earliest stages of deployment so that when

         19  competition hits, that the people in your district,

         20  and all of your districts see that reduction right

         21  away.  Not in year four, not in year eight, not in

         22  year ten.

         23                 The other thing that I want to

         24  emphasize  --  and if I can be helpful to you and

         25  your bill, and having things come back to you with
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          2  regards to the cable franchising, I would more than

          3  welcome to be helpful to the Council in some way.

          4                 Local control.  One of the things

          5  that we have been --  and I have been vehemently

          6  arguing against in the Congress, on behalf of New

          7  York, New Jersey, and certain other states is, that

          8  we should have local controls, that you cannot

          9  determine what the infrastructure needs, or the

         10  community needs are in New York, in Washington D.C.

         11  Only we understand the complexities that effect our

         12  City.  Thank you so much for this time.

         13                 MR. CASANOVA: Mr. Chairman, and

         14  Members of the Council, thank you for having us.  My

         15  name is John Villamil Casanova.  I'm the Executive

         16  Vice President and Chief Information Officer of the

         17  Aspira Association.

         18                 Aspira is an organization that was

         19  developed in New York City in 1961, and works with

         20  the Latinos and other minorities in the area of

         21  education.  It's well known around the City.  It's

         22  well known around the nation.  Aspira, based upon

         23  our involvement in education, and our special

         24  interest in New York and the education of our

         25  community of New York City, we would like to take
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          2  this opportunity to request the Council to condition

          3  new and existing cable franchises to include HITN as

          4  a public interest channel in their basic tiers.  Our

          5  position is based on the following:  HITN TV is a

          6  unique channel, even among the Spanish language

          7  channels.  HITN is America's only nonprofit Latino

          8  operated educational television network.

          9                 We strongly believe that the basic

         10  tiers where HITN TV belongs given this, is a

         11  nonprofit channel that provides educational and

         12  informative content of needs to the Latino youth and

         13  their families.

         14                 The Hispanic community is

         15  particularly a working class families, is under-

         16  served if HITN TV is only being put on premium-

         17  priced tier.  HITN provides much- needed programming

         18  to the Latino community.

         19                 HITN provides the Latinos a bridge to

         20  better life by delivering English as a second

         21  language programming, GED courses, news and

         22  information about access to government services, and

         23  community- relevant cultural information.  No other

         24  channel, Mr. Chairman, provides equivalent

         25  programming.  In a time where the prevalence of
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          2  adult education programs is disappearing from the

          3  City, HITN programming is essential to the

          4  educational advancement of New York's Latino

          5  community.

          6                 And as Mr. Rohde indicated, if HITN

          7  TV is not carried in the basic tier, it won't get

          8  into our schools, and all this wealth of knowledge,

          9  information, and programming won't be available to

         10  our children.

         11                 And also, let's be honest.  These

         12  companies will not think about putting English

         13  language educational programming beyond the reach of

         14  the basic tier customers.  They should not be

         15  allowed to do that to its Spanish language

         16  customers.

         17                 Carrying HITN TV on basic should be

         18  the minimum these companies should be required to

         19  do, to serve the hundreds of thousands of Hispanic

         20  subscribers in the areas that are served by these

         21  companies.

         22                 Based upon the above, we respectfully

         23  would like to request the City Council to condition

         24  these franchises to include HITN as a public

         25  interest channel in their basic tiers.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.  I

          4  know Council Member Rivera has a question.  Before I

          5  call upon him, I guess I have a couple of comments.

          6  You and I spoke the other day, and I have received

          7  copy of the actual text amendment that you'd like to

          8  be introduced into the resolution.  I'm going to

          9  have Council's Land Use staff review it.  We will

         10  also submit it to the Administration.  But the

         11  initial thinking is something which you and I have

         12  already discussed, is that federal law, the

         13  Telecommunications Act, prevents local

         14  municipalities from enforcing content on the cable

         15  franchises.  So how do you  --  I'm sort of asking

         16  for your  --  how do you address that, given the

         17  fact that we are specifically prohibited from

         18  telling the cable franchises what they can put on,

         19  and I guess what tier they can show it as well?

         20                 MR. CASANOVA: I will yield to Mr.

         21  Rohde that question.

         22                 MR. RHODE: Okay.  I would argue that

         23  the same authority that you can use to require

         24  public access channels  -- we're just simply saying

         25  you could be more explicit on that.  I think the
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          2  regulation is referring to actually has very broad

          3  language in it, but I do think you have some

          4  flexibility, and I do think it would be to what

          5  degree of specificity you get to is where you cross

          6  that line.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Well I think

          8  which would be very helpful, if you can do an

          9  analysis of that particular section of the

         10  Telecommunications Act, and why you believe that the

         11  HITN network can be included in that, would be very

         12  helpful.

         13                 MR. ROHDE: Yes.  We definitely will.

         14  In fact, we already started discussions with your

         15  Counsel and we'll continue that.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Great.  Council

         17  Member Rivera.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Thank you

         19  again Mr. Chair.

         20                 Thank you guys and girls for being

         21  here today.  I know you've been here for a very,

         22  very long time, very patiently waiting, as everybody

         23  has testified.  But I just have a couple of

         24  questions, especially for HITN.

         25                 You are on Time Warner now.
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          2                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: That's correct.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: On what level?

          4                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: We are on channel 811.

          5    It's a digital tier that Time Warner has set aside

          6  that includes about 20 or 25 Spanish- language

          7  channels.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: And how much

          9  extra does that tier cost?

         10                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: I think it's between

         11  seven and ten dollars.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: So it's an

         13  extra seven or ten dollars per month for that

         14  specific digital tier that includes about 25.

         15                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: Yes.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Are you on

         17  Cablevision?

         18                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: I'm not on

         19  Cablevision.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: You're not on

         21  Cablevision. Are you on any other networks like RCN

         22  or  --

         23                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: No.  We have been in

         24  conversations with other companies on New York City.

         25    And unfortunately, we have not been able to reach
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          2  an agreement.  That's one of the reasons we're here

          3  today.  We believe that our service should be a

          4  basic tier.  We have in the existing Time Warner

          5  agreement, sort of a path towards getting to more

          6  subscribers on the digital ghetto as I call it,

          7  where we've been placed now.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Is there a

          9  particular reason why you're not on Cablevision or

         10  RCN?

         11                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: Again, we have not

         12  been able to agreed on the terms of the agreement.

         13  We're in conversations.  I would like to say that

         14  we're in conversations with them. Hopefully, we

         15  could reach an agreement.  We have been able to

         16  reach agreements nationwide with other companies.

         17  So we believe that there's no reason why, hopefully

         18  not in the City, we cannot reach agreement as well.

         19                 As I mentioned earlier, it's really a

         20  pity that we're New York based content provider and

         21  the only Hispanic content provider educational in

         22  the country, and yet most of our subscribers in New

         23  York City can not see us.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Now that's

         25  specifically why I'm asking the question.  Because I

                                                            250

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  do have a wealth of population within my district in

          3  the Bronx that would definitely really appreciate to

          4  see your programming, especially since it's geared

          5  towards the older, elderly you know seniors, who

          6  only speak Spanish.  Things of that nature to get

          7  the information broadcasted to them directly.  So I

          8  would definitely like to see you expanded you know,

          9  in terms of the City and in terms of the State.

         10                 Now in terms of the question on the

         11  legality of you know, mandating your channel, your

         12  station, on a particular basic tier.  Now are you

         13  proposing to become a public- access type of

         14  channel?  Or  --

         15                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: No.  We are not a

         16  public access channel.  We are more  --  there's a

         17  distinction between public access and public

         18  interest channel.  We're more in a public interest

         19  channel.  And we like the public PBS channels are.

         20  We depend on sponsors in order to be able to provide

         21  our content and to operate.  Therefore, that

         22  inability to be able to reach more subscribers you

         23  know, reduces our chances of securing the necessary

         24  revenue to really maintain and grow our channel.

         25                 You mentioned something else, Mr.
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          2  Councilman.   And that is seniors.  Seniors, in our

          3  community, is a very large percentage of our

          4  community, and they are the ones who really do not

          5  have seven, six, or even five dollars.  Believe it

          6  or not, it's a big item for them, to be able to

          7  spend on a monthly basis.  And that's why you don't

          8  see that much penetration.  And yet, those seniors

          9  are the ones that in our community, have more impact

         10  in the education of our kids.  Because they're the

         11  ones to make sure that our kids you know, do the

         12  homework, and sometimes, they're the caregivers,

         13  because their parents are working.  And for them not

         14  to be able to have access to this content, we are

         15  again, directly and indirectly affecting the kids

         16  that could benefit from our content.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: I saw in one

         18  of the testimonies, I think it's from your testimony

         19  that it states that on the federal side, they have

         20  stated that the franchise committees can say what

         21  public interest stations can be on those kind of

         22  stations.  Am I correct?

         23                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: In my testimony?

         24                 MR. ROHDE: Which testimony are you

         25  referring to sir?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: I'm reading it

          3  over here. It's about  --  it does mention the last

          4  paragraph, that the federal government has alluded

          5  that franchising committees may mandate the

          6  educational and/or public interest channels to be

          7  placed on basic tier.  So there's precedent for it

          8  in other areas?

          9                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: We maintain that yes,

         10  that the fact that the same principle that applied

         11  to public interest channels test is really applies

         12  to the requirement that we are asking you to ask or

         13  demand from the multi- service providers in the

         14  City.

         15                 MR. ROHDE: One comment I want to add

         16  is that keep in mind, currently, the two satellite

         17  systems give direct by satellite.  Those two systems

         18  are required by the Federal Communications

         19  Commission to provide public access, public interest

         20  channels, and that's where HITN is carried on those

         21  two satellite systems, of which somebody does not

         22  have to subscribe to a premium package in order to

         23  get access to that content.  So we're saying,

         24  consistent with that,   --  you know, there's been a

         25  lot of discussion here today about level playing
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          2  field, and you know, I don't know if we're here to

          3  argue whether a level playing field should be level.

          4    It's always a matter of perspective, I understand.

          5    But we're just saying you know, whether it's level

          6  or uneven, or whatever, give us a chance to get on

          7  the field.  You know, don't resign us to a little

          8  playground off the main event, so that somebody has

          9  to pay an extra ticket in order to go see it. Just

         10  give us a chance to get on the same field as

         11  everybody else, so everybody can have access to this

         12  programming.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Thank you.  I

         14  mean, just out of disclosure, HITN is an

         15  organization that I've you know doubled for a number

         16  of years, and we have a long- standing relationship.

         17  We understand the vision and the mission of the

         18  organization. Unfortunately, it's not you know,

         19  aired in the Bronx the way we would like it to be

         20  aired.  And we're hopeful that that would change in

         21  the future.  And hopefully, they'll be aired all

         22  over the City of New York.  Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: I would just add,

         24  that irrespective of this resolution, whatever we

         25  come to terms on, or can or cannot do, that
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          2  certainly this Committee is available to help you in

          3  negotiations.  Or even discussions in setting up

          4  meetings with Time Warner and Cablevision, and maybe

          5  perhaps in the future, Verizon.  But we certainly

          6  agree, I'm sure I speak for my colleagues, that the

          7  cable franchises should reflect the diversity of the

          8  City of New York.  Council Member Jackson.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you Mr.

         10  Chair.

         11                 So if you had your way, the

         12  programming that you provide now would be on public

         13  access?  If you had your way?

         14                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: I'm sorry.  We'll be

         15  in the basic tier.  On the basic cable tier.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  So on

         17  the basic cable tier.

         18                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Ideally, not

         20  public access?

         21  Because  --  and you know why I ask that question,

         22  right?  I ask that question because public access

         23  you know, I guess it's free, but you would have to

         24  have the cable I guess, the basic cable, to get that

         25  public access.  Is that correct?
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          2                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: Yes.  Well, as I under

          3    --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: What about if

          5  somebody did not have cable at all?  And can't

          6  afford it.  And they have an antenna, the rabbit

          7  antennas.  Will they be able to get your channel, or

          8  your programming if it was public access?

          9                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: No.  And they won't be

         10  able to get public access channels either, because

         11  those are broadcast channels and the cable, by its

         12  nature, you need to be wired   --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.  But

         14  what about the you know, when you buy the rabbit

         15  ears, they have VHF or VFW or whatever it is, and UF

         16  or whatever, and if you turn, you'll be able to get

         17  channels other than channel 13 on that.  Isn't that

         18  the same thing?  Help me out here.  I'm a lay

         19  person, I'm not a   --  this is just not my

         20  business.

         21                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: Yes.  Those are

         22  different frequencies that are licensed by the

         23  Federal Communications Commission.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I see.

         25                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: And there are limited
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          2  number of those frequencies, and particularly in

          3  this market, New York City, it's totally  --  it's

          4  the most crowded market out there, and there is no

          5  frequency available here that we can take advantage

          6  of.  If there were, we'd be applying for it.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Do you mean

          8  to tell me there is no frequency.

          9                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: There are no

         10  frequencies available a this point in the New York

         11  market to be able to be apply for.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Under those

         13  whatever, UF -

         14                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: UHF and VHF.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I see.  So in

         16  essence, you're saying since that's not available,

         17  the next best thing is to include it in the minimum

         18  cable package possible.  Is that correct?

         19                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: Exactly.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Basic cable.

         21                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: In the basic  --  yes.

         22    And there are different packages, or different

         23  tiers that cable have.  They have something called

         24  LLL cable, which I don't  --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Digital cable

                                                            257

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  and  --

          3                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: The LLL tier, which is

          4  the tier with the most- carried channels.  The over-

          5  the- air channels must be carried on.  That's where

          6  the PEG channels are also carried on. And also a

          7  number of channels that are owned by the cable

          8  operators are put on those tiers.  And then there is

          9  the expanded basic, and some of them have other

         10  names for it,  --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Like HBO,

         12  Showtime, all those things  --

         13                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: Those are premium

         14  channels.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes.

         16                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: Those are premium

         17  channels.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: To me, it's

         19  all expanded. The bottom line is you have to pay

         20  more for it.

         21                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: The bottom

         23  line for consumers.  You have to pay more.

         24                 All right.  So in essence, you want

         25  your programs to be within a basic package.  So that
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          2  as many people as possible can have access to it.

          3                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: Exactly.  And let --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I hear you

          5  loud and clear. Let me go to your  --  it seems as

          6  though this individual, he's more of the technical,

          7  government operations  --  No?  It appeared that way

          8  to me.  But anyway, my question to you is, I guess

          9  to both of you, anyone, you heard our Chair

         10  indicated that he will try to include this in there,

         11  but the City you know, whatever  --  Is there any

         12  other states or municipalities or is there any type

         13  of court precedent that would allow for that to

         14  happen, so that we can include that in?  Because the

         15  City may say no.  Or the federal government doesn't

         16  allow that to happen, so it can't happen.  We need

         17  some ammunition in order to counter that.

         18                 MR. ROHDE: Yes.  The answer to your

         19  question is, I do not know if there is another

         20  precedent at the local level.  But I just will

         21  commit to work with you to make the strongest case

         22  that you have, so that we wouldn't be asking to do

         23  something we don't think that you're going to get

         24  shot down on.  Because that doesn't help what HITN

         25  is trying to accomplish here.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Just for the

          4  record, let me remind everybody, we still have over

          5  20 speakers to go.  Council Member Brewer.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I'll be very

          7  brief, Mr. Chair.

          8                 I do support certainly, you being

          9  part of the basic tier.  What would be the

         10  difference?  I asked Verizon folks, you know,

         11  regarding whether they would participate in such a

         12  discussion, and of course, their answer was, you

         13  know, yes.  But what would be the difference to the

         14  consumer?  I think it would be tremendous if you had

         15  to negotiate system by system, company by company,

         16  versus being part of the basic tier.  What would be

         17  the -  I mean, there would be a difference in terms

         18  of access?  There would be a difference in terms of

         19  cost?  Et cetera.

         20                 MR. RODRIGUEZ: Both.  It would be a

         21  different in terms of access, because now we will be

         22  able to reach a larger number of subscribers.  And

         23  for the consumer, it would be less costly to see us.

         24

         25                 I would like to point out, Council
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          2  Member Brewer, that about 20 percent now of our

          3  viewers are non- Hispanic.  These are people that

          4  are interested in the Spanish language, that are

          5  want to keep up with the language, that also want to

          6  keep up with what our committee is doing, what is

          7  our committee thinking. Policy makers, college

          8  professors.  And we're not only providing a service

          9  to the Latino community.  We're providing a service

         10  to other people that are interested in learning

         11  about what our issues are, or what our concerns are

         12  as well.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I want full

         14  disclosure. Council Member and I agree, we're fans.

         15  Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.  Next

         17  panel is KMM Telecommunications, Katherine McConvay.

         18    Is she here?  Okay.  Robyn Bellamy.  I can't make

         19  out the first word.  Nancy O'Connell.  And Gail

         20  Mazin.

         21                 MS. BELLAMY: Good afternoon.  My name

         22  is Gail Bellamy.  I am the Senior Vice President of

         23  Institutional Advancement at the Prospect Park

         24  Alliance.  The Alliance is the advocacy arm for

         25  Brooklyn's Prospect Park, a pastoral oasis for
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          2  relaxation, sports, and cultural activities for

          3  hundreds of thousands of Brooklynites.

          4                 One of our flagship educational

          5  programs is the Audubon Center.  Here, students and

          6  visitors can learn over high speed interactive video

          7  about indigenous birds, wildlife, and the delicate

          8  environmental balance.  The Center depends on

          9  advanced data and video technology.  But it is only

         10  the start.  To enhance our educational programs, and

         11  transport them to classrooms outside of our area, we

         12  will need a truly state- of- the- art communications

         13  system, capable of carrying super fast data and

         14  video signals. Verizon advanced fiber network could

         15  provide such a platform and partnership.

         16                 Passage of this resolution is the

         17  first step in bringing information- age data and

         18  video technology to cultural institutions,

         19  educators, students, and residents of New York City,

         20  and beyond.  I urge this Subcommittee to vote in

         21  favor of this resolution without delay.  Thank you.

         22                 MS. MCCONVAY: Thank you for the

         23  opportunity to testify today.  My name is Katherine

         24  McConvay.  I'm the Founder of KMM

         25  Telecommunications, a woman- owned, New York City

                                                            262

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON ZONING AND FRANCHISES

          2  based company. I come before this Subcommittee today

          3  to lend my support for the franchise resolution now

          4  before you.

          5                 When I say my company had a hand in

          6  the fiber to the prem (sic) network that carries

          7  Verizon's FiOS TV, that's literally true. KMM

          8  provides material management and planning, cable

          9  cutting, and distribution, same- day service for

         10  short- interval, fiber optic cable, copper

         11  communications cable, and center office wire

         12  products.  I am proud to tell you that KMM is part

         13  of the growing team of Verizon employees and vendors

         14  who are creating the network of the future for New

         15  York City.

         16                 My business may not be here today

         17  without the mentoring and information sharing

         18  Verizon provided when I started this woman- owned

         19  business 13 years ago.  As a result, KMM employs 125

         20  people, and does $45 million a year in business with

         21  Verizon each year.  We are here to stay, and excited

         22  about our future in New York City.

         23                 As a telecom business owner, it's an

         24  exciting time to be in the industry.  The advances

         25  in technology are astounding, and the future
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          2  opportunities are limitless.

          3                 By approving this resolution, Verizon

          4  and others will continue to make substantive

          5  investments in their networks, and provide

          6  opportunities and services that benefit our workers

          7  and all New Yorkers.  Thank you for your

          8  consideration.

          9                 MS. MAZIN: Okay.  This will be brief.

         10    Good afternoon.  My name is Gail Mazin, and I'm a

         11  Development Officer for the New York Historical

         12  Society, located on Central Park West and 77th

         13  Street.  The New York Historical Society is an

         14  educational institution housing New York City's

         15  oldest museum  --  we were founded in 1804  --  and

         16  one of the nation's most distinguished research

         17  libraries.

         18                 On behalf of the Society, I wish to

         19  express support for the franchise resolution now

         20  before this Subcommittee.

         21                 The Society appreciates the power of

         22  broadband technology.  More than ever before, our

         23  exhibitions and education programs rely on advanced

         24  data, interactive and video technologies. Today,

         25  museums such as ours, must be able to transport our
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          2  collections and exhibitions over video lines, and

          3  any efforts by alternate providers to enhance our

          4  ability to reach a diverse off site audiences, would

          5  be most welcome.

          6                 Accessible high- speed broad band

          7  technology is key to the information age.  We

          8  believe Verizon is well equipped to deliver the

          9  power of this technology to New York City residents

         10  and institutions, and hope the Subcommittee will

         11  embrace this initiative and approve the video

         12  franchise resolution before you today.  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: The next panel,

         14  Juan Martinez. I think he's already left.  He left a

         15  statement in favor.  Mike Hickey, is it Hallen

         16  Construction?  Indicated he's in favor.  Is he here?

         17    No.  We now have, I understand, a number of people

         18  who have signed up also in favor who I believe to be

         19  the case, are waiving their time to speak.  I'll

         20  read their name.  If you're not waiving your time,

         21  just come up.  Peter Koo, from the Flushing Chinese

         22  Business Association, in favor.  Edith Prentiss, in

         23  favor.  Sari Halper Dickson, from New York Hospital,

         24  Queens, in favor.  Raymond Irrera, from the Queens

         25  Chamber of Commerce, in favor.  Migdalia Rivera,
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          2  from the Puerto Rican Family Institute, in favor.

          3  Again, if somebody wants to come up and speak, when

          4  I read your name, just come up.  Andrew Albert, in

          5  favor.  It says from Verizon.  Lisa Alvarado Sorin,

          6  from the Bronx Chamber of Commerce.  Okay, come on

          7  up please.  Ms. Abreu, from the Women's Chamber of

          8  Commerce.  Okay. Theresa Rodriguez, Asian Pacific

          9  Islander Coalition on HIV/AIDS. Carole Wacey.  She

         10  left.  In favor.

         11                 Just push the button.

         12                 MS. SORIN: Good afternoon.  My name

         13  is Lisa Alvarado Sorin.  And I am the President of

         14  the Bronx Chamber of Commerce. I would like to thank

         15  the Council Members for the opportunity to appear

         16  before you today.  On behalf of the Bronx Chamber, I

         17  would also like to add my support for the resolution

         18  now before this Subcommittee.

         19                 The Bronx Chamber promotes business

         20  initiatives and economic opportunities within the

         21  borough.  In short, we work to connect today's

         22  businesses to a more profitable and successful

         23  tomorrow.

         24                 Competition is really the hallmark of

         25  American business.  And businesses, both large and
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          2  small, understand the benefits that competition

          3  brings.  The majority of our members operate small

          4  businesses, some of which are home based.  We know

          5  all too well that state- of- the- art technology is

          6  what makes our businesses competitive.  It brings

          7  reliability, speed, efficiency, and reach to our

          8  operations.

          9                 We whole- heartedly support bringing

         10  competition to the cable market in New York City.

         11  And any resolution that will help Verizon's

         12  determination to invest in a high- speed fiber data

         13  network.  Thank you.

         14                 MS. RODRIGUEZ: Good afternoon.  My

         15  name is Theresa Rodriguez, Executive Director of the

         16  Asian and Pacific Islander Coalition on HIV/AIDS.

         17  APICHA.

         18                 APICHA is a one- stop shop of

         19  HIV/AIDS services, serving primarily people of Asian

         20  and Pacific Islander descent.  We operate in an HIV

         21  primary care clinic.  We provide social services to

         22  persons living with HIV/AIDS.  We outreach to

         23  thousands of people every year, and promote

         24  awareness of HIV through media.  We conduct HIV

         25  counseling and testing to thousands.
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          2                 Through our varied services and

          3  activities, we have come to understand the value of

          4  affordable, efficient, and accessible media.

          5  Broadcast media is especially important to the

          6  populations we serve.  That's why we support any

          7  additional choice for the cable television in New

          8  York City.  Verizon's FiOS TV is a powerful new

          9  outlet for that important information sharing.

         10                 Verizon has been APICHA's

         11  telecommunications provider for over 16 years.  It

         12  has helped APICHA reap the benefits of advanced

         13  technology by providing reliable service and

         14  immediate responses to our telecommunications

         15  problems.  With this track record, we believe

         16  Verizon's entry into the cable market will serve the

         17  interests of our communities.

         18                 Aside from service reliability, the

         19  company is cognizant of the needs of the communities

         20  it serves, always seeking for ways to keep these

         21  communities socially and economically healthy.  It

         22  cares about being a good corporate citizen.

         23                 Having worked with Verizon employee

         24  volunteers, and seeing their commitment, we know

         25  first hand of Verizon's corporate culture and
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          2  customer care.  We need companies that are focused

          3  on strengthening the economic fiber of, and

          4  improving the quality of life in our communities.

          5  We ask you to join us in supporting this resolution,

          6  and to approve it as soon as possible.

          7                 MS. ABREU: Good afternoon.  And thank

          8  you to the Subcommittee for this opportunity.  I

          9  also stand in support of this resolution.  My name

         10  is Quenia Abreu, and I'm the President of the New

         11  York Women's Chamber of Commerce, an organization

         12  that was to support women in business in New York

         13  City.

         14                 This action is good for New York

         15  business, good for consumers, and good for

         16  competition.  We believe that real competition would

         17  keep cable TV rates in check and at the same time,

         18  lead to a wider selection of programming, and better

         19  customer service.

         20                 Our members are particularly excited

         21  about the opportunities that Verizon's FiOS TV gives

         22  to women who run film production companies, media,

         23  and advertising agencies, which you probably know.

         24  And if you've been following the news, there is a

         25  shortage of this opportunity for our women and
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          2  minority business owners.  FiOS TV opens up an

          3  entirely new outlet for them to grow their business.

          4    Many of these business leaders are Latinos and

          5  other women of color.

          6                 I ask you to support this resolution.

          7    However, I do have one request for Verizon.  And

          8  it's that for you to commit to hiring New Yorkers,

          9  not outside the United States, which is the case

         10  with some of these system cable companies.  It

         11  infuriates me when I call technical support, or when

         12  I call customer service, and I get answered by

         13  someone in India or Argentina.  Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.  Okay.

         15    Florence Rice, in favor.  Is she here?  Waiving

         16  the opportunity to speak. She's here.  Okay.  All

         17  right.  Jeffrey Chen.  Michelle Pullaro. She's

         18  waiving.  She's in favor.  Kevin Alexander, from the

         19  Rockaway Development.  Okay, waived.  In favor.

         20  Alma Alston.

         21                 MS. RICE: Good afternoon.  Thank you

         22  for having me here.  And my name is Florence M.

         23  Rice.  I am Founder and President of the Harlem

         24  Consumer Education Council.  The Council works to

         25  inform, educate, and protect consumer rights in the
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          2  greater Harlem community.

          3                 I voice my support for the resolution

          4  now before the Committee.  It is crystal clear to

          5  consumer advocates that passage of this resolution

          6  will result in benefits to cable.  And also to many

          7  public access customers.  Passage of this resolution

          8  will open the door for new services providers, and

          9  bring competition that will deliver lower prices,

         10  new features, and improved services.

         11                 I support, in supporting this

         12  resolution, it will give New Yorkers in Harlem and

         13  in communities throughout the City, an opportunity

         14  for new choices.  It is best action elected

         15  officials can take to turn around the steady

         16  increase in cable prices.

         17                 As a consumer leader in my community,

         18  I urge you to support this resolution.  Thank you.

         19                 MR. CHEN: Good afternoon.  My name is

         20  Jeffrey Chen. I am Director of the Workforce

         21  Development division of the Chinese American

         22  Planning Council.  I want to thank Mr. Chairman as

         23  well as the remaining distinguished Members of the

         24  Council, in which this case, Council Member Jackson,

         25  for lending a voice to the public, and to be heard
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          2  in this matter.

          3                 And the bottom line is, as Florence

          4  has stated, is about consumer choice.  It is those

          5  very consumers and our clients, that the Chinese

          6  American Planning Council has dedicated its work to

          7  helping since 1965, it's the year of its founding.

          8  We have helped thousands of people achieve economic

          9  self sufficiency and integration into the American

         10  mainstream right here in New York City.

         11                 The Chinese American Planning Council

         12  stands squarely behind this franchise resolution for

         13  Verizon.  We see an investment in fiber to the home

         14  as a benefit to our clients as they seek to access

         15  information and learn new skills for today's job

         16  market.

         17                 When I visit our day care centers and

         18  see kids learning to work their mouse before they

         19  can write, I also realize the critical importance of

         20  technology today for the new generation. In

         21  addition, our clients and their families want to

         22  take full advantage of an opportunity for new

         23  choices, like the cultural and ethnic programs that

         24  Verizon's FiOS TV offers in its lineup above and

         25  beyond what is offered through cable TV alone.
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          2                 We should really act now to promote

          3  this newer technology and not fall behind the rest

          4  of the world or the nation. Please support the

          5  resolution.  Thank you for your attention.

          6                 MS. ALSTON: Good afternoon.  My name

          7  is Alma Alston. I am a long- time resident of Harlem

          8  and a community leader.  And I stand in full support

          9  of this resolution.

         10                 While prices for telephones, cell

         11  phones, computers, and other technology products are

         12  going down, the price of cable television just keeps

         13  going up.  Why?  Because today, there is no choice

         14  of cable providers.  Consumers must pay up, or do

         15  without cable television.  For seniors, like myself,

         16  and others on a fixed income, this is particularly

         17  unfair and quite costly.

         18                 Today, cable television is not a

         19  luxury.  For me and other seniors, our only so-

         20  called choice today is to pay the cable company

         21  increase after increase, or live with those rabbit

         22  ears, on top of my TV, and watch a lot of fuzz.

         23                 I support this resolution because it

         24  will open the doors to new options, and give me and

         25  other consumers, aging consumers my age, a choice of
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          2  cable TV companies.  And sooner the better.  Thank

          3  you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: The next panel is

          5  Eduardo Giraldo, from Queens Hispanic Chamber.  Not

          6  here.  Wanted to speak in favor.  Shaun Belle, Mount

          7  Hope Housing, in favor.  Maryann McAleer, in favor.

          8  Neil Levin, in favor.  Okay.  Dan, is it Miner, Long

          9  Island City, I guess, Business Development

         10  Corporation, in favor.  Waived?  Here?  Not here?

         11  Dr. Giho Kim.  You're not waiving Giho?  Wait till I

         12  see you back in the district.  Moustafa Elshiekin,

         13  the Downtown Real Estate, waived.  He's in favor.

         14  Valerie Oliver Durrah, in favor.  Not here.

         15  Alecardo De La  -- can't make out the last name.

         16  Representing Verizon, 298 Rosebrook Drive, in favor.

         17    Helen Levine, from Greater Jamaica Development

         18  Corporation, in favor.  Vincent Lenza, from the

         19  Staten Island EDC, in favor.  Howard Friedman,

         20  Verizon, in favor.  Howard?  And Joe Rojas.  Joe?

         21  Do you want to make up the last panel?  Go ahead.

         22  You might as well.  And William Dubovsky, from the

         23  Staten Island Chamber of Commerce waived his time.

         24  He submitted testimony in favor.

         25                 First of all, I congratulate all of
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          2  you for sitting through this.  It's been a long day.

          3    Yes Bob, but you helped delay it.

          4                 MR. KIM: Mr. Chairman, and Members of

          5  the Committee. Good afternoon.  My name is Giho Kim.

          6    I am the Executive Director of the Korean American

          7  Counseling Center.  It's located in Flushing,

          8  Queens.  Our organization addresses emerging issues

          9  in the Korean community in Queens, all language and

         10  culture issues.

         11                 I'm here to advocate for the

         12  competition in the cable TV industry.  For too long,

         13  we have been served by one cable provider, resulting

         14  in relatively high subscription rates in our area.

         15  Studies have shown that when there are more than one

         16  cable provider in a community, rates usually go

         17  down, and service customers better.  With new state

         18  of fiber optics infrastructure from Verizon, we

         19  firmly believe that the many more language

         20  programming can be delivered to our community in

         21  lower rates.

         22                 So I urge the Council Member to vote

         23  for the choice and more competition.  Thank you.

         24                 MR. ROJAS: Council Member, and  --

         25  My name is Joe Rojas, and I'm the President of the
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          2  Latinos and Information Sciences and Technology

          3  Association for the New York Chapter.  I'm also the

          4  Chief Operating Officer of a company called Genic

          5  Solutions.  We're an IT provider.  And the mission

          6  of LISTA is to educate, motivate, and empower the

          7  Hispanic population with the use of technology, and

          8  advance of their economic condition, education

          9  attainment, and their political influence in the

         10  United States. And you know, we stand for

         11  competition.   We want competition. Competition is

         12  going to drive prices down.  We're very excited by

         13  that.  And everything that HITN said, they already

         14  said it for me, so I don't have anything else to

         15  say.

         16                 And thank you so much for the

         17  opportunity to speak before you today.

         18                 MR. FRIEDMAN: Okay.  Thank you.  I'm

         19  sure you're glad to see me.  Because I must be the

         20  last person.  My name is Howard Friedman.  I want to

         21  say good afternoon  --  I had good morning here, but

         22  I know it's good afternoon now.

         23                 I'm the President of the Harlem

         24  Interagency Council for the Aging, referred to as

         25  HICA in the Harlem community.  I want to thank you
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          2  for being here today just to offer my support for

          3  the resolution.

          4                 Most of my members are low income,

          5  fixed incomes. And while we, as HICA, provide many

          6  educational and services for our members, they turn

          7  to television for enjoyment in their own homes.

          8  Indeed, it is very much a part of their quality of

          9  life. Because many of our clients live in apartment

         10  houses, they rely on cable for clearer reception,

         11  diversity of programs.  But today's cable prices are

         12  much too expensive, especially for my seniors on

         13  their low incomes.

         14                 We support cable competition and

         15  choice, because it will provide much better service,

         16  offer new programs, and most importantly, help lower

         17  the prices.  In addition, Verizon has proven to us

         18  over a long period of time, they're our friend, and

         19  good corporate citizen to the Harlem community.  For

         20  many years, Verizon has used many of its resources

         21  for the benefit of the community, such as books for

         22  our kids, which I have a youth center, and they

         23  bring me books all the time.  Grants for grassroots

         24  organizations which need it the most.  And they have

         25  a technology training center on 25th Street, where
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          2  you can go to get training. The staff is wonderful.

          3  It's free.

          4                 And personally, working as an

          5  advocate for the homebound elderly, when you have a

          6  company that comes into the community with a

          7  service, and then where there are problems that

          8  arise like in any service, problem arises, I can

          9  talk to the highest level.  I have Vice Presidents

         10  call me back.  Because they say we want to take care

         11  of those seniors in your community.

         12                 And it was interesting that

         13  practically everybody I saw here from Verizon right

         14  to the gentle Mr. Dunne, has actually been in my

         15  neighborhood, and I have been in a meeting with him.

         16  And they're very accessible, and so I definitely

         17  trust that organization and on behalf of all my

         18  senior citizens, I ask you to support the

         19  resolution.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Thank you.  And

         21  if there's  -- I hate to even ask this  --  if

         22  there's nobody else signed up  to speak on this

         23  item,  --  you have to have the last word, right?

         24  Council Member Jackson, go ahead.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.
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          2  Well I just want to thank everyone for coming in.

          3  It's been a long day.  And especially thank the

          4  people like Florence Rice and the other woman from

          5  my community.  These are seniors that are in their

          6  80s, or late 70s, and to be here all day, let me

          7  just tell you, it makes me proud that we have

          8  activist like them coming down here.  And now

          9  whether or not they spoke in favor or against, it

         10  doesn't matter to me.  What matters to me is that

         11  they're involved in the process. And so I want to

         12  say that.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON AVELLA: Well you took the

         14  words out of my mouth.  I do want to thank everybody

         15  for coming down. Obviously, we will listen very

         16  carefully.  We have listened very carefully to the

         17  issues that were brought up today, and we'll be

         18  meeting with the respective parties to work out

         19  whatever amendments we can do in the resolution.

         20  And we do  --  at least it is my intention to move

         21  ahead expeditiously in this regard.

         22                 This closes the public hearing on

         23  this resolution. And this closes the meeting of the

         24  Subcommittee on Zoning and Franchises.

         25                 (The following written testimony was
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          2  read into the record.)

          3

          4                 Written testimony of:

          5                 Michelle Pullaro, Chief Operating

          6  Officer, Per Scholas, Inc.

          7                 Good morning and thank you for the

          8  opportunity to appear before this subcommittee

          9  today. My name is Michelle Pullaro and I am the

         10  Chief Operation Officer of Per Scholas- a Bronx-

         11  based New York City nonprofit dedicated to making

         12  the advantages of computer technology available to

         13  low- income communities. Over the past decade Per

         14  Scholas has distributed more than 55,000 computers

         15  at the lowest possible price, trained over 1200

         16  community residents to begin profitable careers as

         17  computer technicians and created over 50 permanent

         18  jobs in the South Bronx.

         19                 Verizon's deployment of a fiber- to-

         20  the- home network in the Bronx will bring even more

         21  opportunities for residents on disadvantaged areas

         22  of the city access advanced technology. Adding video

         23  service to the technology offering is of value to

         24  residents and the community. Having a choice of

         25  cable providers means competition. And that means
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          2  better quality and better service.

          3                 On behalf of the organization and the

          4  communities we represent, we support options that

          5  encourage innovation, competition and ultimately

          6  that best product for the best price for the

          7  communities that we serve.

          8

          9                 Written testimony of:

         10                 Henry M. Calderon, Chairperson, East

         11  Harlem Chamber of Commerce, Inc.

         12                 Dear Committee Members, Good Morning.

         13  Some of you may recall that for several years the

         14  telephone companies were protesting the entry of the

         15  cable companies into their business of providing

         16  voice communication over telephone wires. The cable

         17  companies were finally granted access and one could

         18  argue that the cost of the consumer for telephone

         19  service has decreased, to the point that I believe

         20  that the telephone companies and the cable companies

         21  are making as much money on other services such as

         22  ring tones and text massaging, as they are on

         23  regular telephone connections.

         24                 We now have the cable companies

         25  protesting the entry of the telephone companies into
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          2  their business of providing communication and

          3  entertainment services over cable wires. We know

          4  that telephone service to the consumer is now

          5  cheaper and there are more choices. If you look at

          6  the average cable bill over the past three years,

          7  you realize that the costs have increased.

          8                 Service, Quality and Price are driven

          9  by competition. It is said that "necessity is the

         10  mother of invention" but it is competition that for

         11  the most part, drives necessity.

         12                 I believe in competition. It is time

         13  for the able companies to face some real

         14  competition. It is better for the consumer. It is

         15  better for our economy. Thank you, Henry M.

         16  Calderon.

         17

         18                 Written testimony of:

         19                 Mitchell L. Moss, Professor of Urban

         20  Policy and Planning, Robert F. Wagner Graduate

         21  School of Public Service, New York University

         22                 Good morning. I am pleased to speak

         23  in support of competition on the telecommunications

         24  in New York City.

         25                 My name is Mitchell Moss. I was born
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          2  in Manhattan, and raised in Queens and am a product

          3  of our city's public school system. For the past 33

          4  years, I have been on the faculty of New York

          5  University. During the past half century, New York

          6  City has undergone enormous change, and nowhere is

          7  this more apparent than in the amount of quality of

          8  information and entertainment we produce   and

          9  consume.

         10                 New York City is the information

         11  capital of the world. Every morning, Americans wake

         12  up to watch and listen to morning news and

         13  entertainment programs that emanate from New York

         14  City, whether on cable or broadcast television

         15  networks. Cable television has played an important

         16  role in allowing more and more choice in the type of

         17  programs we watch everyday. New Yorkers have become

         18  dependent on cable television for essential

         19  information services, yet they have absolutely no

         20  choice in determining the provider for that cable

         21  service.

         22                 This lack of competition and choice

         23  hurts everyone, keeping costs high and limiting

         24  innovation in new services. We recognize that

         25  competition in wireless telephone services has led
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          2  to major reductions in the cost of service and

          3  breakthroughs in the types of services available to

          4  consumers. We value competition in purchasing food,

          5  clothing, and shoes; certainly, it is time to allow

          6  competition in cable television.

          7                 Competition will allow New Yorkers to

          8  benefit for higher speeds in the flow of

          9  information, from new packages of information

         10  services, and from better reliability that stems

         11  from competition in any industry. For the past two

         12  decades, I have been involved in research on

         13  telecommunications and cities; our findings have

         14  consistently shown that consumers benefit when there

         15  is more than one provider of a service: Technology

         16  now makes this possible in cable television. There

         17  is no choice when there is only cable provider

         18  available to a home.

         19                 This is a special time in our city's

         20  history. We are witnessing a remarkable growth in

         21  the number of languages spoken in our neighborhoods

         22  and schools. We are able to watch television

         23  produced in all parts of the world. Competition will

         24  allow New Yorkers to benefit from enhanced choices

         25  in programs and services that we rely on in everyday
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          2  life. I urge you to open cable television to

          3  competition. Thank you.

          4

          5                 Written testimony of:

          6                 Suleika Cabrera, President and

          7  Founder of the Institute for Puerto Rican/Hispanic

          8  Elderly

          9                 Speaker, Chairperson, and members of

         10  the Committee, I am here representing the Institute

         11  for the Puerto Rican/Hispanic Elderly, Inc. (IPRHE).

         12  The Institute is a non- profit organization founded

         13  in 1978 to improve the quality of life of the Puerto

         14  Rican/Hispanic Elderly. Over the years, we have

         15  grown into a multi purpose, multi- service

         16  organization, linked to city, state and local

         17  networks of agencies and groups serving aging New

         18  Yorkers. We serve as a resource to non- profits and

         19  government agencies; and link through information

         20  and services with other states and Puerto Rico.

         21                 The institute is of the belief that

         22  public interest programming should be culturally

         23  sensitive and representative if its viewing audience

         24  which includes Hispanic and other communities of

         25  color. We also believe that culturally diverse
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          2  programming can and should be developed for and by

          3  Hispanic and other minorities; and minority viewers

          4  should have accessible and affordable access to

          5  programming.

          6                 Hispanic seniors, like all other

          7  seniors on fixed income, can not only readily afford

          8  to pay beyond the basic costs for cable television.

          9  Therefore, I am here to support the inclusion of

         10  educational and informational programs for Hispanic

         11  and other minorities on cable channels at the basic

         12  level such as those provided by the Hispanic

         13  Information and Telecommunications Network known as

         14  (HITN).

         15                 HITN provides much needed educational

         16  and informational programming to the Spanish

         17  speaking community, particularly elders and their

         18  families whose principal language is Spanish.

         19  Programs like: Dialogo de Costa" hosted by Malin

         20  Falu provide elders and other community members with

         21     forum to learn and discuss current issues that

         22  affect them such as Medicaid, Social Security,

         23  Housing and others. In a time when our city's

         24  seniors struggle to get clear information regarding

         25  the services they need and deserve, HITN provides
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          2  this type of information in the language that most

          3  of our Hispanic elders can understand.

          4                 The importance of including a

          5  channel, like HITN that provides educational and

          6  informative content in the Spanish language on a

          7  basic tier, would serve to reach the largest

          8  population. I would like to encourage video service

          9  providers to work cooperatively with channels like

         10  HITN to ensure the broadest reach and exposure; and

         11  ensure that the integrity of public service

         12  programming for ethnic and immigrant communities is

         13  maintained. As you award franchises and develop

         14  basic services, we ask that you consider the HITN

         15  channel and other minority providers in the basic

         16  tier package.

         17

         18                 Written testimony of:

         19                 Abelardo De La Teja, majority owner,

         20  MBE TEL

         21                 Good morning, My name is Abelardo De

         22  La Teja. I am a majority owner of MBE TEL, a New

         23  York City based supplier of telecommunications

         24  equipment.

         25                 I support this resolution since it
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          2  will facilitate Verizon's entry into the cable

          3  market in New York City. While approval of this

          4  resolution will result in greater choice and

          5  competition for cable TV viewers in the City, it

          6  also means economic growth and job opportunities for

          7  my company.

          8                 MBE Tel is one of many minority owned

          9  suppliers to Verizon- New York.

         10                 Mt firm provides Verizon with central

         11  office supplies and inventory planning. My company

         12  would welcome the opportunity to bid on meeting

         13  Verizon's business needs as it adds more and more

         14  high- tech equipment in its facilities, surely an

         15  opportunity that will become available when the

         16  resolution is passed.

         17                 I urge you to vote "yes" for the

         18  franchise resolution without delay.

         19                 It is the right thing to do for New

         20  Yorkers, the city and for the economic prosperity

         21  and job growth that affords companies like mine.

         22  Thank- You.

         23

         24                 Written testimony of:

         25                 Daniel Leone, Executive Director,
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          2  Queens Public Television

          3                 QPTV (Queens Public Communications

          4  Corporation) is a not- for- profit private

          5  corporation serving the residents of Queens. QPTV

          6  manages four public access channel on the cable TV

          7  systems in Queens, under Franchise Agreements

          8  between the City of New York and the cable operators

          9  in the Borough.

         10                 Since it's inception in the early

         11  eighties QPTV has trained Borough residents who are

         12  interested in producing community television

         13  programs. QPTV cablecasts video programming and

         14  bulletin board information 365 days a year. The

         15  residents of Queens have become reliant on QPTV to

         16  deliver this diverse programming.

         17                 QPTV in its 24 plus years has served

         18  hundreds of not- for- profit organizations that

         19  serve tens of thousands of community residents. By

         20  doing so, QPTV reaches beyond the 400,00 basic cable

         21  subscribers in Queens.

         22                 As our community changes each day,

         23  with diversity from around the globe, the one

         24  constant is the desire and need to communicate. The

         25  sharing of ideas, cultural traditions, and
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          2  empowering information offers the residents of

          3  Queens an opportunity that is not only unique, but

          4  one that might not otherwise be found in mainstream

          5  media outlets.

          6                 The idea of community television was

          7  created in order to give people a voice. It's the

          8  modern day equivalent to the town crier or their

          9  soapbox. It's democracy at its finest.

         10                 QPTV faces many challenges including

         11  franchise renewals, changes in legislation and

         12  alternative delivery systems such as satellite

         13  television. The tools are constantly shifting and

         14  planning for the future is not easy. There will be

         15  complex decisions, but with an enthusiastic

         16  community the future is promising.

         17                 QPTV hopes that continued support

         18  will allow is to operate long into the future

         19  without any cutback of services to the public. QPTV

         20  strongly supports the current franchising system.

         21                 With that in mind, let us remain

         22  optimistic and welcome the opportunities ahead.

         23

         24                 Written testimony of:

         25                 Migdalia Rivera, Puerto Rican Family
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          2  Institute

          3                 Good morning, I represent the Puerto

          4  Rican Family Institute. My name is Migdalia Rivera,

          5  and I am organization's development director.

          6                 Our mission is to enhance the

          7  functioning and self sufficiency of diverse and

          8  marginalized communities while keeping families

          9  together. In every service we provide, we are

         10  sensitive to cultural, ethnic, individual, and

         11  personal identities. There is never any one- size-

         12  fits- all approach to the work we do.

         13                 Verizon has always demonstrated

         14  strong respect for diverse communities, from its

         15  hiring and philanthropic work, to the kind of TV

         16  programming it offers on FiOS TV, one of the most

         17  culturally diverse cable television offerings in the

         18  nation.

         19                 It is a strong signal to communities

         20  like ours of the high regard Verizon holds for

         21  diverse needs and interests in New York. This

         22  company deserves an opportunity to provide cable

         23  service in the city.

         24                 Thank you for this opportunity. I ask

         25  you to vote positively.
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          2

          3                 Written testimony of:

          4                 Juan Martinez, President of The

          5  Puerto Rican Organization for Growth Research

          6  Education and Self Sufficiency (PROGRESS, Inc.)

          7                 PROGRESS, Inc. Is a state wide non-

          8  profit organization established in 1980 to respond

          9  to the needs of Latinos and other minorities

         10  throughout New York.

         11                 During our 26 years of service,

         12  PROGRESS, INC has provided to over 1000 community

         13  based organizations and hundreds of individuals in

         14  the areas of Education, Community Development,

         15  Economic Development, Leadership Development, and

         16  Health and Human Services.

         17                 In 1996, PROGRESS established

         18  PROGRESS High School for Professional Careers, a

         19  school with an excellent reputation, serving over

         20  1000 youngsters in the North Bergen community.

         21                 I like to go on record to express my

         22  support for HITN, due to HITN's invaluable

         23  educational programs which have a tremendous value

         24  to improving the lives of those on our community. I

         25  have dedicated my entire professional life to
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          2  increasing the enhancing educational opportunities

          3  for those most disadvantaged in our city.

          4                 I can personally attest to the value

          5  of a sound education and how important these

          6  programs are to the success of our community.

          7  Therefore, I ask that the council requires that

          8  cable companies providing services within New York

          9  City include HITN- TV as a public educational

         10  channel in their basic tiers.

         11                 Furthermore, as former Chair of

         12  Woodhall Medical and Mental Health Center, the only

         13  hospital in North Brooklyn, I know the value of

         14  health education. Once again HITN serves an enormous

         15  value in this area given the outstanding quality and

         16  the number of programs that HITN dedicated to the

         17  areas of Diabetes, Asthma, Hypertension, HIV, Aids,

         18  etc.

         19                 We strongly believe that the basic

         20  tier is where HITN- TV belongs given this is a non-

         21  profit channel that provides educational and

         22  informative content of need to Latino families.

         23                 HITN is a valuable to the Latino

         24  community as PBS is of value to English speakers. We

         25  need their services, we value their services, they
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          2  are important to us, and so we need the council to

          3  take this action to include HITN within the basic

          4  tiers of New York City cable companies.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 3:30 p.m.)
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          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, JOAN GARCIA, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 7th day of September 2006.
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                                   ---------------------

         25                          JOAN GARCIA
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          9            I, JOAN GARCIA, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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